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Foreword

T he Asian Development Bank (ADB) is committed to strengthening corporate and financial 
governance and to promoting efficient public and private sector development in its developing 
member countries. Rational public and private investment decisions need accurate and timely 

disclosure of information relating to the financial condition of investor and investee institutions. This 
requires adherence to transparent financial disclosures in line with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) for preparing financial statements and International Standards of Auditing (ISA)  
for audits.

Implementation of IFRS and enforcement of ISA in transitional economies pose a particular 
challenge, given their nascent legal, regulatory, and jurisprudence systems and the different 
purposes that the accounting and auditing functions served during the era of central planning. 
In that era, state agencies were the only users of accounting information. The prime function of 
accounting was to monitor and control the use of economic resources to achieve planned targets. 
Accounting was based on form rather than on substance or principle. Auditing in a centrally planned 
economy was limited to an inspection function, where regulatory compliance took precedence 
over truth and fairness. The transitional economies’ erstwhile accounting and auditing systems 
therefore proved inadequate for the needs of a market economy. Inevitably, this dichotomy created 
regulatory gray areas that allowed financial irregularities, improprieties, and illegalities to occur in 
the countries’ enterprise and financial sectors.

The governments of Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Mongolia, and Uzbekistan requested ADB 
technical assistance (TA) to build capacity to enhance their financial disclosure standards in line with 
international best practices. Given the generally similar nature of their economies, ADB implemented 
a regional TA grant, Enhancing Financial Disclosure Standards in Transitional Economies (TA 6249-
REG), covering these four countries. The project design drew upon lessons learned from earlier ADB 
regional and country-specific TA projects. Adopting an integrated approach, the project identified 
and addressed weaknesses in each country’s institutional, legal, and regulatory frameworks that 
have inhibited adoption of IFRS and ISA. Four country-specific workshops and a regional seminar 
encouraged productive interface and debate on common problems, exploiting synergies and 
enabling the four countries to share their experiences in a cost-effective manner. 

As a result, each country was able to develop an action plan for strengthening its financial 
disclosure standards. The four governments deeply appreciated the project’s findings, outputs, 
and recommendations, and believed that publishing the information would contribute valuable 
knowledge of financial disclosure standards in their countries. ADB concurred with the governments’ 
thinking.

This book is a compendium of the TA project’s findings, outputs, activities, and recommendations. 
It can be a valuable guide to financial disclosure standards in the four countries, particularly 
for accountants, auditors, financial institutions, regulators, domestic and foreign investors, 
governments, and other stakeholders. The book may also trigger further diagnostic and research 
activities in other transitional economies.

I would like to acknowledge and thank several individuals without whose support this book would 
not have been published. R. Narasimham, senior project management specialist, conceptualized 
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the TA project and worked closely with the counterparts in the countries covered. He coauthored 
this book with consultant Ebby Adhami, chief executive officer of Corporate Solutions Limited. Both 
provide insightful analyses of the challenges these economies face in enhancing financial disclosure 
standards and outline measures for achieving this goal. Valuable support was provided by Lydia 
Lerum, associate project analyst, in implementing the project, and by Jessica Ebio, administrative 
assistant, in conducting the regional seminar and publishing this book. R. Subramaniam, director 
of the Governance and Finance Division, provided overall guidance. Special thanks are due to Igor 
Marchenko, Kuvan Kasymbekov, Dorjpurev Erdenegeral, and Khakramon Juraboev, the domestic 
consultants for Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Mongolia, and Uzbekistan respectively, who helped 
conduct the country-specific seminars and whose outputs went into the country action plans. Inputs 
from the resource speakers—Alex Fawcett, John Hooper, Gabriella Kusz, Lyn Lynch, Michael Wells, 
and Tom Whyte—are also appreciated.

Juan Miranda
Director General
Central and West Asia Department
Asian Development Bank
 

Foreword
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Introduction

In their transition from centrally-planned toward 
market economies, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, 
Mongolia, and Uzbekistan have opened several 

economic sectors to increased domestic and foreign 
private investment and market borrowings. In doing 
so, they have recognized that potential investors and 
creditors want timely, reliable, and accurate information 
about the financial condition of enterprises being opened 
to private investment. It is essential that their accounting 
and auditing systems be integrated with internationally 
recognized standards to provide reliable financial 
information to potential investors and creditors. High-
quality financial statements and audit reports are crucial 
for informed financial decisions and for the efficient, 
rational allocation of resources. Such information was 
not available under the financial disclosure systems 
followed by the four countries during the days of central 
planning.

Accounting in the former Soviet Union (FSU) 
and Mongolia (prior to 1991) catered to the needs 
of statistical and tax authorities and adhered to a 
prescribed chart of accounts that was designed to meet 
the requirements of the central planning system. The 
primary function of accounting was to record the factual 
data necessary to assess plan accomplishments, rather 
than to assess an enterprise’s financial situation. State 
agencies were the only users of financial information. 
Auditing was limited to an inspection function. Audits 
were largely carried out by government authorities, 
and as a consequence, public accounting firms and 
an accountancy profession were not developed. 
Since enterprises were wholly state-owned as were 
their creditors, the need for independent financial 
control and reporting was never appreciated. The 
system was inadequate and efforts to create a market 
economy without changes in financial and accounting 
control policies and reporting structures created grey 
areas in the regulatory framework, enabling financial 
improprieties to occur in their enterprises.

In the last decade, many transitional economies have 
embarked on reforming their national financial reporting 
and auditing systems based on International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS)1 and International Standards 
on Auditing (ISA). Although these efforts have been largely 
the initiatives of major international financial institutions, 
these transitional economies have been instrumental in 
creating momentum, consensus, and capacity. 

Kazakhstan has been a very keen, albeit relatively 
late reformer. Recognizing the need for transparent 
financial disclosures, Kazakhstan enacted the Law on 
Accounting and Financial Reporting in June 2002. An 
amendment to the law in June 2004 required all publicly 
traded companies to use IFRS by January 2005 and other 
companies by January 2007. Kazakhstan was the first 
country in Central Asia to adopt an audit law, where the 
concept of standards of auditing was introduced. As a 
result, Kazakhstan has more up-to-date accounting 
and audit frameworks than most other Central Asian 
countries. A new audit law requires companies to have 
their financial statements audited in accordance with 
ISA. It also stipulates that practicing auditors must be 
accredited by the Chamber of Auditors (COA). Thus far, 
the COA is the only Kazakh self-regulatory organization 
to have International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) 
membership. The auditors’ supervision and licensing 
functions will be retained by the Ministry of Finance 
(MOF), while its professional regulation and quality 
control functions will be delegated to COA.

The Kyrgyz Republic’s accounting and auditing reforms 
are particularly impressive. Pursuant to the conditions 
of the Asian Development Bank (ADB) Corporate 
Governance Reform Program Loan,2 the country’s 

1 International Accounting Standards (IAS) were reclassified as 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in 2001 by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) of the International 
Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Table A.1 of appendix 1 provides 
the IAS and IFRS details.

2 ADB. 2001. Report and Recommendation of the President to the 
Board of Directors on a Proposed Loan to the Kyrgyz Republic for the 
Second Phase of the Corporate Governance and Enterprise Reform 
Program. Manila (Loan 1860-KGZ); and its associated technical 
assistance: ADB. 2001. Technical Assistance to Kyrgyz Republic for 
Strengthening Corporate Governance and Judicial Reforms. Manila 
(TA 3779-KGZ).
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accounting law requires all listed companies to have 
their financial statements prepared according to IFRS. 
Amendments to the audit law also require all audits to 
be conducted according to ISA. The Kyrgyz Republic 
transferred the power to supervise and regulate the 
accounting and auditing profession from its MOF to 
an independent agency—the State Commission for 
Financial Reporting and Auditing.

Mongolia, another early reformer, also has accounting 
and auditing laws mandating compliance with IFRS and 
ISA. Under the conditions of the second phase of the 
ADB Governance Reform Program Loan,3 amendments 
were proposed to the accounting and auditing laws 
for the transfer of MOF’s functions of supervision, 
regulation, and licensing of auditors to the Mongolia 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a self-
regulatory professional organization now a member of 
the Confederation of Asian and Pacific Accountants, 
which is the regional grouping of IFAC. 

Uzbekistan’s accounting and auditing reform progress 
has been slower than that of the three other transitional 
economies. Its accounting and auditing laws still 
mandate that companies and auditors follow its national 
accounting and auditing standards rather than IFRS and 
ISA. The Uzbek National Accounting Standards differ 
from IFRS in (i) valuation of inventories, work in progress, 
and accounts receivable; (ii) provision of employees’ 
pensions and gratuities; and (iii) consolidation of group 
companies’ accounts. MOF authorizes the regulation, 
supervision, and licensing of auditors.

The role of good corporate governance in establishing 
and enabling investment climate is widely recognized. 
Good corporate governance requires high standards of 
transparent and timely financial disclosure. However, 
significant challenges remain in all four transitional 
economies, such as the weak judicial environment, 
which negates many of the incentives and sanctions 
that support strong and reliable financial reporting. 
Strengthening regulatory and supervisory regimes to 
enforce the application of international standards has 
emerged as a key priority. An equally serious barrier to 
further progress is the lack of qualified accountants and 
auditors. 

ADB recognizes the need to strengthen governance, 
promote private sector development, and encourage 

3 ADB. 2003. Report and Recommendation of the President to the Board 
of Directors on a Proposed Loan to Mongolia for the Second Phase of 
the Governance Reform Program. Manila (Loan 2010-MON).

effective financial management in accordance with 
international standards. ADB also recognizes the 
importance of building developing member countries’ 
capacity to enforce improved and transparent financial 
disclosure standards, an essential step to improving 
institutional efficiency and enabling the transmission of 
timely, accurate and reliable information on the financial 
condition of institutions being opened to public and 
private investment. Such information is necessary for 
the rational allocation of capital to promote sustainable 
economic growth.

In recent years, ADB has provided the Central Asian 
republics and Mongolia with three regional technical 
assistance (TA) grants4 for enhancing their financial 
management, governance, and disclosure standards. 
ADB also provided the Central Asian republics and 
Azerbaijan with a separate TA project for financial sector 
development.5 In addition, ADB provided Mongolia 
with three country-specific TA projects for enhancing 
financial disclosure standards.6 The ADB Corporate 
Governance Program Loan and TA to the Kyrgyz Republic 
also facilitated improved accounting standards. 

Drawing on the experience gained from the above 
TA projects, a new regional TA project was designed in 
2005 to focus on strengthening accounting and auditing 
standards in line with IFRS and each country’s ISA. This 
project, TA 6249-REG: Enhancing Financial Disclosure 
Standards in Transitional Economies, was specifically 
aimed at training regulators in the four beneficiary 
countries to better enforce international accounting 
and audit standards while fostering knowledge sharing. 
The precursor to the project was a set of diagnostic 
studies that ADB conducted in the four beneficiary 

4 These are (i) ADB. 1999. Technical Assistance for Strengthening 
Financial Management and Governance in Selected Developing 
Member Countries. Manila (TA 5877-REG); (ii) ADB. 2002. Technical 
Assistance for Promoting Good Governance in East and Central Asia. 
Manila (TA 6043-REG); and (iii) ADB. 2003. Technical Assistance for 
Capacity Building of Executing Agencies for Financial Management 
of Projects in East and Central Asia. Manila (TA 6122-REG).

5 ADB. 2003. Regional Technical Assistance for Regional Financial 
Sector Development. Manila (TA 6137-REG). This TA focused on 
transparent financial disclosure and prudential financial regulation 
and supervision standards. Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz 
Republic, and Tajikistan participated in the deliberations.

6 These are (i) ADB. 1995. Technical Assistance to Mongolia for 
Improving Accounting and Auditing Systems. Manila (TA 2390-
MON); (ii) ADB. 1997. Technical Assistance to Mongolia for Improving 
Accounting and Auditing Systems. Manila (TA 2964-MON); and  
(iii) ADB. 2002. Technical Assistance to Mongolia for Capacity 
Building for Accounting and Auditing Professionals. Manila  
(TA 3913-MON).

Enhancing Financial Disclosure_82   2 1/19/2009   1:04:30 PM



�

countries under TA 5877,7 6122,8 and 6043.9 These 
studies describe financial management and governance 
arrangements in each country, identify deficiencies in 
those arrangements, and present recommendations for 
addressing them.

Country workshops under TA 6249 were held in June 
and July 2007 in each of the four countries and constituted 
an important feature of the project design. Four 1-week 
workshops were held for a total of 110 participants 
representing a wide range of regulatory bodies: 
accountants, auditors, professional associations, 
accounting policy departments of ministries of finance, 
stock exchanges, tax authorities, financial supervision 
agencies, and universities. The workshops were designed 
in consultation with the stakeholders in beneficiary 
countries. They covered the relevance of international 
accounting and auditing standards, regulatory regimes, 
codes of ethics, and professional bodies, as well as 
taxation in the specific context of each country. 

Following the successful conclusion of the country 
workshops, a regional seminar was held in Almaty in 
September 2007 to offer a forum for regulators from the 
four countries to share their knowledge and experience 
and consult with prominent international experts. Some 
30 delegates from various institutions responsible for 
the development of accounting and auditing standards 
in the four countries attended the seminar. A number 
of resource speakers from international organizations, 
including the International Accounting Standards Board,International Accounting Standards Board, 
Financial Reporting Council, United States Agency forUnited States Agency for 
International Development, World Bank, and the United World Bank, and the United 
Kingdom’s Companies House10 participated in the 
seminar.

A summary of the key issues and recommendations 
from the regional seminar is given in the table on page 4.

 7 ADB. 1999. Regional Technical Assistance for Strengthening 
Financial Management and Governance in Selected Developing 
Member Countries. Manila (TA 5877-REG).

 8 ADB. 2003. Regional Technical Assistance for Capacity Building of 
Executing Agencies for Financial Management of Projects in East and 
Central Asia. Manila (TA 6122-REG).

 9 ADB. 2002. Regional Technical Assistance for Promoting Good 
Governance in East and Central Asia. Manila (TA 6043-REG).

10 Companies House functions as the registrar of companies in the 
United Kingdom. It is a nonprofit public service company, wholly state 
owned. It has a database containing all corporate information.

Overall, the TA has stimulated debate and facilitated 
knowledge transfer on the topic of “Enhancing Financial 
Disclosure Standards in Four Beneficiary Countries.” 
Adopting an integrated approach, the TA has helped to 
highlight weaknesses in each country’s institutional, 
legal, and regulatory frameworks that may inhibit adoption 
of IFRS and enforcement of ISA. This approach has 
promoted interface and debate on the common problems 
by exploiting synergies and sharing experiences across 
countries while adopting a cost-effective approach to 
such questions. The country workshops were designed to 
ensure that the regional interface sought under the project 
complemented, and not replaced, the country-specific 
focus envisaged, given the differing levels of progress 
in accounting reforms made by the four countries. The 
regional seminar was instrumental in encouraging the 
four beneficiary countries to develop Country Action Plans 
articulating priorities and actions for the near future. 
These plans provide valuable insights into the actual 
problems faced on the ground and articulate the priorities 
of the national governments. This must be considered an 
important step forward.

The design, contents, and implementation of this TA 
project were much appreciated by the governments of 
the four participating countries. The deliberations at the 
regional seminar were recognized as being participatory, 
practical, and relevant in identifying and seeking solutions 
to the problems in financial disclosure. Therefore, ADB 
and the participants deemed it meaningful to publish 
highlights of the accomplishments and lessons learned 
from the project so that other countries dealing with similar 
challenges may benefit from the knowledge gained. 

The chapters ahead describe the financial disclosure 
issues faced by transitional economies since 1995, the 
need for further changes, the role of this TA project, and 
recommendations for the future.

Introduction
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Key Issues Recommendations for Addressing Them

1. Weak corporate governance standards in the 
four countries (relative to Organisation for 
Economic Co-operation and Development 
countries)

The seminar speakers suggested that corporate governance standards in their 
countries could be enhanced through (i) enactment of Sarbanes–Oxley Act type 
legislation, mandating responsibilities for auditors and corporate managers;  
(ii) fiduciary oversight over the accounting and auditing professions; (iii) creation 
of information repositories about public companies; and (iv) effective enforcement. 
The Mongolian delegates announced that such legislation was in process in 
Mongolia. The Kazakh and Kyrgyz delegations also endorsed the suggestion. 

2. Weak control and supervision of the 
accounting and auditing profession

The seminar speakers favored creating an autonomous regulatory board (like 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in the United States and 
the Financial Reporting Council in the United Kingdom [UK]) in each country, 
answerable to the legislature, to supervise the accounting and auditing 
professions on a fiduciary and prudential basis. Vesting the Ministry of Finance 
with such supervisory powers could render them over-administered but under-
regulated. This could be counterproductive. The country delegates stated that 
such an evolution would take time, given the nascent legal structures coupled 
with the absence of the principle of judicial precedent that is prevalent in 
common law countries. 

3. Fragmented corporate information disclosure 
requirements

The seminar speakers suggested the creation of registrars in the four countries, 
requiring all joint stock companies to file annual reports of relevant financial 
and operational information. Such an institution could become a consolidated 
public repository of information about all companies incorporated in the country 
and alleviate the asymmetries and fragmentation in corporate information 
disclosure and access, vestiges of the Soviet era.a A format used for such 
information by Companies House in the UK was presented to the meeting.

4. Low knowledge of IFRS application and ISA 
enforcement among public accountants

The seminar speakers stated that continuous public education for practicing 
accountants and auditors in the four countries was essential to enhance their 
knowledge of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the new 
enforcement of International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Translation of IFRS 
and ISA documents into Russian, coupled with the enactment of enabling 
legislation for improving corporate governance and prudential and fiduciary 
oversight of the profession, could help improve the accountants’ and auditors’ 
knowledge of IFRS and ISA. The seminar and resource speakers stated that 
the drive toward enhancing knowledge should be created internally by the 
accounting and auditing professions on a self-sustainable basis. The Mongolian, 
Kazakh, and Uzbek delegations endorsed the assessment.  

5. Poor awareness of IFAC’s Ethics Guidelines The regional technical assistance (TA) project facilitated the translation of 
International Federation of Accountants’ (IFAC) Ethics Guidelines into Russian. 
Their adoption, however, would require accountants and auditors to have a 
better appreciation of their responsibilities beyond the current minimal legal 
mandates. The seminar participants believed that addressing these issues 
would help to inculcate in accountants and auditors their sense of ethics, and 
acknowledged that such a process was evolving in the delegates’ four countries. 

6. Contradictions between IFRS, ISA, and 
civil codes (particularly in Kazakhstan and 
Uzbekistan) and constitutional difficulties in 
frequently amending them

The seminar participants recognized that IFRS and ISA standards were written 
primarily for use in English-speaking common law countries where the 
doctrine of judicial precedence was legally valid. The seminar acknowledged 
Uzbekistan’s and Kazakhstan’s legal and constitutional difficulties in periodic 
amendments to their civil codes. It was suggested that Uzbekistan and 
Kazakhstan consider incorporating the European Union’s (EU) 8th Directiveb on  
financial disclosure and reporting into their civil codes to allow for incorporation 
of future changes, using the compendiums of opinions of professional 
accounting bodies in developed countries as references for future applications. 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) endorsed the seminar’s 
recommendation. The Uzbek and Kazakh delegations appreciated the 
suggestion and stated that they would discuss the idea with their governments. 
Mongolia has done so in a limited manner and Kyrgyz Republic will be doing so.  

Key Issues and Recommendations: Regional Seminar at Almaty, September 2007
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Key Issues Recommendations for Addressing Them

7. Contradiction between IFRS and the 
reporting requirements mandated by 
government tax authorities 

The seminar speakers suggested that the ministries of finance of Kazakhstan, 
Mongolia, and Uzbekistan, which regulate the accounting and auditing 
professions, internally discuss the enactment of IFRS-compliant tax codes. This 
would resolve the contradiction and benefit revenue collection, as empirical 
evidence in Poland and Estonia has demonstrated. Furthermore, as has also 
been proven in Poland and Estonia, an IFRS-friendly tax code reduces corruption 
by eliminating discretionary and distorting deductions and exemptions. The 
seminar participants endorsed this suggestion. 

8. Lack of official Russian translations of IFRS 
and ISA standards

There was a consensus on the need for the world’s Russian-speaking countries 
to petition IASB and IFAC to publish their latest IFRS and ISA standards in 
Russian, with annual updates thereafter. The IASB representative and the 
mission suggested that a suitable occasion to do so would be during the IFAC–
IASB special conference for Russian-speaking countries to be held in Almaty on 
8–11 October 2007.c 

a  During Soviet times, information was geared toward the needs of the State Statistics Committee, taxation authorities, and enterprises’ pension obligations 
to their employees, in that order. Such practices still continue. Information about corporate directors’ remuneration and holdings, as well as the identity of 
owners, is still difficult for company stakeholders to discern. In the UK, Companies House, a state-owned public interest nonprofit company, performs the 
functions of the registrar of companies under the UK Companies Act (2005).

b  The EU’s 8th Directive has facilitated the successful incorporation of IFRS and ISA formulated originally by accountants in common law jurisdictions for civil law 
countries in the EU, without requiring new legislative approval.

c  This issue was raised at the conference.

Source: Prepared by the authors.

Introduction
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Issues in Transitional Economies’  
Financial Disclosure Standards and 

Progress since 1995

Background

For Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Mongolia, and 
Uzbekistan—four transitional economies from the 
former Soviet Union (FSU)—adopting International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and rigorously 
enforcing International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 
present a particular challenge, given the nascent 
stage of the development of their legal, regulatory, 
and jurisprudence systems and the different purposes 
accounting and auditing served during the days of 
central planning. The countries’ original accounting and 
auditing systems were designed to provide information 
necessary for the operation of a centrally planned 
economy. In such a system, state agencies were 
the only users of accounting information. The prime 
function of accounting was to monitor and control the 
use of economic resources to meet planned targets. 
This system of accounting differed substantially from 
IFRS in (i) matching costs to revenues, (ii) valuation 
of assets, (iii) computation of the cost of production,  
(iv) preference for legal form over substance as the 
basis for presentation, and (v) the treatment of owners’ 
equity. Auditing in a centrally planned economy was 
reflective of the highly prescriptive nature of the 
underlying accounting systems. It was limited to an 
inspection function where compliance with regulation 
took precedence over truth and fairness. Final accounts 
of an enterprise were verified with their source booking 
records. Since enterprises were wholly state-owned and 
their creditors were also the state or other state-owned 
enterprises, the need for independent financial control 
and reporting was never appreciated.

Soon after their independence (and in the case of 
Mongolia since 1991), the four transitional economies 
recognized that their former accounting and auditing 
systems were inappropriate for the needs of a market 
economy, toward which they were moving at varying 
speeds. Inevitably, the dichotomy created regulatory grey 

areas that allowed financial irregularities, improprieties, 
and illegalities in the transitional economies’ enterprise 
and financial sectors. These infractions were undoubtedly 
exacerbated by weak economic management, poor 
governance structures, and weak legal and regulatory 
frameworks. Lack of transparency in financial disclosure 
was a serious detriment to investor confidence in the 
countries in transition.

Another major and congenital constraint to the 
creation of rigorous auditing standards has been the 
conflict between some IFRS and ISA principles on 
one hand and the four transitional economies’ civil 
codes and tax codes on the other. In some instances, 
provisions in these laws have impeded the application of 
IFRS and enforcement of ISA, particularly in areas such 
as depreciation accounting, provision of gratuity and 
pension liabilities, and valuation of foreign exchange–
denominated assets and liabilities. The origins of 
this conflict may be attributed to the four transitional 
economies’ socialist civil law legacy, where provisions 
in the civil code overrode those of other statutes (and in 
socialist times could not be questioned by the courts). 
The goals of revenue collection are different from the 
needs of investors, which IFRS and ISA are designed to 
satisfy. Moreover, as the ministries of finance or the tax 
committees (which were spun off from the ministries 
of finance) are also responsible for revenue collection, 
they have generally allowed the countries’ tax codes 
to override the provisions of their accountancy and 
audit laws where revenue collections were affected. 
Although differences between financial and tax 
reporting are common in developed countries, they are 
new to accountants and tax collectors in transitional 
economies.

Recognizing the important role of sound and rigorous 
financial standards in good governance, efficient 
financial intermediation, and sustainable growth, the 
four transitional economies, with the help of development 
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partners, have undertaken steps to adopt internationally 
accepted accounting and auditing standards. 

Regional Donor Assistance

United States Agency for International 
Development

USAID provided two regional technical assistance (TA)  
grants. The first was the Central Asia Accounting 
Reform Project (CAARP) between 1995 and 2000 and 
the second was the Enterprise Development Program 
(EDP),11 which is ongoing. USAID’s assistance under 
the two programs supported five critical components:  
(i) initiating the creation of an enabling legal and 
regulatory environment for the adoption of IFRS (through 
translation of IFRS standards into Russian and drawing 
up charts of accounts consistent with IFRS standards for 
accountants in the five countries to follow); (ii) training, 
testing, and certifying professional accountants through 
the Certified Accounting Practitioner (CAP) and Certified 
International Professional Accountants (CIPA) programs;  
(iii) reforming accounting education to incorporate the 
CIPA/CAP curriculum; (iv) supporting an institutional 
framework to strengthen market economy accountancy; 
and (v) using accounting information for decision making, 
particularly at the enterprise level. USAID’s CAARP 
and EDP sought to establish the basic training and 
education infrastructure for creating a critical mass of 
IFRS-knowledgeable accountants in the region. The CIPA 
qualification was developed with support from USAID to 
provide Russian speakers with an opportunity to pursue 
a career in professional accountancy and join the global 
community of professional accountants and auditors. The 
CAP, a lower-level qualification, is a forerunner to, and 
consequently a stepping-stone toward, CIPA qualification.

USAID, through CAARP and EDP, has supported the 
establishment of a nonprofit entity, the Certification 
of International Professional Accountant Examination 
Network (CIPA-EN) Program. A US-registered corpo-
ration, the CIPA-EN was founded in April 2002 as the 
centralized administrator of the CAP and CIPA exams 
for member associations of the International Council of 
Certified Accountants and Auditors (ICCAA). CIPA-EN’s 
functions include (i) developing examinations, including 
disseminating the content outlines; (ii) administering 
examinations; (iii) grading examinations; and (iv) main-
taining database records of examination participants 

11 EDP covers Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, 
and Uzbekistan. Neither CAARP nor EDP covered Mongolia.

and outcomes. While CIPA-EN manages the examination 
process, actual certification is done by the national 
professional associations supported by USAID. The goal 
of the CAP/CIPA program was to prepare professional 
accountants that meet international, technical, and 
professional standards, and are also prepared in the 
competencies required in the unique environment of 
transitional economies. In addition, the program aims to 
promote regional economic and professional integration 
by creating a common certification framework that can 
be implemented in all countries of the FSU. Examinations 
are conducted simultaneously in several locations 
throughout Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Russian 
Federation, Tajikistan, Ukraine, and Uzbekistan. The 
CIPA-EN relies on external accountants and local experts 
for the development, quality control, and grading of their 
examinations. An independent third party, the American 
Council for International Education, administers the 
examinations at each location. The standards are high 
and the examinations are set and assessed under strict 
regulations.

As part of its program to support economic and 
professional integration in the FSU, USAID has also 
supported the Eurasian Council of Certified Accountants 
and Auditors (ECCAA).12 ECCAA comprises progressive 
professional accounting and audit associations in 
all five Central Asian republics, Moldova, Russian 
Federation, and Ukraine, with International Federation 
of Accountants (IFAC)–compatible charters and CAP/
CIPA examination-based membership requirements. 
IFAC recently recognized ECCAA as the regional grouping 
representing national professional accounting and audit 
associations in the FSU for IFAC.

In addition to supporting the CAP/CIPA program, 
ECCAA promotes the adoption of all IFAC’s education 
standards, statements of membership obligations, 
and International Accounting Standards (IAS) and ISA 
in each FSU country. ECCAA also intends to develop a 
library of key accounting documents and promote the 
development and publication of accounting materials, 
including those in the area of training and education. The 
EDP is working with ECCAA to develop a strategic action 
plan for sustainability through member association 
dues, certificate fees, and publishing revenues. While 
seeking to create a critical mass of accountants with 
basic knowledge of IFRS, the four transitional economies 
still need more assistance in applying such knowledge 
on a practical basis.

12 In May 2005, the ECCAA was renamed the International Council of 
Certified Accountants and Auditors (ICCAA).
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International Regional Federation of Accountants 
and Auditors

The International Regional Federation of Accountants 
and Auditors13 (IRFAA) Eurasia was established in June 
1999 with support from the Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development (OECD), European Union 
(EU), and USAID. Its members include 20 professional 
accountancy organizations from the 10 FSU countries. 
The Federation’s mission is to develop and strengthen 
the accountancy and auditing profession in the 
member countries, and promote the implementation of 
international professional standards and professional 
standards on ethics as promulgated by IFAC and the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 
through its member bodies. 

Through its various committees, IRFAA provides 
support and assistance to national organizations 
of accountants and auditors in the following areas:  
(i) developing national organizations to prepare for IFAC 
recognition; (ii) ensuring high-quality accounting and 
audit services; (iii) developing the theory and practice 
of accounting and auditing based on international 
standards; (iv) preserving the professional independence 
of accountants and auditors; and (v) developing and 
strengthening professional contacts at the regional and 
international levels.

The issues, progress, and challenges faced by each 
country are described in the next sections of this chapter.

Kazakhstan

Financial Reporting Standards

Kazakhstan has been a very keen, albeit relatively late, 
reformer. Like other economies in transition, Kazakhstan 
took more than 4 years to adjust to its changed political 
and economic realities; its immediate priorities after the 
break up of the Soviet Union were economic stabilization 
and investment promotion. The established accounting 
system continued operating until 1995. However, the 
increased prominence of good corporate governance, 
coupled with the needs of foreign investors for reliable 
financial information, acted as catalysts to place 
national accounting system reform on the government’s 
agenda. A presidential decree issued on 26 December 
1995, and having the force of law, requires legal entities 

13 Primary source: www.irfaa-eurasia.org

in Kazakhstan to maintain their accounts according 
to Kazakhstan Accounting Standards, which broadly 
followed the IAS prevalent in 1995. Since then, Kazakhstan 
has made measurable progress toward improving the 
efficacy of the country’s accounting standards and 
practices, particularly in the private sector. The decree 
underwent minor amendments in 1997, 1999, and 2001, 
which also included some amendments to the civil code. 
On 24 June 2002, the Law on Accounting and Financial 
Reporting (LAFR) replaced the presidential decree. This 
has provided Kazakhstan a sound platform upon which 
to build a financial reporting framework that will promote 
transparency and encourage investment.  

An amendment dated 11 June 2004 required all 
publicly listed companies to convert from Kazakhstan 
Accounting Standards to IFRS (in their entirety) 
beginning 1 January 2005, and all other companies 
to follow suit beginning 1 January 2007. However, 
institutional capacity among accountants to apply the 
new standards, and the Ministry of Finance (MOF) to 
enforce them, remained weak because of their limited 
practical knowledge about IAS and even more so about 
IFRS. This, combined with delayed publication of the 
Russian translation of IFRS–2006, caused the accounting 
law’s implementation to be temporarily abandoned 
until Russian translations of 2007 IFRS updates are 
available. Instead, the accounting law is being amended 
to introduce a three-tiered reporting structure under 
which small enterprises will continue to apply simplified 
tax-based rules, small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs) would apply Kazakhstan Accounting Standards, 
and public interest entities14 would adopt IFRS. However, 
Kazakh subsidiaries of foreign companies and other 
Kazakh companies with foreign equity have already been 
applying IFRS and ISA as required under the reporting 
regulations of the domiciles of their holding companies 
or foreign investors.

LAFR also requires companies to establish a system of 
internal controls to prevent fraud and other irregularities. 
The head of each enterprise determines who has the 
right to sign the accounting records in conformity with 
LAFR and can establish the hierarchy of people who 
can sign accounting records. Financial statements 
comprise a balance sheet, an income statement, a cash 
flow statement, a statement on changes in the owners’ 
equity, and information on the enterprise’s accounting 
policy, followed by detailed notes.  

14 Major national companies that play a key role in the economy of the 
country (for example, wholly or partly state-owned companies in 
energy, transport, and telecommunications).
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The financial statements are signed by the head of 
the enterprise and its chief accountant, who can be 
held responsible for their accuracy. Organizations 
with subsidiaries are obliged to provide consolidated 
financial statements, with an accounting period of  
1 January to 31 December. Organizations are required to 
submit their financial reports no later than 30 April of 
the year following the accounting year.

Auditing Standards

One of the first countries in the region to adopt a law on 
audit activities, Kazakhstan established the concept of 
auditing standards in 1993. This law sets out the legal 
fundamentals for conducting audits and its adoption 
offered a legal basis for the conduct of audit activities in 
Kazakhstan. This was a catalyst for reforms in the audit 
field and stimulated the establishment of audit firms. 

The Law on Auditing Activity enacted in 1993 was 
superseded by the Audit Law enacted in 1998. The 
Audit Law requires Kazakh Standards on Auditing (KSA) 
to be adopted by the Republican Chamber of Auditors 
(COA) and approved by the MOF. Under the law, the 
development of audit standards is delegated to the COA. 
The audit standards are adopted at the meetings of the 
National Chamber of Auditors and approved by the MOF. 
COA is a full member of IFAC and of the ECCAA. 

The Audit Law was amended further on 15 January 
2001. It mandates powers of licensing and supervising 
auditors (such as entry regulation and oversight) to MOF’s 
Department of Accounting and Auditing Methodology 
(DAAM). The law established an independent Qualification 
Commission for certifying already-licensed auditors. It 
also requires auditors to have adequate insurance and for 
licensed auditors to hold at least 51% of the shares of any 
audit firm. 

With support from USAID’s CAARP and EDP, Kazakhstan 
(i) introduced basic amendments to its LAFR and Audit 
Law, (ii) updated IAS and ISA standards in the country, 
(iii) conducted CIPA-EN examinations for accountants in 
the country, and (iv) established the COA, Kazakhstan’s 
only professional accounting and auditing self-regulatory 
organization with IFAC membership. The ADB regional TA 
project,15 approved in 2003, assisted Kazakhstan’s DAAM 

15 ADB. 2003. Regional Technical Assistance for Regional Financial 
Sector Development. Manila (TA 6137-REG). This TA focused on 
transparent financial disclosure and prudential financial regulation 
and supervision standards. Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz 
Republic, and Tajikistan participated in the deliberations.

in drafting IFRS conversion manuals and undertaking 
training for selected companies. The European Union 
Technical Assistance for the Commonwealth of 
Independent States (EUTACIS) provided Kazakhstan 
with TA in 2005 to facilitate (i) reviewing legislation 
to eliminate legal conflicts in IFRS introduction and 
ISA enforcement, (ii) training DAAM of MOF to better 
understand IFRS, and (iii) developing an IFRS glossary. 
The World Bank published its Report on Standards and 
Codes (ROSC) for Kazakhstan16 in 2007, which assessed 
the convergence of LAFR with IFRS and the Audit Law with 
ISA, and the degree to which accountants, auditors, and 
regulators implement these laws.

Auditors are certified and can conduct an audit as 
either an individual practitioner or as a legal entity. 
Auditors must obtain licenses from the MOF to practice 
auditing and are required to be insured against 
liabilities arising from damage when conducting an 
audit. However, the Audit Law is silent on the minimum 
amount of insurance required and the extent to which 
auditors can incur civil liabilities is unclear.

Under the Audit Law, there are two types of audits: 
mandatory and nonmandatory. Mandatory audits 
are required for certain types of legal entities such as 
commercial banks and other financial institutions, joint 
stock companies, insurance companies, and pension 
funds. Nonmandatory audits can be carried out by 
owners and other stakeholders. 

The original Law on Auditing Activity of 1993 did not 
require the use of ISA in conducting audits in Kazakhstan. 
In 1995, the COA adopted six Kazakh Standards on 
Auditing (KSA) based on ISA of 1993. KSA adopted a 
further six KSAs in 1999 also based on 1993 ISA. These 
were developed with the assistance of USAID but only 
11 have been approved by the MOF. The amendments of 
2005 required auditors to adopt the most recent ISA but 
provide no timeline for doing so.

A code of ethics, derived from the IFAC 1998 Code of 
Ethics, was adopted by the COA and all its members are 
required to comply with it. However, the code is not a 
regulatory document and only members of the COA are 
required to abide by it. The code itself does not fully 
meet the current IFAC requirements, which have been 
significantly enhanced.
	

16 World Bank. 2007. Report on Standards and Codes (ROSC), 
Accounting and Auditing for Kazakhstan. May.

Enhancing Financial Disclosure_89   9 1/19/2009   1:04:31 PM



�0

Professional Infrastructure

As part of the Soviet accounting system, Kazakhstan 
employed large numbers of accountant–bookkeepers; 
however, at that time there were no professional 
accountants in the system. Most practicing accountants 
lack professional qualification and have limited 
knowledge of IFRS. Since 1991, in response to the need for 
professionally qualified accountants, two professional 
accountancy organizations have been established: 
the Chamber of Auditors (COA) and the Chamber of 
Professional Accountants and Auditors (CPAA). 

The Chamber of Auditors
The COA is the only nationally recognized professional 
organization of auditors in Kazakhstan. It was established 
under the provisions of the Law on Audit Activity in 1993 
and was registered with the Ministry of Justice as a public 
organization. With the adoption of the Audit Law in 1998, 
the COA was reregistered as an independent entity. It is 
presently a nonprofit, independent, professional, self-
managed, and self-funded organization. 

The COA operates in accordance with its charter, 
which is approved by the conference (general meeting) 
of its members. The COA is a voluntary union of auditors 
and auditing institutions. It is financed by membership 
fees and obtains funding from other operations, such 
as donations and commercial activities. The chamber 
consists of the Republican Chamber of Auditors (at 
central level) and its 14 territorial branches (provincial 
and district levels). In accordance with the Law on 
Audit Activity, only one chamber can be established in 
one oblast (province), region, or capital city. Territorial 
or regional chambers are established by the regional 
conference of auditors where at least 50% of auditors 
operating on the particular territory or district are 
represented. The chamber has 1,127 individual members, 
most of whom hold the basic CAP qualification, with only 
a few holding the higher-status CIPA. 

Decisions regarding the establishment of the 
Republican Chamber of Auditors, approval of its charter, 
and change in status of the executive bodies are made 
by the national conference of auditors where at least 
50% of the paid-up members are represented. 

The COA has established three committees to meet 
its main goals as a professional organization: 

The Committee on Methodology interprets audi-
ting standards, laws, and regulations pertaining 
to audit and accounting frameworks. 

•

The Committee on Development and Imple-
mentation of Auditing Standards develops 
auditing standards and sets up common 
requirements to audit processes based on 
international best practices and standards.

The Committee on Professional Ethics, Disputes 
and Appeals investigates breaches of the ethics 
code and helps resolve disputes among auditors, 
audit institutions, and clients. It protects the 
interests of the members and initiates measures 
to ensure adequate compliance with existing 
laws and regulations. 

The conference of the Republican Chamber of Auditors 
held on 23 December 1998 approved the Qualification 
Committee’s provisions for testing auditors and formed 
the Qualification Commission. The commission is a non- 
commercial organization established within the chamber. 
It was established to assess candidate auditors on 
their ability and suitability to conduct audits of accept- 
able quality. Although auditors must be certified by the 
Qualification Committee before they are licensed by the 
MOF, auditors are not required to be members of the COA. 
This severely limits COA's authority and ability to regulate 
the entire auditing profession, although proposals for 
mandatory membership are being discussed. The Audit 
Law is presently being revised, which should strengthen 
the role of COA and place more stringent requirements on 
practicing auditors and audit firms.

The members may be either citizens of Kazakhstan 
or foreign nationals who regularly pay membership 
fees and abide by the chamber’s membership rules. 
Members must have a high level of professional 
education, with 5 years of relevant work experience 
out of the previous seven. Academics and university 
teachers may also join if they have at least 2 years of 
practical experience out of the last five. Membership 
is granted by the chamber’s executive body upon the 
candidate member’s application. Associate members 
are individuals who do not qualify as members in other 
categories but who share the objectives of the chamber. 
Membership candidates and associate members pay 
half of the normal membership fees. Auditors qualified 
in other countries may become a member but must 
pass all examinations of the Qualification Commission 
to obtain a license, which creates a barrier to recruiting 
qualified auditors from other countries.

In 1999, COA together with the professional accounting 
self-regulatory bodies of 10 other Commonwealth of 
Independent States (CIS) members established IRFAA 
Eurasia. The objective of IRFAA Eurasia is to promote 

•

•
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and establish regional cooperation of professional 
organizations, and uphold sound accounting and 
auditing practices in the member countries. In 2000, 
COA became a member of IFAC. 

The Chamber of Professional Accountants  
and Auditors
The CPAA was established on 25 April 2000 by a 
professional group of accountants and auditors. The 
chamber is a nongovernment public entity with voluntary 
membership.

The primary objectives of the CPAA are to protect 
the interests of its members, provide assistance in 
enhancing the accountancy profession in Kazakhstan 
based on international standards and best practices, 
and support the training of professional accountants. 

The CPAA has set up three committees to help achieve 
its objectives and goals: 

The Committee on Certification validates certifi-
cates submitted to the CPAA for review. 

The Committee on Continuing Education deve-
lops training programs for continuing education 
requirements of its members. 

The Committee on International Affairs esta-
blishes contacts with international counterparts 
and other organizations to strengthen the 
chamber's capacity. 

To become a full member of the CPAA, the applicant 
must pass the CAP examinations. Anyone involved 
in the field of accounting and audit, or who has made 
considerable contribution to the accountancy and 
audit profession in the judgment of the chamber, can 
become an associate member. As of 1 March 2005, all 
full members must pass the CIPA examination or be 
demoted to the status of associate member. 

Licensing Requirements

Although Article 12 of the Audit Law establishes a general 
framework of audit licensing, a government decree 
dated June 1999 on the licensing rules of audit activity 
specifically sets out the procedures and requirements 
for obtaining an audit license. In accordance with this 
rule, an individual applying for a license must possess 
the following:17 

17 Decree of the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan No. 878, 29 
June 1999, The Licensing Rules of Audit Activity. 

•

•

•

an advanced degree and at least 5 years work 
experience in the past 7 years in the area of 
economics, finance, accounting, or law; and 

a certificate issued by the Qualification Com-
mission after passing the qualification test.

The qualification test includes examinations in 
seven subjects, including auditing, basic law, financial 
accounting, management accounting, taxation, financial 
management, and management information systems. 

Auditors are required to have insurance for liabilities 
arising from the consequences of their audits, but the 
Audit Law does not establish the minimum amount of 
insurance required or specify the extent of auditors' civil 
liabilities.

Accounting and Auditing Training

Kazakhstan has a very high literacy rate and high 
educational standards. Historically, the basic education 
curriculum followed the FSU model, which differed 
substantially from western curriculum. To maintain high 
education levels, and to improve the education system’s 
effectiveness in meeting the skills requirements and 
societal needs of a market economy, the Government 
has developed a document titled Concept of Education 
Development up to 2015. This concept reflects the main 
directions of development of the education system 
together with the state’s long-term program Kazakhstan–
2030 as well as with other mid-term programs such as 
Kazakhstan–2010 and Kazakhstan–2015. 

The short-term Education Program18 was developed 
for 2000–2005 and was implemented by the Government 
with ADB providing substantial support through project 
loans and TA grants.

The 1998 presidential decree, State Program on 
Developing and Improving Accounting and Auditing in 
the Republic of Kazakhstan in 1998–2000, reflected 
the main issues and proposed solutions to the need for 
developing the accounting profession. It highlighted 
the importance of professional training and initiated 
the establishment of the Institute of Professional 
Accountants and Auditors. The state educational 
curriculum was revised to meet the requirements of the 
state in adopting IFRS.

18 Approved by the President’s Decree No. 448, 30 September 2000.

•

•
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Currently, significant accounting skills are deve-
loped through on-the-job practical training and 
work experience. That aside, educational standards, 
particularly at the undergraduate level, determine 
the basic level of knowledge that new entrants to the 
accounting market should have. 

Many private and state educational institutions 
provide higher education, with a growing number of 
institutions offering undergraduate and postgraduate 
programs in accountancy. For example, a USAID project 
is promoting the implementation of CAP/CIPA courses 
in the university curriculum, and during 2005–2006 
some 90 courses in CAP subjects were offered at 
various universities. The Ministry of Education is also 
implementing a pilot program at two state universities 
to recruit experienced teachers from abroad. However, 
more must be done to harmonize university education in 
accounting and finance with the needs of the developing 
Kazakh economy in general and the accounting 
profession in particular.

The accounting and auditing curricula for bachelor’s 
and master’s programs includes such courses as 
financial accounting, managerial accounting, audit, and 
national chart of accounts. Academic institutions train 
accountants for specific branches of the economy such 
as banks and financial institutions, the oil industry, and 
manufacturing. 

The ongoing USAID/Pragma program provided 
Kazakh Economic University with TA in designing the 
accounting and audit curriculum. It has also provided 
the instructional materials for students specializing 
in accounting and delivers training for teachers on 
accounting and auditing. The Kazakhstan Institute of 
Management, Economics and Strategic Research and 
the International Management Academy are regarded as 
the institutions that produce the best graduates. 

COA has joined with USAID to establish the Institute 
of Professional Accountants and Auditors, in compliance 
with the provision laid down in the President’s Decree 
on State Program on Developing and Improving 
Accounting and Auditing in the Republic of Kazakhstan 
in 1998–2000. The institute’s primary objective is to 
train professional accountants and auditors, as well as 
refine accounting and auditing practices based on the 
international standards.

Overall, training capacity is increasing and the 
examination standards are high. A cause for concern is 
the low passing rates, a direct result of the shortage of 

qualified instructors, particularly for the advanced CIPA 
level. 

Conclusions: Issues and Recommendations

Although good progress has been made in reforming 
Kazakhstan’s financial reporting and audit systems, 
significant challenges remain. Meeting these challenges 
is considered critical to financial system stability, 
economic growth, and the fight against corruption. 

Kazakhstan’s priorities include facing up to the 
following challenges: 

The financial statements of many enterprises 
required to apply IFRS do not reach the required 
standards. A review of the financial statements 
of enterprises shows that enterprises do not or 
cannot adhere to the quality standards implied 
by the county’s financial reporting standards. 
It is widely acknowledged that the financial 
statements produced by Kazakh enterprises are 
generally poor quality and do not offer a reliable 
basis for decision making. This is largely because 
of the lack of capacity of preparers, auditors, 
and regulators to comply with and enforce 
Kazakhstan Accounting Standards or IFRS. Lack 
of up-to-date translation of IFRS has created 
a training barrier and the Agency for Financial 
Supervision19 does not have sufficient capacity 
to enforce the standards. Furthermore, the 
LAFR does not establish sufficient requirements 
for the certification and competence of 
professional accountants and the majority of 
practicing accountants have no professional 
qualification. In the short term, LAFR should 
be amended to require the application of IFRS 
only to public interest enterprises (PIEs), hence 
allowing limited resources to be concentrated 
on those companies that have higher levels of 
public accountability. In the medium term, a 
comprehensive program is necessary to train 
sufficient numbers of accountants. Developing 
the capacity of professional institutes and 
educational establishments must also become 
central to a comprehensive training program. 
Membership in a professional accounting body 
should be mandatory.   

19 The Agency for Financial Supervision was established in 2003 to 
supervise banks and nonbanking financial institutions, and is broadly 
similar in function to the Financial Services Authority of the UK.

•
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The existing audit capacity is grossly inadequate 
to meet the demand of the large number of 
enterprises subject to a mandatory audit. In 
the short term, the entities subject to a statutory 
audit requirement should be limited to PIEs and 
the Law on Auditing Activity should be amended 
to make publication of their audit reports 
mandatory. Medium-term efforts should focus 
on increasing capacity of the audit profession 
through training and strengthening the COA, 
developing audit methodology and guidance 
materials, providing Russian translation of ISA, 
and disseminating the code of ethics. The Law 
on Auditing Activity should be revised to make 
COA membership mandatory for all auditors and 
for COA to become responsible for the oversight 
of its members. Furthermore, audit standards 
must be brought in line with ISA, and COA should 
be given a role in regulating the profession.

Developing a tax bridge, offering a clear 
methodology for reconciling accounting and tax 
profits, is critical to the effective implementation 
of IFRS. The existing system, where enterprises 
are forced either to adhere to tax legislation in 
the preparation of their financial statements 
or face the burden of producing separate sets 
of accounts for financial reporting and tax 
purposes, is unsustainable. There is a need to 
establish a tax reconciliation process addressing 
the potential problems arising in situations 
where some taxpayers use IFRS as the starting 
point for calculating taxable profit, and others 
use national accounting standards. 

Access to the financial statements of enterprises 
by the public remains very limited, particularly 
for the unlisted companies. Although PIEs are 
required to publish some parts of their financial 
statements in the mass media, these are not 
readily available in a usable form. A number 
of laws govern the publication of financial 
statements for various forms of legal entities 
(such as listed, state-owned, and private), but 
the detail and quality of what is published is 
insufficient for the users of financial statements. 
A more stringent enforcement of the laws on 
publication of financial statements and the 
establishment of easily accessible repository 
of financial statements is urgently needed. The 
creation of an online registry modeled on the 
Companies’ House of the UK could be helpful in 
bridging this information gap.

Supervision of the audit profession is also not 
effective because the COA’s ability to discipline its 

•

•

•

•

members is severely hampered. Although the COA 
has the authority to request that the MOF withdraw, 
suspend or revoke audit licenses, the COA does 
not have the authority to investigate auditors or 
audit firms. The self-regulatory regime of the audit 
profession does not conform to the evolving 21st 
century international consensus regarding audit 
regulation, which requires public oversight of 
the audit profession. The law on auditing is being 
amended to address these weaknesses, and the 
process should be expedited.

Implementation of the above recommendations must 
be planned within a time frame consistent with the 
scale of changes implied and the capacity of institutions 
responsible for their implementation.

The Kyrgyz Republic

Financial Reporting Standards

Similar to smaller transitional economies, the Kyrgyz 
Republic suffers from weak corporate and financial 
governance arrangements which, combined with weak 
enterprise performance, affect the viability of large 
companies, state-owned enterprises, and banks. 
Common problems include weak internal governance, 
lack of transparency in disclosures, continuing use of 
Soviet accounting and asset valuation practices, and 
ineffective monitoring and enforcement of existing legal 
and regulatory provisions. These constraints, together 
with the poor macroeconomic environment, have 
rendered many enterprises insolvent and nonviable.

Compounding these problems is a judicial system 
that exhibits inefficient, time-consuming procedures 
and lacks transparency in its processes. Public and 
investor perceptions of significant corruption further 
erode confidence in the judiciary.20

Like other transitional economies, the Kyrgyz 
Republic was slow in adjusting to its new political and 
economic realities and the established accounting 
system continued in full operation until 1997. However, 
since then the country has made good progress in 
introducing market-based accounting practices to the 
private sector. 

20 ADB. 2001. Report and Recommendation of the President to the 
Board of Directors on a Proposed Loan to the Kyrgyz Republic for the 
Second Phase of the Corporate Governance and Enterprise Reform 
Program. Manila. 
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In 1998, with the assistance of USAID, Kyrgyz 
Accounting Standards were developed and all 
enterprises, with the exception of banks and budget 
organizations, were required to adopt them. Although 
based on IAS, Kyrgyz Accounting Standards were 
simplified and adapted in some major respects, making 
them noncompliant with IAS.21 As a result, in 2000 
the government mandated that Kyrgyz Accounting 
Standards should be superseded by direct adoption of 
IAS (IFRS). In the same year, the State Commission on 
Standards of Financial Reporting and Auditing (SCSFRA) 
was established to improve accounting and financial 
reporting systems in the republic. After the political 
changes in 2005, SCSFRA was reorganized as the State 
Agency on Financial Supervision and Reporting and in 
2007 it became the State Service for Financial Supervision 
and Reporting (SSFSR) of the Kyrgyz Republic. The 
responsibilities of the SSFSR include the development 
and enforcement of accounting and auditing standards, 
security markets, and the nonbanking sector. A function 
of SSFSR is to regulate the activities of security issuers 
and professional participants in the security markets, 
which was the responsibility of the State Commission 
on the Security Market prior to 2005. 

The Accounting Law of 2002 provides the primary 
legislative base for private sector accounting and 
financial reporting. In particular, the law requires that 
private sector accounting be directly based on IAS and/
or IFRS and stipulates financial reporting and record-
keeping requirements.

To support the adoption of IAS, SSFSR published 
methodological instructions and guidance materials. A 
license agreement was also signed with the International 
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), enabling the 
Kyrgyz Republic to use the 41 IAS that were existent in 
2001. Furthermore, ADB supported the publication and 
promulgation of the authorized Russian translation 
of IAS, and the accounting reforms are supported by 
international organizations, notably ADB and USAID.

In 2003, ADB commissioned a review of the 
implementation of the first stage of IAS conversion,22 
which concluded that the rate of effective adoption 
was very low. Most enterprises had struggled with 
the implementation of IAS, including those that had 
received assistance, with the following being the main 

21 ADB. 2001. Final Report—Preparation of the Kyrgyz Corporate 
Governance Program. Manila.

22 ADB. March 2003. Monthly Report on Strengthening Corporate 
Governance and Judicial Reform. Manila. TA No. 3779-KGZ.

impediments: (i) lack of training; (ii) lack of advice;  
(iii) accounting software issues, particularly the lack of 
computer training and the high cost of software; and 
(iv) competing demands on accounting departments.

There has been limited progress since 2003 with the 
adoption of IAS/IFRS. It has been impeded by the lack of 
cooperation between the state bodies (SSFSR, MOF, and 
Ministry of Economic Development) and the professional 
institutions, particularly on the certification of auditors 
and audit companies.

From 2003 to 2005, SSFSR issued a number of 
decrees, resolutions, acts, and instructions to expedite 
the application of international accounting and audit 
standards. These, along with methodological guidelines 
for 24 international accounting standards, were 
published in 2005 in two volumes. However, these 
materials are based on older versions of IAS and IFRS and 
require updating. During the same period, IFRS and ISA 
training programs were designed and delivered under 
the supervision of SSFSR, and some 600 accountants 
and 70 auditors were trained in the practical application 
of IFRS and ISA. 

Auditing Standards 

The SSFSR is responsible for developing and promul-
gating auditing standards. As part of the broader 
accounting reforms, the Kyrgyz Republic enacted the 
Audit Law of 2002, which provides the primary legislation 
for private sector auditing. Among other things, the 
Audit Law of 2002 restricts financial relations between 
auditors and their clients for nonaudit activities that have 
the potential to cause conflicts of interest. It also bars 
auditors from issuing an opinion on financial statements 
of an enterprise if they have provided bookkeeping or 
financial statement preparation services to the company 
in the 2 years preceding the audit.

In 2003, the direct adoption of ISA was approved 
for the audit of private sector enterprises; previous 
auditing standards were abandoned. ADB supported 
the preparation of Russian-language international 
accounting standards, including licensing from IFAC. 
The next stage is for SSFSR to promulgate the new 
standards and to translate and promulgate other IASB 
materials. 

With the 2002 enactment of the accounting and 
audit laws, the SSFSR has prepared legal amendments 
to various laws to remove conflicts. For instance, six 
amendments were proposed to the tax code to make 
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it consistent with the 2002 Accounting Law. This effort 
is highly commendable. Likewise, some provisions 
of the civil code were inconsistent with the audit law 
(for example, professional indemnity insurance) and 
amendments to make them compatible with the audit 
law were submitted to Parliament for consideration. 
There continue to be inconsistencies between the 
2002 audit law and international standards, which 
include (i) requiring mandatory rotation of auditing 
firms (say, every 3–5 years), at least for public issuers;  
(ii) restricting the provision of nonaudit services to audit 
clients; and (iii) requiring auditors to report wrongful 
acts to appropriate authorities. 

Although in the past decade, an auditing profession 
has slowly emerged in the Kyrgyz Republic, it operates 
in an extremely difficult technical environment. 
Most enterprises practice “dual accounting,” where 
transactions are neither processed through bank 
accounts nor recorded in official ledgers; therefore, 
external parties (such as debtors) are often unwilling 
to confirm balances. Introducing more effective audit 
arrangements will take time, but as the private sector 
and the accounting market develop, regulators must 
consider introducing enhanced audit mechanisms on a 
case-by-case basis as capacity and circumstances allow. 
In this respect, significant efforts have been made, 
with ADB and USAID support, to develop materials for 
auditors and to train auditors in their use. 

With the assistance of international experts under an 
EUTACIS project, SSFSR recently developed application 
guidelines for 31 ISA and methodological instructions 
for conducting ISA audits. These cover organization, 
methodology, documentation, assessment, control, 
and other components of audit. The guidelines 
benefited from the input of professionals from SSFSR, 
educational institutions, professional bodies, and 
auditors. The guidelines are published in three volumes 
along with case studies on the practical application of 
standards. ADB financed the printing of 200 copies 
of the audit guidelines, which were distributed to 
educational institutions. ADB has recommended that 
these materials be made available to other countries 
in the region.

Professional Infrastructure

The SCSFRA was established in 2000 in accordance with 
the president’s decree for improving accounting and 
financial reporting systems in the Kyrgyz Republic. In 
2005, after political changes had occurred in the republic, 
the SCSFRA experienced changes in its leadership and 

later was reorganized as the State Agency on Financial 
Supervision and Reporting, which included other state 
bodies that were part of the SCSFRA. In March 2007, the 
state agency was reorganized to the SSFSR in accordance 
with the president’s decree. 

The SSFSR accounting and auditing division has three 
technical departments: (i) department of development 
of accounting and financial reporting; (ii) department 
for monitoring and analysis of introduction of IFRS; 
and (iii) department for development of audit. The main 
objectives of this stream of SSFSR activity are 

developing accounting and auditing guidelines 
in line with IFRS and ISA,

providing training for accountants and auditors 
in practical application of IFRS and ISA,

monitoring and analysis of implementation of 
IFRS, and 

establishing appropriate regulatory regimes for 
control of accounting and auditing practices in 
the republic.

Although the Soviet accounting system in the 
Kyrgyz Republic was operated and maintained by large 
numbers of accountants, there were no professional 
accountants and no accountancy and audit profession. 
This changed with the transition to a market economy 
following the country’s independence in 1991. Since 
then several professional accountancy organizations 
have been established, mainly in response to the needs 
of particular groups of accountants. There are currently 
five professional accounting organizations registered in 
the Kyrgyz Republic: the Chamber of Accountants and 
Auditors (COAA), the Union of Accountants and Auditors 
(UAA), the Association of Accountants and Auditors, 
the Institute of Certified Accountants, and the Union of 
Teachers in Business Disciplines (formerly the Public 
Union of Accounting and Auditing Tutors). 

Of these five institutions, only the COAA and UAA are 
presently active in promoting international standards in 
accounting and auditing. The Association of Accountants 
and Auditors and the Institute of Certified Accountants 
were established in the mid-1990s but have made limited 
contributions to the development of the accounting and 
auditing professions in the republic. 

The Union of Teachers in Business Disciplines 
is mostly for academics, with a main objective of 
strengthening the role of tutors in business disciplines 
as the country transitions from a command economy to 
a market economy.

•

•

•

•
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Chamber of Accountants and Auditors 
Established in April 1996, COAA plays a significant role 
in the regulation of auditing activity. Many normative 
and legal acts, and auditing standards and instructions, 
were prepared with the chamber’s direct involvement. 
COAA is a member of IRFAA Eurasia and the ICCAA. COAA 
is not yet an IFAC member.

The COAA membership standard does not yet meet 
IFAC requirements in terms of (i) education requirements, 
(ii) practical experience requirements, (iii) professional 
examination requirements, and (iv) continuing pro-
fessional education (CPE) requirements. However, COAA 
intends to address these issues by 

encouraging the implementation of an IFAC-
compatible curriculum,

gradually increasing practical experience 
requirements, and

gradually raising professional examination 
requirements.

COAA is governed by a president and a board, 
and has four committees dedicated to (i) vocational 
education and certification issues, (ii) legislative issues,  
(iii) accounting and auditing standards, and (iv) mem-
bership and professional ethics.

The COAA is currently drafting an IFAC-based code 
of ethics and conducts regular training on accounting, 
auditing, and financial management issues. 

Union of Accountants and Auditors 
Established in March 1999 with USAID support, the UAA 
is a member of IRFAA Eurasia and the ICCAA, and has 
been an associate member of IFAC since May 2000. 
The union membership is growing and members are 
required to undertake at least 40 hours of CPE. The 
UAA membership standard does not yet meet IFAC 
requirements in terms of (i) education requirements,  
(ii) practical experience requirements, and (iii) profes-
sional examination requirements. However, UAA intends 
to address these issues by

encouraging the implementation of an IFAC-
compatible curriculum,

gradually increasing practical experience 
requirements, and

gradually raising professional examination 
requirements.

UAA has committees focused on (i) audit, (ii) stan-
dards, (iii) education and certification, (iv) public 

•

•

•

•

•

•

relations, (v) membership, (vi) ethics, and (vii) taxes. It 
conducts regular training on accounting, auditing, and 
financial management issues. Its IFAC-based code of 
ethics was adopted in March 1999.

Licensing Requirements

In the Kyrgyz Republic, a clear distinction is made 
between accounting and auditing qualifications:

With regard to accounting qualifications, a 2000 
presidential decree stipulates that professional 
activities in the field of accounting and financial 
reporting shall not be subject to licensing 
and certification by state organizations. The 
Kyrgyz government believes that professional 
institutions are more competent than bureaucrats 
in this respect. Consequently, professional 
accounting institutions certify accountants and 
USAID has provided substantial assistance to 
support the establishment of internationally 
comparable certifications.

Conversely, auditing licenses are issued by 
SSFSR in accordance with Article 9 of the 2002 
Auditing Law. The SSFSR is also responsible for 
regulating and overseeing auditor training and 
activities.

With respect to the audit professions, the respon-
sibilities of SSFSR under Article 8 of the Auditing Law 
2002 are defined as

developing and submitting auditing standards 
to government for approval;

managing the statutory certification, education, 
and professional development of auditors, inclu-
ding audit licensing;

supervising the compliance of audit firms and 
individual auditors with audit standards;

defining and maintaining procedures for 
accountability and financial reporting of audit 
firms and individual auditors;

maintaining registers of certified auditors, audit 
firms, individual auditors, professional audit 
associations, and training centers; 

providing interested parties with information 
from the registers.

Article 9 of the auditing law specifies the following 
licensing criteria for individual auditor: 

Must successfully pass the qualifying exami-
nation.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Must possess a university degree in economics. 
Alternatively, 5 years experience in economics, 
finance, accounting, analysis, control, or ins-
pection is accepted.

Has work experience in an economics field of no 
less than 3 years.

Has not been convicted for offenses committed 
for the purpose of personal enrichment.

Must comply with CPE requirements established 
by an authorized body.

Accounting and Auditing Training

In November 1992, education legislation outlined a path 
toward increased international compatibility, including 
the gradual adoption of a multilevel higher education 
system. The education system now comprises three 
main types of education programs: preschool education, 
general public programs, and professional programs. 
Professional programs, including accountancy, are 
implemented in primary, secondary, and at higher 
educational institutions. 

The accountancy curriculum in most secondary 
schools and higher educational institutes still 
reflects the Soviet accounting system; only a handful 
of institutions have adopted a fully international 
accountancy curriculum. To this end, the Ministry of 
Education and Culture is introducing new international-
based education standards that have been developed 
with support from ADB and USAID and inputs from the 
SSFSR and professional accountancy bodies.

Established in December 2000 with USAID support, 
the Public Union of Accounting and Auditing Tutors 
(renamed to Union of Teachers in Business Disciplines) 
has provided substantial assistance in teaching students 
and practicing accountants the basics of financial 
accounting and management accounting within the 
framework of international accounting standards. It also 
represents the interests of accountancy lecturers and 
professors.

Similar to its neighboring countries, the Kyrgyz 
Republic still must address several issues including 
(i) the shortage of manuals, teaching materials, and 
books on IFRS-based accounting and ISA-based auditing; 
(ii) poor qualifications of civil servants and secondary 
school teachers; and (iii) shortcomings in the higher 
education curriculum with regard to the accountancy 
system.

•

•

•

•

Conclusions: Issues and Recommendations

Although good progress has been made in reforming the 
Kyrgyz Republic’s financial reporting and audit systems, 
significant challenges remain. 

The priorities set to address these challenges include 
the following:

Develop and disseminate tax reconciliation 
procedures. Tax reconciliation procedure (or 
tax bridge) is a serious issue, misunderstood 
by most accountants. Most available guide-
lines and recommendations for the Kyrgyz 
Republic are largely academic and based on 
case studies that do not correspond to the 
reality of many enterprises. Furthermore, tax  
reconciliation procedures are highly complex 
and most enterprises do not have the 
competence or the motivation to apply them. 
This is exacerbated by internal inconsistencies 
in tax legislation and its discretionary 
interpretation by bureaucrats. SSFSR, with 
the help of professional institutions as well 
as the Ministry of Taxation, should continue 
its leadership in addressing this important 
issue through pilot implementation of tax 
reconciliation procedures and dissemination 
of best practices, thereby reducing the scope 
for bureaucratic discretion. The tax manual 
developed as part of this TA was a step toward 
this objective and was developed at the request 
of all the four transitional economies.

Improve quality of financial statements prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. The quality of financial 
statements prepared by local enterprises is poor 
and compliance with IFRS remains low. A number 
of questionnaires have been developed to help 
monitor and assess compliance with IFRS. Under 
ADB project (TA 4747-KGZ: Supporting Banking 
Sector and Capital Market Development), a 
new questionnaire and set of guidelines were 
prepared for monitoring the implementation 
of IFRS. These were intended to be applied in 
2008. SSFSR must also reconsider whether IFRS 
are appropriate for all enterprises given the 
complexity of the standards and lack of capacity 
in the country. Adopting a model similar to that 
in Kazakhstan, where IFRS are only mandatory 
for PIEs, may be appropriate.

Amend the audit law to improve audit quality 
and regulations. There is currently a conflict 

•

•

•
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of opinion23 between the state agency and 
professional institutions related to the control 
over auditors’ qualifications and whether these 
issues should be resolved through amendments 
to the audit law. Licensing and membership 
requirements for auditing professionals should 
also be harmonized and regulated by SSFSR to 
improve quality control of audit activities.

Improve qualification requirements for accounting 
and auditing professions. At present there is no 
legal requirement for accountants to be certified 
or licensed. The situation is unsatisfactory and 
accountants should be required to have a relevant 
degree, pass a professional exam (preferably CAP/
CIPA), and have a minimum amount of relevant 
work experience. Improvement of educational 
standards in universities is also necessary to 
ensure that people with relevant degrees reach a 
minimum set of requirements in accounting and 
auditing subjects.

At the end of 2007, the World Bank initiated a review 
of accounting and auditing standards in the Kyrgyz 
Republic. The output of that review should offer a road 
map for the future development of the accounting and 
auditing framework in the Kyrgyz Republic. 

Uzbekistan

Financial Reporting Standards

Like the other FSU countries, Uzbekistan had little history 
or tradition of using market-based accounting concepts 
such as going concern, accrual basis, consistency, and 
substance over form. Upon its independence from the 
Soviet Union in 1991, Uzbekistan took a gradual approach 
to market reforms, including accounting and financial 
reporting standards and practices.

More than a decade after the transition began, 
Uzbekistan has made measurable progress in developing 
an accounting infrastructure suitable to the needs of 
a market economy. In 1992, a working group led by the 
Department of Accounting and Auditing Methodology of the 
MOF was formed to draft new legislation. During January 
1994 and December 1995, the working group produced a 

23 The professional institutes believe that the prescriptions of the Audit 
Law related to auditors’ qualifications are weak and not in line with 
IFAC’s requirements. They would like to see changes to the standard 
of the qualifying examination to meet best international practice.

•

draft accounting law and preliminary recommendations 
for strengthening the accounting profession. 

The accounting law, introduced in 1996, governs the 
Uzbekistan accounting system. In 1998, the MOF issued 
the Conceptual Framework on Financial Reporting, which 
is generally in line with the conceptual framework of IAS. 
Following this, the Uzbek National Accounting Standards 
(UNAS) were drafted during 1998 and 1999, with the last 
standard issued in 2005. The UNAS were based on the 
1999 version of the IAS and are issued by the ministry 
as the obligatory regulations for all enterprises in the 
country. 

To support the implementation of UNAS, the MOF and 
USAID developed a new chart of accounts and instructions, 
which were approved in 2000. USAID also provided 
technical assistance to 435 Uzbekistan enterprises in 
converting their accounting systems from the old chart of 
accounts to the new IAS-based chart of accounts. 

The accounting law defines general accounting 
principles, the roles and responsibilities of entities, 
acceptable accounting practices, and financial reporting 
requirements. Other relevant laws are the Law on 
Limited Liability Companies 2001, the Law on Joint-Stock 
Companies 1996, and the Taxation Code 2008, which 
complement the accounting law in enhancing financial 
reporting. 

The basic financial reporting requirements mandate 
that (i) accounting data shall be prepared in compliance 
with UNAS; (ii) annual financial statements must be made 
available to banks, stock exchanges, investors, lenders, 
creditors, and others; and (iii) open joint stock (listed) 
companies, insurance organizations, banks, stock and 
commodity exchanges, investment funds, and other 
financial agencies must publish their audited financial 
reports. All financial reports must be submitted to the 
tax authorities, shareholders, and the state statistics 
agencies. 

An important feature of Uzbekistan’s accounting 
reform is the way accounting and taxable profits are 
treated. In contrast to other FSU countries, Uzbekistan 
realized that for accounting reform to succeed it would 
be necessary to separate financial accounting from 
tax accounting to prevent tax rules from distorting 
financial information. This separation was achieved 
through the Production Cost Regulation (PCR), which 
offers accountants guidance in how to prepare income 
statements. The PCR is a key feature of the Uzbekistan 
accounting reform and other FSU countries have recently 

Enhancing Financial Disclosure_818   18 1/19/2009   1:04:31 PM



�9

Issues in Transitional Economies’ Financial Disclosure Standards and Progress since �99�

begun to examine Uzbekistan’s experiences with it. An 
example of the way accounting and tax profits are treated 
in Uzbekistan was included in the tax reconciliation 
manual produced by this TA.

Auditing Standards

The 1999 Cabinet of Ministers’ Resolution24 and the new 
Auditing Law of 2000 introduced the National Auditing 
Standards (NAS) in Uzbekistan, which are developed 
based on the 1995 International Standards on Auditing. 
By 2007, 21 auditing standards had been drafted 
and approved by the MOF. Private sector auditing 
requirements are also governed by the laws on limited 
liability companies, partnerships, accounting, audit, 
and joint stock companies.

The Auditing Law 2000 requires that audits be 
conducted, and audit reports prepared, on the basis of 
NAS. The law was developed in response to concerns 
over the competence and independence of auditors, and 
clearly sets out the structure, rights, responsibilities, 
and duties of auditors. It also prohibits government 
organizations and committees from conducting audits. 
NAS requires that all auditors involved in an audit, as 
well as the director of the audit firm, sign the audit 
report and audit conclusion. Since its introduction in 
2000, the auditing law has been amended four times, 
most recently in 2007.

Although NAS closely resemble ISA in structure, there 
are considerable differences in audit treatment and in 
presentation. Furthermore, some key concepts such as 
independence, professionalism, and due diligence are 
not embedded in the NAS. 

Audit activities in Uzbekistan have traditionally been 
segregated into two groups: (i) financial institutions 
(including banks and insurance companies) and  
(ii) enterprises and other nonbanking organizations. The 
Central Bank regulates financial sector audits25 while the 
MOF26 regulates the nonbanking sector audits, mostly 
by enforcing NAS. 

24 Cabinet of Ministers Resolution No. 296, 10 June 1999.

25 The Central Bank is authorized to require auditors to follow the Central 
Bank’s legislation, including its procedures and methodology, and 
also to directly receive information related to bank audits.

26 The officials from the MOF regularly inspect audit reports, audit 
conclusions and working files of the audit firms, and levy penalties 
on private audit firms for noncompliance with NAS, including 
revoking their licenses. Generally, the implementation of NAS is 
strongly enforced by the MOF with limited involvement of the private 
sector in self-regulation.

The auditing law requires that two reports be 
prepared in the course of an audit: an audit report 
and an audit conclusion report. The audit report 
provides detailed information on the audit inspection 
process, bookkeeping and accounting issues, financial 
reporting violations, and any other relevant information 
received during the audit. The report must contain 
recommendations on addressing deviations, violations, 
and proposals for improving the operational, financial, 
and economic performance of the entity. Where audits 
are conducted upon instructions from the shareholders 
or law enforcement agencies, the audit report must be 
provided to these parties (Article 18). Although audit 
reports appear to resemble the management letters 
issued by the international audit firms, they are regulated 
in Uzbekistan to have a very different form, legal weight, 
and audience. The Audit Conclusion Report provides an 
opinion on the authenticity of the financial statements 
and whether they comply with the legal requirements 
(Article 19). 

Under the Auditing Law there are two types of 
audits: mandatory and voluntary. Mandatory audits 
are required for certain types of legal entities, such as 
commercial banks and other financial institutions, joint 
stock companies, insurance companies, and pension 
funds. Voluntary audits may be commissioned by any 
organization that has a specific reason for doing so. 

Important changes to the auditing law were introduced 
in 2007 to place more stringent requirements, in terms of 
capital and staffing, on firms auditing companies in certain 
sectors and with turnover above a specified threshold. The 
changes were designed to reduce the number of private 
audit firms by encouraging consolidation and creating 
larger audit firms that can offer higher quality audits. The 
new requirements have resulted in a marked reduction 
in the number of licensed audit firms and increases in 
audit fees. However, it is too early to judge whether the 
changes have improved audit quality.

The Auditors Professional Ethics Code was adopted 
in 2005. Since there is no structure for self-regulation 
within the audit profession, the MOF is responsible for 
enforcement and regulation. The MOF regularly inspects 
audit reports, audit conclusions, and working files of 
audit firms, and in cases of noncompliance, can levy 
penalties or revoke licenses. 

Professional Infrastructure

Uzbekistan’s professional accounting and audit bodies 
were formed after independence as none were required 

Enhancing Financial Disclosure_819   19 1/19/2009   1:04:32 PM



�0

Enhancing Financial Disclosure Standards in Transitional Economies

in Soviet times. Four bodies are involved in the regulation 
and organization of Uzbekistan’s accountancy and audit 
profession: the MOF, the Chamber of Auditors (COA), 
the National Association of Accountants and Auditors 
(NAAA), and the Ministry of Justice. Although the MOF 
plays the dominant role in regulating the profession, it 
actively involves the NAAA and COA in the process. For 
example, auditors’ exams and certification procedures are 
undertaken jointly, with representatives of the COA and 
NAAA working in conjunction or on behalf of the MOF.

The Chamber of Auditors
The COA was established under Article 27 of the auditing 
law as a voluntary, noncommercial, and nongovernment 
organization of auditors. The chamber’s objectives are to 
develop and support the auditing profession, and protect 
auditors’ professional interests. Specifically, the COA

develops and proposes accounting and auditing 
standards as well as qualification standards for 
auditors and accountants,

establishes centers for training and retraining 
auditors,

assists in developing the profession in ac-
cordance with IFAC requirements, and

conducts examinations for accountants and 
auditors in accordance with IFAC requirements. 

The COA has offices in regional centers and in the 
Karakalpakistan Republic. Its managing bodies are 
the General Meeting of Members (supreme body), the 
chamber council, and the governing board. The chamber 
has five committees: Standardization, Membership, 
Legislative Reforms, Methodology, and Ethics. COA 
is an associate member of IRFAA Eurasia. COA is not a 
member of IFAC.

The chamber finances its activities from fees it receives 
for training courses and membership. Training courses 
include Financial Accounting, Managerial Accounting, 
Taxation, and Business Law. The chamber has produced 
a number of publications including Auditing Techniques, 
An Audit Manual, NAS Accounting Guidance, The Code of 
Professional Ethics for Auditors, and The Internal Audit in 
Commercial Banks. The chamber is also drafting a new 
manual designed to expand auditors’ skills and improve 
the quality of their audits.

The СCOA has four membership categories in accordance  
with the IFAC’s requirements: (i) full member, (ii) candi-
date for full membership, (iii) associate member, and 
(iv) honorary member. In general, associate membersIn general, associate members 
must have a bachelor degree and 3 years of practical 

•

•

•

•

experience, and must pass professional exams. Full 
memberships are granted once further professional 
exams are passed. The NAAA Council grants honorary 
membership to individuals who have made a significant 
contribution to the accounting and auditing profession. 
In 2007, the COA has some 200 members, 15% of 
which are honorary members, 50% full members, 30% 
associated members, and 5% student members. 

National Association of Accountants and Auditors 
The NAAA was set up and registered with the Ministry 
of Justice as a nongovernment organization (NGO) in 
March 1992. Before 1993, the organization was called 
the Association of Accountants; later it began admitting 
auditors as members and became the Association of 
Accountants and Auditors. In 2001, the association 
amended its charter and became the NAAA. 

The responsibilities of the NAAA are to

provide assistance in developing the profession,

increase the competencies of accountants 
and auditors to a level acceptable by IFAC and 
the United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development,

protect public interests through the Code of 
Professional Ethics and monitoring compliance 
with the national accounting and auditing 
standards,

protect the rights and interests of its members, 
and

meet the professional interests of its members.

The NAAA’s head office is in Tashkent with regional 
offices in Andijon, Bukhara, Fergana, Gulistan, Karshi, 
Nukus, Samarkand, and Urgench. The NAAA is in the 
process of establishing regional offices in Jizzak, 
Namangan, and Termez. 

The NAAA became an associate member of IFAC 
in May 2000 and is a member of the Confederation of 
Professional Organizations of Eurasia. 

The NAAA is financially independent. Membership fees 
account for 25% of its revenue, which is supplemented 
by income from publishing, exhibitions, seminars, 
conferences, and training programs. The NAAA has 
its own publishing center that produces a monthly 
magazine, training materials, and various accounting 
and reporting forms. It conducts periodic workshops on 
accounting, financial reporting and financial analysis, 
individual and corporate taxation, privatization, external 
and internal audit, and setting accounting policy.

•
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•
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Starting in April 2004, continuing professional 
education27 became mandatory for qualified auditors. 
The MOF requires a minimum of 60 hours of annual 
continuing professional education in courses that the 
ministry prescribes. The courses are administered and 
run by the NAAA and COA. The NAAA also provides 
advice and inputs to universities and technical colleges 
in developing their accounting and auditing courses. 

The association has four categories of membership 
in accordance with IFAC requirements: (i) full member, 
 (ii) candidate for full membership, (iii) associate member, 
and (iv) honorary member.28 The association’s 4,000 
members include individuals and audit companies.  

Licensing Requirements

Article 21 of the auditing law states that audit licenses 
shall be issued by an authorized state agency (i.e., the 
MOF) that will also (i) design and approve norms regulating 
audit activities including national audit standards; 
(ii) control compliance of auditing organizations 
with their licensing agreement; (iii) set qualification 
requirements for candidates to be qualified as auditors; 
(iv) approve educational programs and the framework 
of examinations; (v) conduct exams; (vi) revoke and 
terminate audit licenses and publish information in the 
media on suspension or termination of audit licenses; 
(vii) issue, suspend, and revoke certificates; and 
(viii) maintain a register of certified individual auditors 
and licensed audit firms.

 Auditing licenses are issued by the MOF to auditing 
companies, while individual auditors are certified by 
the decision of a certifying committee that comprises 
representatives from the MOF, NGOs, and auditing firms. 
The auditing law imposes strict licensing requirements 
which were further tightened in April 2007 by Presidential 
Decree N. PP-615.

Recent changes to the licensing requirements 
mandate that an auditing firm must employ at least 
two certified auditors with CAP qualification and must 
meet and maintain a higher minimum capital adequacy 
requirement than was the case before 2007. Specifically, 
there are three tiers of licensing:

27 MOF Order No. 34. 26 April 2004.

28 Honorary memberships are granted to those who have made a 
significant contribution. This criterion is considered subjectively by 
NAAA.

Tier 1: The license allows voluntary audits. To 
qualify, a firm must have a capital 1,500 times 
the minimum monthly wage29 and employ at 
least two certified auditors.

Tier 2: The license allows mandatory and 
voluntary audits of all companies, except for 
open stock companies with authorized capital 
exceeding 500 million sums (SUM), banks, 
and insurance companies. To qualify, a firm 
must have a capital 3,000 times the minimum 
monthly wage and employ at least four 
certified auditors, one of which must have an 
international accounting qualification such as 
CAP or CIPA.

Tier 3: The license allows all types of audit of 
all companies. To qualify, a firm must have a 
capital 5,000 times the minimum monthly wage 
and employ at least six certified auditors, two 
of which must have an international accounting 
qualification such as CAP or CIPA.

Other notable changes to the licensing requirements 
specify that at least 51% of the share capital of an 
auditing company must be owned by the auditing 
staff (except for foreign-owned companies) and that 
companies must change their auditors every 3 years. The 
auditing companies are also prohibited from providing 
other professional services to their audit clients, except 
for certain accounting related assignments.

Accounting and Auditing Training

Like other FSU countries, Uzbekistan has a very high 
literacy rate (99%). Historically, the basic education 
curriculum followed the FSU model, which differed 
substantially from a western curriculum. To maintain high 
education levels, and to improve the effectiveness of the 
education system in meeting the skills requirements and 
societal needs of a market economy, the government 
defined an education reform program, The National 
Program for Personnel Training, which was approved by 
Parliament in 1997. ADB is providing substantial supportADB is providing substantial support 
through project loans and TA.30

In regard to accounting and auditing education, a 
significant portion of accounting skills is developed 

29 Indicator periodically set by the authorities.

30 See, for instance, Loan 1737-UZB: Senior Secondary Education, 
for $57.0 million, approved on 8 February 2000; Loan 1960-UZB: 
Education Sector Development Program for $70.0 million, approved  
6 December 2002; and Loan 1961-UZB: Education Sector Development 
Program for $38.5 million, approved 6 December 2003.
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through on-the-job practical training and work 
experience. However, educational standards, particularly 
at the undergraduate level, determine the basic level of 
knowledge possessed by new entrants to the accounting 
profession.  

The Education and Labour Department of the 
Cabinet of Ministers, an executive body reporting 
to the prime minister, is responsible for formulating 
education policy and reforms. Management of the 
education sector is divided between the Ministry of 
Public Education, which is responsible for preschool 
and vocational education, and the Ministry of Higher 
Education, which is responsible for secondary and 
higher education. 

Twelve state institutions offer undergraduate and 
postgraduate programs in accountancy. USAID provided 
substantial support and training in the development of 
accounting and auditing curricula and the delivery of 
courses. The British Council’s Accountancy Training of 
Trainers Project also provided input to the development 
of the accountancy curriculum and prepared a series 
of teaching manuals to support curriculum reforms for 
training students and retraining practitioners. 

The institutions that offer training to auditors include 
Tashkent State Economics University, Banking and 
Finance Academy, Tashkent Finance Institution, and 
Samarkand Cooperative Institute. A presidential decree 
in April 2007 required the ministries of public education, 
economy, and finance to prepare a framework and an 
action plan for increasing education standards in the 
institutions responsible for training auditors. These 
measures are expected to result in graduates possessing 
a higher level of auditing skills when they complete their 
university education. 

In 2002, the Westminster University of the UK opened 
a campus in Tashkent that offers fully accredited 
undergraduate and graduate courses in finance and 
accounting. The university is one of the preeminent 
institutions in the country and its graduates are in high 
demand.

Conclusions: Issues and Recommendations 

Uzbekistan has made good progress in reforming its 
national accounting and auditing standards, in creating 
a professional infrastructure to implement them, and in 
training accountants and auditors in their application. 
Its legislation and supervision guidelines for accounting 
and auditing are more definitive and prescriptive than in 

Kazakhstan and the Kyrgyz Republic. The enforcement 
of these standards has, however, remained vested 
with the MOF and significant challenges remain in 
the effective adoption of IFRS and in the enforcement 
of ISA.

The priorities set to address these challenges include 
the following:

Developing auditing standards. The devel-
opment of auditing standards in Uzbekistan 
has been slow and the national standards 
do not embody key concepts such as 
independence, professionalism, and due dili-
gence. Furthermore, there are no guidelines 
for interpreting the national standards, which 
hinders their implementation. This is partly 
because of the lack of enough qualified staff at 
the MOF. The adoption of the EU’s 8th Directive 
would help to expedite the absorption of IFRS 
and ISA. The MOF capacity in this respect must 
be increased and further training provided to 
staff of its Accounting and Audit Methodology 
Department in developing, implementing, and 
enforcing IFRS and ISA. 

Training accounting lecturers and professors. 
Training accounting graduates to an adequate 
level of competence requires qualified educators 
who are themselves fully conversant with 
international accounting and auditing standards 
and practices. The insufficient number of qualified 
university teachers at the undergraduate level 
is a serious obstacle to preparing graduates to 
enter the accounting profession with prerequisite 
skills. Although the training provided to 
accountancy tutors and professors in 1996–1997 
was well received and highly regarded, this was 
a one-off initiative and has not been repeated. 
Provision of similar training as part of an ongoing 
program is highly recommended.

Independent accounting standard setting body. 
The debate on whether setting accounting 
standards should be a function of the 
government or the private sector is common in 
many countries. Uzbekistan has taken the former 
option on the basis that only the government has 
the required authority to define and enforce the 
implementation and monitoring of accounting 
standards. However, it is recommended that, in 
the longer term, the MOF consider delegating 
the responsibility of setting standards to an 
independent body with greater involvement 
in the accountancy and auditing profession. 

•
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Adopting the EU’s 8th Directive and establishing 
sound benchmarks would help address this 
problem.

Regulatory compliance requirements. With 
a highly regulated economy, enterprises in 
Uzbekistan remain over-administered but pru- 
dentially under-regulated. The existing regu-
lations have concentrated on compliance with 
various nonaccounting statutes. They are often 
accompanied by a stringent reporting regime, 
with a heavy burden on accountants to prepare 
large volumes of information for the state 
authorities. The system is highly prescriptive 
(rule-based) and does not place sufficient 
emphasis on reporting on true nature of the 
financial transactions, as is required under 
IFRS. This structure is indeed paradoxical, as it 
impedes the ability of accountants to improve 
the financial management and reporting 
practices in their enterprises in line with 
international standards. There are, however, 
redeeming features in legislation that offset 
the lack of innovation in the science of audit. 
The new tax code enacted in 2008, which 
reduces the reporting burden of compliance by 
accountants and auditors, is a promising break 
from past practices. Importantly, by recognizing 
that financial statements under IFRS and for tax 
purposes should be different, the legislation 
seeks a separation of the two.

Independent asset valuation companies. Mea- 
suring asset values and impairment and 
depreciation charges are critical to the pre-
paration of IFRS-compliant financial state-
ments. The existing practices in these areas 
distort financial statements, particularly for 
enterprises that are intensively asset-based 
(such as those in transport, telecommunications, 
energy, and utilities). The limited number of 
professionals and companies that can conduct 
asset valuations in accordance with IFRS will 
further impede the effective implementation 
of international standards. The demand for 
professional valuation services is expected 
to grow as the economy opens up to foreign 
investment and transparency becomes more 
important. This will render the old asset 
valuation methods ineffective; they must 
become aligned with IFRS. There is, therefore, 
a need to improve asset valuation in line with 
international standards and increase the 
number of qualified asset valuation specialists 
in the country.

•

•

Mongolia

Financial Reporting Standards

Mongolia had no accounting infrastructure when it 
adopted the Soviet accounting system in 1922. Since 
1991, Mongolia has made reasonable progress toward 
developing an accounting and auditing infrastructure, 
based on international standards, to facilitate its 
transition to a market economy. 

The Mongolian Parliament passed the first accounting 
law in 1993 as the primary legislative document governing 
accounting and financial reporting. The accounting law 
required accounting standards to be consistent with the 
prevalent international accounting standards. 

Subsequent amendments to the accounting law 
were introduced in 2002, 2003, and 2006 and require 
that all entities—including for-profit, nonprofit, SMEs, 
state-owned enterprises, and others—prepare financial 
statements in full compliance with IFRS. However, 
given the limited capacity of enterprises to apply IFRS, 
particularly SMEs, the level of noncompliance is high. 
Although IASB has issued IFRS for SMEs, those standards 
have not yet been adopted in Mongolia.  

Three bodies are involved in the regulation and 
organization of Mongolia’s accountancy profession: 
Mongolian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(MICPA), Mongolian Professional Accounting Council 
(MPAC), and the Accounting Division of the MOF. 

Under the accounting law, the responsibilities of the 
three bodies with regard to accounting standards are as 
follows:

The MOF organizes the translation of IFRS 
into Mongolian and for developing IFRS-
based national accounting regulations31 and 
guidelines. 

MPAC generates proposals for improving 
accounting standards and submitting them to 
the MOF for consideration.

Although MICPA is not legally involved in the 
standard-setting process, it has established an 
accounting committee that prepares proposals 
for developing and improving accounting 

31 Although IFRS has been adopted, the MOF can issue regulations 
that allow deviations from IFRS to accommodate national context 
and situation.
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standards, and disseminates information on 
accounting standards to business entities. 

Since the application of IFRS is compulsory, it is the 
responsibility of the MOF to organize the translation of 
IFRS into Mongolian. The last available translation, which 
was financed by donor funding, is based on the 2003 
edition of IAS (IFRS) and has not since been updated. 

The accounting law requires the MOF to develop and 
issue guidelines for private sector entities in applying the 
accounting standards and reporting formats. These were 
produced by the MOF in 2003 but are generally biased 
toward taxation and have not been updated. Although 
the influence of the tax authorities on accounting and 
auditing practices has gradually decreased in Mongolia, 
many preparers of financial statements do not fully 
appreciate the differences between general purpose 
accounting under IFRS and accounting for taxation 
purposes. This, combined with the taxation bias of the 
reporting guidance issued by the MOF, has created 
confusion about the purpose of financial statements. 

The accounting law also states that group companies 
shall submit their consolidated financial statements 
to the MOF. However, compliance with this legal 
requirement is weak, particularly as the company law is 
silent on this stipulation. 

Finally, the accounting law stipulates that all entities 
shall file financial statements with designated agencies 
in accordance with IFRS.32 Enterprises failing to do 
so within a specified period can be fined by the state 
inspector, but in practice most enterprises do not adhere 
to the law. It is surmised that the cost of paying the 
fine is lower than the cost of compliance. There is also 
still no central depository; instead, companies submit 
their financial statements to the MOF, which uses them 
primarily for statistical analysis. 

Auditing Standards

Historically, auditing practice in Mongolia reflected 
the highly prescriptive nature of the underlying Soviet 
accounting system and was primarily a verification 
exercise. Unsurprisingly, Mongolia has not yet created 
a fully functioning audit profession in the short time 
since 1991, although progress is being made toward this 
objective. 

32 These include the MOF, State Registration Agency under the General 
Department of National Taxation, and Mongolian Stock Exchange.

The Mongolian auditing system is regulated by the 
1997 Law on Auditing (subsequently amended in 2001, 
2003, 2005, and 2006), the State Audit Law, and other 
sector-specific laws. The MOF drafted the auditing law 
with an ADB TA33 and administers it with the help of MPAC. 
The law governs the determination of auditing principles, 
administration of the process for registering auditing 
companies, and the process for granting Certified Public 
Accountant (CPA) qualifications. The law requires that 
auditors apply the International Standards on Auditing; 
consequently, Mongolian auditing standards are a direct 
translation of ISA.

Article 7 of the auditing law requires that the following 
entities be subjected to an annual independent audit:

banks,

insurance companies,

any other financial institutions,

listed companies,

companies intending to list,

joint-venture enterprises,

fully and partially state-owned enterprises, and

companies with a capital of at least 50 million 
togrogs (MNT)  (approximately $45,000).

The low threshold of MNT50 million for audit 
exemption results in unnecessary auditing of many 
small enterprises and inefficient use of limited audit 
resources. Furthermore, according to Article 6.1.3 of the 
auditing law, an enterprise is required to conduct an 
audit if a contractor demands it, regardless of its size. 

As with accounting standards, three organizations 
contribute to the promulgation of auditing standards: 
MPAC, MICPA, and the Accounting Division of the 
MOF. An important weakness of the present system is 
that there is no legislative requirement governing the 
oversight of audit profession in Mongolia, and as a 
result no regulatory body is responsible for reviewing 
whether audit firms are adhering to ISA and are truly 
independent. Although MICPA has introduced an audit 
quality assurance system, it has no legal authority to 
enforce it. Also given that MICPA is a self-regulated body, 
this arrangement (without independent oversight) does 
not allow public interest to override the profession’s 
vested interests. Mongolia does not have Sarbanes–
Oxley type legislation for oversight of the accountancy 
and auditing profession.

33 ADB. Improving Accounting and Auditing Systems, for $600,000, 
approved in September 1995. TA 2390-MON.
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Although the MOF, with input from MICPA, conducts 
reviews of some audit firms, the reviews are more 
focused on compliance with laws and regulations than on 
ISA compliance. The auditing law itself has no provision 
for taking disciplinary actions against the auditors, and 
as a result, the MOF and MICPA have no legal power 
to impose fines or penalties. Furthermore, there is no 
effective practice within MICPA to ensure compliance 
with a code of ethics. Instead an Ethics Committee has 
been established within MICPA, consisting of voluntary 
representatives from audit firms and professional 
accountants. This arrangement leads to potential conflict 
of interest and there have been no sanctions or actions 
issued by this committee against auditors who do not 
follow the code of ethics. Equally important, the auditing 
law does not restrict an audit company from offering 
nonauditing services without adequate safeguards. This 
inevitably causes conflicts of interests in the absence of 
regulatory checks and balances.

Professional Infrastructure

Because of Mongolia’s state of development before 1922 
and the ensuing seven decades of central planning, 
Mongolia had no accountancy profession before 1992. In 
1993, the National Association of CPAs was established 
and became the Mongolian Institute of Certified Public 
Accountant in March 1996. Today, the accountancy 
profession is regulated by the laws on accounting and 
auditing that give governing authority to MICPA. The 
MPAC was also established under the accounting law to 
regulate the accounting profession, license accounting 
firms, and improve the accountancy profession.34 

Besides MICPA and MPAC, there are other professional 
organizations in Mongolia, such as the Mongolian 
Institute of Internal Auditors, Mongolian Institute of 
Management Accountants, and Association of Auditors. 
However, they are in very early development and do 
not have international affiliations; these organizations 
essentially provide training to interested companies and 
individuals. 

Mongolian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
MICPA was established as an NGO in March 1996. The 
Auditing Law of 1997 mandates that MICPA 

administer the professional accounting exami-
nations;

34 Mongolia’s accounting law governs the application of accounting 
standards. The auditing law sets the regulatory parameters for the 
accounting and auditing profession.

•

approve and enforce the Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics;

provide preparatory courses for the CPA exam;

conduct continuing CPA professional education 
training; and 

provide audit firms with methodology, consul-
tancy, and information. 

MICPA’s governing body consists of an assembly of 
delegates who are elected by MICPA members and hold 
a 4-year term. The president of MICPA is elected at the 
assembly for a 4-year term and is in charge of day-to-day 
activities. The assembly is assisted by four committees, 
with five to seven members each: the Ethics Committee, 
Training Committee, Accountancy Committee, and Audit 
Committee.

The Ethics Committee (i) administers and updates 
the CPA code of professional ethics, (ii) supervises 
observation of the CPA Code of Ethics, (iii) maintains 
the registry of CPAs and audit firms, (iv) presides over 
and make conclusions on breaches of ethics by CPAs 
and audit firms, (v) responds to members’ submissions 
on ethical breaches, (vi) provides regional chapters 
with appropriate management, and (vii) considers 
membership fee issues. MICPA’s Code of Ethics was 
developed and approved in 1997 with ADB support. 
The Code of Ethics has provisions relating to penalties, 
membership suspension, and membership cancellation. 
MICPA works closely with MPAC and the Accounting 
Division of the MOF. 

The Training Committee (i) reviews the training 
curricula and syllabi of universities, institutions, and 
colleges that provide accounting training, and makes 
recommendations to relevant bodies; (ii) develops 
programs and schedules training seminars, and 
provides manuals and other materials, to prepare 
accountants for the CPA examination; (iii) keeps CPAs 
updated on current professional issues; (iv) develops 
CPA examination procedures and submits proposals 
to the MOF and MPAC for consideration; (v) organizes 
the writing, translating, and publishing of single-theme 
works and textbooks on accountancy; and (vi) plans the 
publication of the institute’s periodicals and provides 
editorial guidance.

The Accountancy Committee (i) prepares proposals 
on the development and improvement of accounting 
standards and submits these to the MOF and MPAC for 
consideration; (ii) introduces accounting standards to 
business entities in conjunction with related bodies; 
(iii) develops instructions, manuals, and other materials 
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on financial accounting, cost and managerial accounting, 
and management advisory services, and submits these 
to the MOF and MPAC for approval, and distributes them 
to the general public; (iv) coordinates with the MOF and 
MPAC to improve standards and instructions on financial 
statements for both government and nongovernmental 
organizations; (v) manages the preparation, translation, 
and publication of textbooks and manuals on accounting 
information systems, financial management, and financial 
accounts, cost accounts, and managerial accounting; 
and (vi) prepares other information for members.

The Audit Committee (i) develops audit engagement 
standards and submits these to the MOF and MPAC for 
consideration and approval; (ii) supervises the audit 
engagement activities of audit firms; (iii) oversees 
the charges of audit firms; (iv) communicates with 
the Securities Commission, the stock exchange, and 
broker firms; (v) investigates disputes arising from 
audit engagements and submits comments on these 
disputes to the MOF and MPAC for consideration; 
(vi) organizes seminars on methodological issues for 
audit firms; (vii) produces manuals and other required 
materials on internal control issues; (viii) organizes tax 
advisory services for organizations and individuals, and 
encourages the development of these services; and 
 (ix) informs members of legislative changes.

MICPA is a self-financing body whose activities are 
funded from membership fees, CPA examination fees, 
and training fees. Excluding the honorary memberships, 
MICPA has only two membership categories: full 
members and associate members. Full members can 
be certified accountants, auditors, or companies and 
associations licensed to conduct auditing. Associate 
members have the same rights as full members 
except for voting. Honorary membership is awarded to 
individuals who have made significant contributions to 
the profession.35 

MICPA has an active education campaign, including 
a media campaign, to improve public awareness 
of accountancy issues. The institute publishes the 
fortnightly Financial News and the Quarterly Journal 
on Accounting and Auditing. These publications 
keep members and businesses updated on current 
professional issues. 

It is important to note that while the accounting 
and auditing laws implicitly recognize the existence of 

35 The significance of such contribution is determined subjectively.

MICPA, it has no explicit legal right to charge membership 
fees, issue accounting or auditing standards, or grant 
CPA titles. This weakness must be addressed through 
amendments to the law.

MICPA was admitted as a member of the Confederation 
of Asian and Pacific Accountants in April 2000 and 
obtained associate membership in IFAC in November 
2003. 

Mongolian Professional Accounting Council
The accounting law gave MPAC the authority to 
(i) recommend standards for accounting and auditing, 
(ii) administer the professional examinations that qualify 
accountants as CPAs, (iii) process and review auditing 
licenses and make recommendations to the Minister 
of Finance, and (iv) maintain a database on auditing 
companies and (v) control professional ethics. Although 
MPAC administered the inaugural CPA examinations in 
July 1993, the examinations were prepared and graded 
by non-CPAs. The syllabus on which candidates were 
examined did not include auditing and, hence, those 
CPAs who qualified between 1993 and 1997 did so under 
lower criteria. The amendments to the auditing law in 
2001, 2003, 2005, and 2006 tightened up the process 
for granting CPA titles and now require that accountants 
pass a three-stage examination. However, CPAs do 
not have to meet continuing professional education 
requirements to retain the title.

MPAC consists of a permanent chairperson and six 
board members. The chairperson and members are 
appointed for a period of up to 5 years.

Licensing Requirements

The audit law states that only licensed audit companies 
can conduct statutory audits. The MOF is responsible for 
approving license applications, assisted by the MPAC. 

To obtain a license, an audit company must employ 
qualified CPAs who have passed three stages of the 
CPA examinations. The CPA title is granted at the first 
stage of the examination, but the qualification is valid 
only for 2 years, by which time the accountant must 
pass the second stage. Once the second stage of the 
examination is passed, the CPA title is valid for 5 years. 
Accountants who do not pass the third stage within 
5 years will be stripped of the title. Those who pass the 
final examination receive the title for life. 

To become an auditor, the CPA should hold a 5-year 
certificate and then join an MOF-licensed audit firm. 
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The MOF has licensed 51 audit firms. Two international 
audit firms (KPMG and Ernst & Young) are also licensed 
to practice in Mongolia. All CPAs and auditing firms 
become full members of MICPA upon registration. The 
law does not allow sole practitioners to join MICPA. 
Although the MOF can revoke audit licenses, it does not 
have the resources or capability to sufficiently represent 
the diverse interest of all stakeholders in the oversight 
of the audit profession.

Furthermore, the code of ethics adopted by MICPA 
is derived from the 1998 IFAC Code, which does not 
have regulatory status and is therefore not mandatory. 
Because the IFAC Code has been significantly enhanced, 
especially relating to auditors’ independence, the 
Mongolian code of ethics is out of date.  

Accounting and Auditing Training

There are 47 state and private universities and colleges 
in Mongolia that offer accounting and auditing courses. 
MICPA is responsible, with assistance from international 
donors, for contributing information for the development 
of accounting and auditing curricula in tertiary ins-
titutions.

To improve teaching standards, a 1999 TACIS program 
helped develop minimum educational requirements and 
implemented an integrated professional curriculum 
for accounting qualification. However, no significant 
changes or updates have been made since then in key 
subjects and related curricula. During 2002–2003, ADB 
also provided TA36 to strengthen audit standards and 
train auditors in applying ISA.

The accounting law requires that only organizations 
with a license from the MOF as well as from the Ministry 
of Education may conduct accountancy training. MPAC 
(on behalf of the MOF) and the Ministry of Education 
conduct biannual reviews of the accounting courses 
offered by tertiary training institutions. Although these 
reviews form the basis for issuing training licenses, 
they are focused on assessing institutional training 
resources and management capacity, not the quality of 
the curriculum. The latter responsibility falls on MICPA. 

MICPA is mandated to review the quality of the 
training curricula and syllabi of universities, institutions, 
and colleges that provide accounting training. MICPA 
Training Committee recommends and develops programs 

36 ADB. 2002. Technical Assistance to Mongolia for Capacity Building 
for Accounting and Auditing Professionals. Manila (TA 3913-MON).

and schedules for training seminars, including the CPA 
examination. It is also responsible for defining CPA 
examination procedures and submitting proposals to the 
MOF and MPAC for consideration. Furthermore, MICPA 
has an active education campaign, including a media 
campaign, to improve public awareness of accountancy 
issues. The institute publishes the fortnightly Financial 
News and the Quarterly Journal on Accounting and 
Auditing. These publications keep members and 
businesses updated on current professional issues. 
MICPA has greatly benefited from the training support it 
has received from international donors, including ADB. 

Finally, the CPE requirement for accountants is 
governed by the accounting law and auditing law, which 
make it the responsibility of the MOF, MICPA, and MPAC. 
The MOF Accounting Division conducts training in new 
accounting regulations, while MPAC and MICPA offer CPE 
courses for accountants preparing for the CPA exams.

Conclusions: Issues and Recommendations

Mongolia has expended considerable effort to reform its 
accounting and auditing systems in line with IFRS and 
ISA. Among the four economies discussed in this paper, 
Mongolia was the first transitional economy to recognize 
the importance of higher-quality financial disclosures in 
increasing both foreign direct and domestic investments. 
Continuing to strengthen and develop financial reporting, 
accounting, and auditing systems, and the regulatory 
framework that governs them will bring significant 
benefits to Mongolia. 

Mongolia continues to face challenges in some areas, 
and has set the following priorities to address them: 

Improving the quality of financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. The quality 
of financial statements is generally poor and 
compliance with IFRS remains low because of  
(i) the lack of qualified accountants with sufficient 
understanding and experience of applying IFRS, 
(ii) outdated IFRS materials in the Mongolian 
language (the translation of the 2003 version 
took 2 years to complete and it is uncertain when 
this will be updated), and (iii) lack of knowledge 
of IFRS by SMEs.37 It is therefore recommended 
that the MOF establish a unit responsible for 

37 The paid-up capital requirement of $40,000 for an enterprise to 
follow IFRS brings many SMEs into its regulatory net. 

•
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keeping the translations of IFRS and ISA up to 
date. It would also be advisable for the MOF to 
consider the adoption of simpler standards for 
SMEs, as the application of IFRS to all enterprises 
is impractical and unnecessary.
Strengthening oversight of the audit profession 
and enforcement of ISA. Mongolia took the bold 
step of adopting IFRS and ISA as its national 
standards, hence allowing its institutions to 
focus on developing the capacity needed to 
regulate and enforce them. Although good 
progress has been made, it is generally 
acknowledged that the enforcement of audit 
quality standards in Mongolia remains weak for 
a number of reasons: (i) the auditing standards 
being applied by Mongolian auditors are based 
on the translation of ISA 2003 and, therefore, 
significantly out-of-date; (ii) compliance with 
the IFAC code of ethics is low, which casts 
doubts on the independence of auditors; and 
(iii) the auditing law itself is silent on the issue 
of oversight, and as a result no regulatory 
body is responsible for enforcing standards. 
These weaknesses could be addressed by 
amending the law to provide the legal basis for 
establishing an audit quality assurance system. 
The law should empower MICPA, through its 
audit committee, to play a larger role in the 
regulation and enforcement of audit standards. 
This should include issuing guidelines for 
conducting audits; clarifying the required 
duties, independence, and ethics of statutory 
auditors; and offering the public oversight and 
external quality assurance necessary to ensure 
quality audits. In this respect, the adoption of 
the EU’s 8th Directive could be instrumental in 
improving the application and enforcement of 
enhanced accounting and auditing standards.

Increasing the skills of auditors and improving 
the reputation of the audit profession. The 
present weaknesses in the regulatory framework, 
combined with the limited number of qualified 
auditors, means that audit engagements are 
not always performed to a satisfactory level of 
quality. There is also a perception that adherence 
to the IFAC code of ethics is not enforced, which 

•

•

inevitably reduces the value of audit reports 
to current and prospective investors in making 
rational investment decisions. The current 
situation undermines the whole profession. 
Skills development and instituting an effective 
regulatory and enforcement framework are 
urgent priorities to restore confidence in the 
audit profession. Possible initiatives to address 
the situation include retraining auditors, 
developing methodological and guidance 
materials, and providing Mongolian translation 
of the latest ISA. 
Making enterprises' financial statements 
available to the public. Only government 
authorities currently have access to enterprises’ 
financial statements, with little of that 
information available to the public through 
published media or a central depository. 
Although the existing laws provide for the wider 
availability of the financial statements, these 
are yet to be effectively enforced. Establishing a 
central depository similar to Companies House 
of the UK was discussed by the Mongolian 
delegation at the regional seminar in Almaty. 
Its implementation could alleviate the present 
shortcomings.

A recent report by the World Bank on the observance 
of standards and codes in accounting and auditing in 
Mongolia also highlights some shortcomings in the 
existing arrangements.38 The report offers a number 
of important policy recommendations to improve 
Mongolia’s accounting and auditing infrastructure. 

Conclusion

The challenges to the adoption of IFRS and the 
enforcement of ISA in the four transitional economies were 
broadly similar in direction, albeit differing in magnitude. 
These differences were directly correlated to the timing 
and pace of accounting and auditing reforms coupled 
with broader judicial reforms. Chapter 3 examines the 
lessons learned in reforming the transitional economies’ 
accounting and auditing frameworks and the role of this 
TA in addressing identified challenges.

38 World Bank. 2008. Report on the Observance of Standards and 
Codes (ROSC) Mongolia. 

•
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The Reform Process

As described in Chapter 2, the reform process in 
the four transitional economies—Kazakhstan, 
Kyrgyz Republic, Mongolia, and Uzbekistan—has 

involved the rapid introduction of new accounting and 
auditing standards based on the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) without sufficient attention 
paid to the legal, regulatory, and institutional realities in 
those countries. Despite the reforms in recent years, theDespite the reforms in recent years, the 
accounting framework for enterprises in these economies 
continued to be highly prescriptive in the form of a fixed 
chart of accounts and fixed bookkeeping methodologies 
and procedures. The accounting regulations remained 
biased toward calculating and collecting taxes rather 
than for managing and evaluating businesses. It wasIt was 
clear that the financial reporting systems in the four 
transitional economies required more emphasis on 
enterprises’ accountability to stakeholders. Instituting 
a more effective system of regulation and enforcement, 
along with building capacity within the accounting and 
auditing profession, are fundamental preconditions to 
achieving that objective.

The rigorous application of international accounting 
and auditing standards requires a balanced combination 
of incentives and deterrents as well as effective 
regulation to underpin institutionalized incentives. 
Unfortunately, IFRS and ISA themselves do not specify 
how such regulation should be exercised. This is 
understandable, given that IFRS and ISA were developed 
in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD) countries with advanced legal and 
governance standards, many of them following a common 
law jurisprudence system where judicial precedent 
provided just solutions for situations that were hitherto 
unlegislated specifically. For those civil law countries 
in the OECD, accounting and auditing legislation is 
prescriptively detailed to offer accountants and auditors 
well-established guidelines and benchmarks. The 
European Union’s (EU) 8th Directive allows for the import 

into civil law countries through the EU legislation,39 
updates to their accounting standards based on IFRS and 
to their auditing standards based on ISA without having 
to amend their civil codes. Both common and civil law 
countries in the OECD have independent judiciaries to 
interpret laws fairly. The existing drafts of international 
accounting and auditing standards implicitly assume 
the existence of similar legal, institutional, and policy 
conditions, which are underdeveloped or absent in 
transitional economies given their nascent regulatory 
and governance frameworks. This is exacerbated by the 
absence of independent judiciaries in the former centrally 
planned states to interpret and apply laws fairly.  

Furthermore, when these economies commenced their 
transition to international standards in the late 1990s, 
there was no critical mass of knowledge on how such 
a transition should be attempted and within what time 
frame. The organic development of an accounting system 
in developed economies has been a gradual evolutionary 
phenomenon occurring over decades. This time period 
can be considerable, even in countries where there is 
significant international exposure, a highly developed 
accounting subculture, and independent judiciaries. 
In the United Kingdom (UK), for example, despite a 
developed accountancy profession and the establishment 
of an accounting standards committee in 1970, the 
concept of harmonization with international accounting 
standards (IAS) was not part of the UK policy until the 
establishment of the Accounting Standards Board in 
1990. Even today, a number of significant differences 
exist between UK accounting and financial reporting 
standards and IFRS. The problem of slow development 
is even more severe in transitional economies, where 
accounting and auditing professionals were isolated 
from accounting developments in market economies.

39 The EU’s 8th Directive on financial disclosure has successfully 
facilitated the incorporation of IFRS and ISA formulated originally by 
accountants in common law jurisdictions for the civil law countries 
of the EU without requiring new legislative approval. 
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Given the lack of capacity, it is not surprising that 
accelerated introduction of IFRS-based accounting 
standards in transitional economies has led to a situation 
where, in the vast majority of cases, the adoption of IFRS 
is merely nominal (more marked in form than in content), 
and the accounting and reporting practices of enterprises 
are materially unchanged. Such a practice is undesirable 
as it has the potential to substantially compromise 
the truth and fairness of financial statements that are 
supposedly prepared under IFRS and audited according 
to ISA. This is the case to a varying extent in Kazakhstan, 
Kyrgyz Republic, Uzbekistan, and Mongolia. Although 
important steps have been taken toward introducing 
international financial reporting and auditing standards, 
formidable challenges remain in building legislative 
and institutional capacity to regulate and enforce the 
application of those standards by accountants and 
auditors. 

The four transitional economies have experienced 
common problems in implementing IFRS and ISA 
effectively. Useful lessons can be learned from the 
successes and shortcomings of their recent reform 
efforts.  

Lessons Learned and Common Problems

Recent studies of the progress made by transitional 
economies in introducing international standards, 
including ADB diagnostic studies of accounting and 
auditing systems, offer policy makers common themes 
that can focus future reform efforts and create the 
conditions and instruments necessary for the successful 
adoption of international best practices. 

A study conducted by the World Bank in 200440 
identified a number of challenges and problems common 
across several jurisdictions and suggested initiatives 
that could enhance the implementation of international 
standards. Its key observations were as follows:

The rigorous application of international 
accounting and auditing standards in transitional 
economies is impeded by a lack of capacity and 
institutionalized incentives (both positive and 
deterrent).

Accounting and auditing regulation is critical to 
underpinning such incentives, but international 

40 World Bank. 2004. Implementation of International Accounting and 
Auditing Standards, Lessons Learned. Washington, DC.

•

•

accounting and auditing standards themselves 
do not set out requirements for how regulation 
should be exercised.

IFRS and ISA are not appropriate for all sizes 
of enterprises; their application should be 
mandatory only for economically significant 
enterprises where there is a high level of public 
interest in their financial performance.

Lack of human and financial resources is 
a significant impediment to implementing 
international standards, and the resources from 
the national governments and businesses are 
grossly inadequate in redressing the situation.

Mechanisms for public oversight of the audit 
function, including the setting of auditing 
standards and procedures for assuring audit 
quality, are almost entirely absent in many 
transitional economies.

There are inherent limitations to the extent of 
reliance that can be placed on international 
audit firms and their individual national member 
firms to compensate for weaknesses in domestic 
regulatory regimes.

The study recommended that strengthening 
the regulatory arrangements requires transitional 
economies to give greater attention to regulatory 
preconditions. It also proposed that the relevant 
international organizations should work together to 
develop a consensus on a comprehensive framework of 
principles for the regulation of accounting and auditing, 
and to support the adoption of such a framework by 
competent national authorities.

The World Bank’s findings parallel those of the ADB 
diagnostic studies of accounting and auditing systems 
in selected transitional economies. The ADB researchers 
observed some common constraints to the adoption of 
IFRS and the enforcement of ISA. These included (i) the 
profession's inadequate knowledge of post-2003 IFRS 
and ISA developments and the International FederationInternational Federation 
of Accountants’ (IFAC) professional code of ethics (IFAC) professional code of ethics 
because of the lack of textbooks in the local languages 
and opportunities for continuing professional education; 
(ii) lack of sufficiently independent and IFAC-compliant 
self-regulatory organizations to set accounting and 
auditing standards, and regulate and supervise 
the profession; (iii) lack of normative guidelines for 
practicing accountants, auditors, and regulators in 
interpreting and implementing IFRS and ISA; and 
(iv) conflicts between the countries’ civil and tax codes 
and IFRS principles, which impinge on the latter’s 
application by companies. 

•

•

•

•
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An ADB technical assistance (TA) project on regional 
financial sector development41 sought to address the 
above constraints, partially by assisting nonfinancial 
joint stock companies (NFJSCs) with using IFRS as their 
accounting standards. In this direction, the project 
specifically (i) undertook a survey on NFJSC compliance 
with IFRS, (ii) assisted ministries of finance (MOFs) 
to begin or continue implementing IFRS guidelines 
based on international best practice, (iii) identified 
some constraints to IFRS implementation in NFJSCs,  
(iv) conducted practical IFRS workshops for accountants 
from NFJSCs, and (v) conducted two regional training 
workshops on IFRS implementation for regulators and 
key participants in those countries. 

The Central Asia Accounting Reform Project (CAARP) 
and the Enterprise Development Program (EDP) of the 
United States Agency for International Development 
(USAID) sought to create a regional accounting 
infrastructure by supporting education and setting 
examination standards for a critical mass of IFRS-
knowledgeable accountants. Three ADB TA projects in 
Mongolia sought the same objective.42

This TA built on the achievements of previous programs 
by training regulators in the beneficiary countries to 
better enforce international standards while fostering 
knowledge sharing about IFRS and ISA. Such training 
was deemed necessary to enhance regulators’ capacity 
for setting accounting and auditing standards, and 
increase control over the quality of financial disclosures 
and audits. Adopting an integrated approach, the TA 
aimed to highlight weaknesses in the four countries’ 
institutional, legal, and regulatory frameworks that 
inhibited adoption of IFRS and enforcement of ISA. An 
integrated approach encourages interaction and debate 
on common problems by exploiting synergies and 
sharing experiences across countries, offering a cost-
effective approach to such questions. 

41 ADB. 2003. Regional Technical Assistance for Regional Financial 
Sector Development. Manila (TA 6137-REG). This TA focused on 
transparent financial disclosure and prudential financial regulation 
and supervision standards. Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz 
Republic, and Tajikistan participated in the project’s deliberations.

42 ADB. 1995. Technical Assistance to Mongolia for Improving 
Accounting and Auditing Systems. Manila (TA 2390-MON); ADB. 
1997. Technical Assistance to Mongolia for Improving Accounting 
and Auditing Systems. Manila (TA 2964-MON); ADB. 2002. Technical 
Assistance to Mongolia for Capacity Building for Accounting and 
Auditing Professionals. Manila (TA 3913-MON).

Impact of this Project in Enhancing Financial 
Disclosure Standards 

The expected impact of this TA was to bring about quality 
improvements and compliance with accounting and 
auditing standards in the four transitional economies, 
in line with IFRS and ISA. It focused predominantly on 
companies in the nonfinancial sector and on enhancing 
the regulators’ capacity to set accounting and auditing 
standards, implement quality control measures, and 
enforce compliance where necessary. In doing so, it 
complemented and continued the efforts of earlier ADB 
TA projects and the ADB’s country-specific loans and TAs 
to Mongolia and the Kyrgyz Republic.43

Country workshops were organized to ensure that the 
regional interface sought under the TA complemented, 
and not replaced, the envisaged country-specific focus. 
The regional seminar was instrumental in facilitating 
debate on common problems and sharing experiences 
among countries.

The TA specifically concentrated on the following 
objectives: (i) providing methodologies for addressing 
legal and regulatory impediments to the application of 
IFRS and ISA; (ii) training regulators on the updated IFRS 
and ISA; (iii) providing methodologies for reconciling 
income and asset values computed according to IFRS 
standards with those according to local tax regulations; 
(iv) providing specific guidelines for interpreting and 
implementing IFRS and ISA; (v) recommending criteria 
for entry and continued membership in the profession;  
(vi) translating auditing textbooks, ISA, and other 
updated relevant material into Russian and Mongolian 
(without duplicating what has already been translated 
by USAID under its EDP); and (vii) after completion of 
the country-specific training programs, conducting 
a regional seminar to provide an interface for the 
regulators from the four transitional economies to share 
their knowledge in applying IFRS and ISA. 

Below is an overview of how the TA contributed to 
achieving these objectives.

Providing methodologies for addressing legal and 
regulatory impediments to the application of IFRS 
and ISA 

An implicit assumption underlying the development 
of international accounting and auditing standards 

43 In the Kyrgyz Republic and Mongolia, this TA will assist in the practical 
applications of post-2003 IFRS and, in particular, ISA principles.

The Need for Change and the Role of ADB Technical Assistance
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is the existence of appropriate legal, institutional, 
and policy conditions that are undeveloped or absent 
in the transitional economies. Exacerbating the 
situation is the absence of mechanisms in most of the 
transitional economies for public oversight of the audit 
function, including the setting of auditing standards 
and the assurance of audit quality. As a result, there 
is high reliance on the international audit firms and 
their individual national members to compensate 
for weaknesses in the domestic regulatory regimes. 
This reliance is risky, however, as the audit by a 
local affiliate of an international audit firm does not 
guarantee high-quality audits. The real determinant 
of audit quality remains the strength of the domestic 
regulatory regimes, rather than network membership. 
The rigorous application of international accounting and 
auditing standards requires effective regulatory and 
enforcement frameworks to be applied and administered 
consistently.

The need for strengthening regulation and oversight is 
urgent and common to all the transitional economies that 
have adopted IFRS and ISA. This is essential to address 
legal and regulatory impediments to the application of 
IFRS and enforcement of ISA. This project was a step 
toward bringing together regulators, standards setters, 
and professionals from four transitional economies 
to raise their awareness and offer them a forum for 
debating common issues and problems.

The TA project reinforced the need for relevant 
national and international organizations to develop a 
consensus on a comprehensive framework of principles 
for regulating accounting and auditing, and support 
the adoption of such a framework by the appropriate 
national authorities.

There is also little evidence that company financial 
statements are made available to the public in any 
systematic way in any of the four economies. The 
financial statements that are available frequently 
suffer from deficient disclosures and do not fully 
adhere to international standards, limiting their value 
to shareholders, investors, and the public. From an 
accounting perspective, this contradicts the very 
essence of IFRS and adds significantly to the cost of 
investing in the transitional economies. Providing 
access to corporate financial statements was stressed 
throughout this project as a means to protect third 
parties, such as creditors, suppliers, and employees, 
and alert the public to potential economic problems that 
may result from the financial difficulties being faced by 
economically significant public enterprises.

Extensive coverage of regulation and enforcement 
issues was provided in the country workshops by 
presenting information about regulatory systems in 
other countries, particularly in the UK, where the system 
covers a wide range of areas including

legislation,

standard setting,

monitoring the work of accountants and 
auditors,

enforcing compliance with accounting and 
auditing standards, and

enforcing the publication of financial state-
ments. 

Unlike transitional economies, where legislation 
governing different forms of commercial entities 
were introduced in recent years, the basic legislation 
governing companies in developed countries has 
existed for many decades. In the UK, for example, this 
legislation sets out

the requirements for the charter of a company;

the rules of conduct for a company with respect 
to meetings, corporate reporting, shareholders 
rights, and directors’ responsibilities;

the rules prescribing the format of financial 
statements and the basic accounting principles 
to be applied;

the audit requirements for the various types and 
sizes of companies; and

the requirements for publishing financial 
statements and other information (the charter, 
the list of shareholders, details of directors, any 
secured loans, etc.)

The country workshops offered the opportunity to 
contrast the development of accounting and auditing 
standards, and the legislative and institutional 
frameworks supporting their enforcement, in the 
four transitional economies with those of the UK. For 
example, the first accounting and auditing standards 
were introduced in the UK in 1969 after a number of 
publicized commercial scandals. Standards were 
initially set by a joint body representing the accounting 
and auditing associations before an independent body 
was established to set standards and monitor the 
quality of financial statements. A few years later, the 
Department of Trade created the Financial Reporting 
Council (FRC) to set accounting and auditing standards 
in the UK. 

•

•

•
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As for auditing, UK auditors are required to be licensed 
by one of the accounting and auditing associations, 
and since 2004, the FRC has monitored auditors acting 
for public interest entities. The FRC also reviews and 
assesses the monitoring role of the professional bodies 
over the remaining auditors.

The FRC, as an independent body, plays a central role 
in enforcing compliance with accounting and auditing 
standards in the UK, including monitoring financial 
statements and auditors to ensure compliance with 
accounting and auditing standards. Such independent 
institutions do not yet exist in any of the four transitional 
economies, with the MOFs continuing to play the main 
governing role. The role of professional institutes is 
also limited given their small memberships and lack of 
capacity and resources. 

Furthermore, there is no single repository in any of the 
four transitional economies, such as the UK’s Companies 
House,44 where company financial statements can be 
lodged for public access. Companies House has existed 
for decades and companies are obliged to submit annual 
financial statements and other information. For a small 
fee, Companies House will provide information about 
any company in the UK, including a copy of the financial 
statements, details of directors and shareholders, and 
the charter.45

All four transitional economies showed significant 
interest in the structure of FRC and Companies House. 
Full information was furnished at the country workshops 
to prepare for the regional seminar in Almaty, 
where participants explored the implementation of 
similar structures in transitional economies with the 
representatives of FRC and Companies House. 

The Kazakh participants acknowledged that non-
observance of accounting and auditing legislation is 
widespread in the country and there is insufficient 
compliance monitoring. The situation is made worse by 
inconsistencies in the various normative and legal acts 
that need harmonization. 

In the Kyrgyz Republic, there is a lack of both sufficient 
capacity and effective mechanisms for monitoring and 
enforcing compliance with accounting and auditing 
standards. The Kyrgyz representatives confirmed the 

44 Companies’ House (UK) PLC is an incorporated entity performing the 
functions of the Registrar of Joint Stock Companies. 

45 In 2006, Companies House dealt with five million requests for such 
information.

country’s continuing reliance on TA to address the 
existing weaknesses instead of funds being made 
available by the government or the industry. 

In Uzbekistan, the lack of adequate quality control by 
the licensing body (MOF) and the limited self-regulation 
practiced by the professional institution were cited as 
the root causes of the problems experienced there.  

Mongolian participants were concerned that the 
development of the financial markets, and hence the 
economy, is hindered by the lack of transparency in the 
financial statements of enterprises, which do not offer 
sufficient disclosures for investors to make investment 
decisions. They believed that more must be done to 
reinforce the importance of international standards 
compliance and monitoring in Mongolia.

The regional seminar participants favored the creationhe regional seminar participants favored the creation 
of autonomous regulatory boards in their countries (like 
the Public Companies Accounting Oversight Board in the 
United States [US] and the FRC in the UK) to supervise 
the accounting and auditing professions on a fiduciary 
and prudential basis, answerable to the legislature. 
Participants agreed that vesting powers arbitrarily 
with the MOF to supervise the accounting and auditing 
professions, could render them over-administered but 
under-regulated. This could be counterproductive. The 
country delegates also recognized that such an evolution 
would take time and require significant resources, given 
the nascent legal structures coupled with the absence of 
the principle of judicial precedent.

Furthermore, the seminar delegates accepted the 
speakers’ suggestions on the (i) enactment of Sarbanes––
Oxley Act type legislation, mandating responsibilities for 
auditors and corporate managers; (ii) fiduciary oversight 
of the accounting and auditing professions; (iii) creation 
of public companies’ information repositories; and  
(iv) effective enforcement to enhance corporate govern- 
ance standards in their countries. The Mongolian delegates 
announced that such legislation was already in process 
in Mongolia. The Kazakhstan and Kyrgyz delegations also 
endorsed the suggestion and stated that such measures 
would be introduced starting in 2009. 

Training regulators on the updated International 
Financial Reporting Standards and International 
Standards on Auditing

As discussed in Chapter 2, the national accounting and 
auditing standards in the four counties are based on 
earlier versions of IFRS and ISA. In the case of Mongolia, 

The Need for Change and the Role of ADB Technical Assistance
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which adopted IFRS and ISA as its national standards, 
the 2003 translations are significantly outdated but still 
widely used. Many regulators in the four transitional 
economies are unfamiliar with the recent drafts of IFRS 
and ISA, limiting their ability to update their national 
standards. 

The country workshops were the main forum for training 
regulators on the updated IFRS and ISA as well as the 
associated regulatory regimes. Four 1-week workshops 
were held for a total of 110 participants representing 
a wide range of regulatory bodies: accountants, 
auditors, professional associations, accounting policy 
departments of MOFs, stock exchanges, tax authorities, 
financial supervision agencies, and universities.

The workshop content was based on the stakeholders’ 
requirements, which were articulated through meetings 
in each country. Although the basic material was the 
same, each workshop contained country-specific 
sessions. The range of topics covered 

regulatory regimes,

relevance of IFRS,

fundamentals of IFRS,

monitoring changes in IFRS (2001 to 2007),

IFRS versus national standards,

accounting for tax,

monitoring changes in ISA (2001 to 2007),

audit reports,

audit sampling,

professional membership,

financial instruments,

code of ethics, and

quality control.

Some materials were developed for the individual 
countries based on their specific needs and stage of 
development (for example, sessions on specific IFRS, 
such as those governing financial instruments). All 
workshop materials were distributed on CDs to the 
participants. 

At the country workshops, training was provided on 
20 of the 34 international accounting standards, using 
practical case studies. Training was also provided on 
the IFAC auditing handbook, covering ethics and quality 
control. For auditing standards, three case studies 
were presented which together covered most of the 
31 standards. The documentation and discussion of  
the changes to IFRS (Appendix 1) and ISA (Appendix 2)  

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

from 2000 to 2007 also provided a strong technical 
foundation throughout the workshops.

An important objective of the country workshops was 
for each country to prepare a draft action plan for reform. In 
this respect, the project has been instrumental in helping 
the beneficiary countries draw up country action plans 
(Appendix 3) that offer a clear way forward in developing 
their accounting and auditing systems and the regulatory 
framework. Although the quality of the plans developed at 
the workshops was mixed, they were refined and greatly 
improved at the regional seminar in Almaty.

The level of workshop participation was high and 
the overall feedback positive, confirming the need for 
such gatherings on a regular basis. The workshops were 
perceived as being directly relevant to the participants’ 
work, despite the wide range of disciplines and 
background represented. The workshops focused on 
practical scenarios and examples in the context of the 
history and development of the accounting and auditing 
professions. The feedback on the depth and breadth of the 
workshops was mixed, as was expected given the short 
duration of the workshops and the mixed background 
of participants. By far the most common suggestion 
from the participants was that such workshops should 
be held at least annually. Considering the importance 
of such events in molding bureaucratic and legislativemolding bureaucratic and legislative bureaucratic and legislative 
opinion in favor of reforms, it is surprising that they are 
not regularly organized by the national authorities.

Providing methodologies for reconciling income 
and asset values computed according to IFRS 
standards and those by local tax authorities

Taxation is an important matter that is linked to the 
process of accounting. There are two areas where 
taxation and accounting are linked:

The calculation of taxable profit, which requires 
transactions and events to be recoded in a way 
that allows the tax rules to be followed; and

The recognition in the financial statements 
of the liability to pay taxes in both the current 
reporting period and future periods based on 
the situation existing at the end of the reporting 
period.

A common problem encountered by accountants 
preparing IFRS financial statements in transitional 
economies is that the profit calculated under IFRS is 
unlikely to be the same figure as the taxable profit 
calculated under the taxation rules. 

•

•
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Profit calculated under IFRS is required to be “fair”—
which is by nature difficult to define, as what is considered 
fair will depend on the circumstances. Historically, 
fairness evolved from the concept of conservatism and, 
in common law jurisdictions, on judicial precedents. The 
evolution went from a concern with liquidity and creditor 
protection to a concern that financial statements should 
be fair to all users. Fairness is best understood as an 
expression of neutrality in the preparation of financial 
statements, which is an unfamiliar concept to transitional 
economies. Exercising it requires significant judgement 
skills that many accountants in the four transitional 
economies still do not possess.

On the other hand, profit calculated for taxation 
purposes is not neutral. The rules of calculation are set 
to allow profits to be verified as “correct” (in accordance 
with legislation) rather than “fair,” and do not allow for 
applying a high degree of judgment. In fact, a government 
may have any number of economic objectives embedded 
in its fiscal and taxation policy, as evidenced by its tax 
code. Accounting fairness is seldom a canon for fiscal 
policy. In transitional economies, accounting standards 
are generally biased toward taxation rather than on 
jurisprudent fairness.

Experience in other transitional economies suggests 
that discrepancies between taxable profit and accounting 
profit form a significant barrier to substantive accounting 
reform. The current situation—where enterprises are 
forced to either adhere to tax legislation in preparing 
their financial statements or face the burden of producing 
separate sets of accounts for financial reporting under 
IFRS and tax purposes—is unsustainable. The conflicting 
requirements between IFRS and tax authorities therefore 
remain a serious impediment to implementing IFRS and 
are yet to be effectively addressed.

To offer a methodology for tax reconciliation, this 
project first identified the main differences between the 
treatment of profit tax under the national tax codes and 
under IFRS. A comprehensive tax reconciliation manual 
(Appendix 4) was then prepared for each country, 
showing how to account for differences between the tax 
codes and IFRS. A comprehensive tax case study was 
developed, based on the issues arising in each country. 
The same case study was used for all four countries, 
with solutions were prepared according to the tax code 
of each country. For instance, companies in Uzbekistan 
produce an income statement that separates financial 
accounting principles from tax accounting principles; 
an example of the way accounting and tax profits are 
treated in Uzbekistan was included in the tax manual, 

as it was of general interest to the other three countries. 
The four solutions provide a comprehensive explanation 
of most of the differences likely to arise in practice.

The manual is a step-by-step solution to the case 
study, which deals with a company in its first 2 years 
of trading. The tax manual also includes lecture notes, 
slides, examples, and case studies used in the country 
workshops. The entire package was designed to offer 
comprehensive and quality materials as the basis for 
designing and delivering a 2-day training course on IAS 
12: Income Taxes (Appendix 1 Table A.1). 

The publication of the tax manual was timely, as all 
four countries are either introducing IAS 12 in 2007 or 
developing a system for assessing compliance with 
IFRS. Compliance with IAS 12 is an important indicator of 
compliance with IFRS. Mongolia introduced a completely 
new tax code in 2007 based on accrual accounting for 
the first time, and IAS 12 became mandatory in 2007. 
A training session on the tax differences specific to 
Mongolia was provided to the MOF staff and the tax 
inspector charged with preparing guidelines on the 
application of IAS 12. The case study proved valuable, 
and a session on it was part of the Mongolian country 
workshop. Two of the differences arise from poor tax 
treatments in the tax code, which the tax inspector agreed 
to recommend for reversal. Mongolia was exceptional 
in using the inputs from the country workshops to 
formulate an IFRS-friendly tax code to address the root 
of this problem. Uzbekistan enacted legislation in 2007 
warranting the maintenance of separate accounts for tax 
and financial disclosure purposes. This is an important 
step in the right direction.

The development of a tax bridge, offering a clear 
methodology for reconciling accounting and tax profits, 
is critical to the effective implementation of IFRS, and 
its development is a priority for the four transitional 
economies. The comprehensive tax reconciliation 
manual (Appendix 4) developed as part of this TA 
project and tailored to the specific circumstances in 
each country, offers a methodology for dealing with 
differences between profits calculated under tax rules 
and those calculated under accounting standards.

Providing specific guidelines for interpreting and 
implementing international standards 

The implementation of IFRS and ISA in the four transitional 
economies is hampered by a few related issues such as 
delays in the availability of guidance materials in local 
languages and the limited capacity of the agencies 
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responsible for the development and publication of 
standards.

A serious impediment to progress is the delayed 
availability of official translations of IFRS and ISA in 
the local languages. Given that there are some 300 mil-
lion–400 million Russian speakers in the region, the 
urgency of translation into Russian is well understood. 
This poses an additional problem to those countries 
that have moved away from the Russian language, such 
as Mongolia, Azerbaijan, Armenia, and Georgia. For 
example, in Mongolia where application of IFRS and ISA 
are mandatory, their translations have not been updated 
since 2003. 

Related to translation is the general lack of capacity 
within the state institutions responsible for developing 
and disseminating accounting and auditing standards. 
Although TAs by donor agencies have been instrumental 
in relieving the problem in the short term, sufficient 
budget financing has not yet materialized to effectivelymaterialized to effectively to effectively 
address the problem. As a result, limited resources are 
available within the four countries to keep the national 
standards updated to the required quality, let alone 
to produce or update any supporting guidelines. The 
problem is unlikely to be resolved quickly, as many 
standard-setting institutions, such as the MOF, offer 
low public sector salaries and cannot attract qualified 
staff with an internationally recognized accounting 
qualification. This problem is particularly acute in the 
Kyrgyz Republic and Uzbekistan.  

Producing country-specific guidelines to support 
accounting and auditing standards would have been an 
enormous undertaking, and the output would have had 
a limited shelf life given the changes planned to ISA and 
the general movement from national standards toward 
IFRS. Instead, the relevant guidelines and materials,relevant guidelines and materials, 
already in the public domain, were compiled and made 
available to each country. In addition, guidelines were 
produced for items for which there was a specific need, 
and particularly those that were relevant to all four 
countries. The supporting materials for the interpretation 
of IFRS guidelines and the implementation of ISA 
guidelines are given below.

IFRS Guidelines
The IFRS book runs to some 2,400 pages. While the basic 
12 standards remain very important, it is unrealistic 
to expect a general accountant or auditor to have a 
sound knowledge of the other 25 standards and the 18 
interpretations. To that extent, IFRS has in part become 
a reference document. Annual update courses still play 

a part in continuing professional education (CPE) if the 
changes relate to mainstream areas. The International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has promised a 
period of stability with no significant changes to IFRS 
until 2009, and with the translation of the current IFRS 
into Russian, the time is right for transitional economies 
to fully adopt IFRS for appropriate companies.

A number of specific problems also exist:

The official Russian translation of IFRS 2006 
has been delayed since March 2006, and earlier 
versions of the translation done by Askeri46 are 
generally in use.

The national standards are based on various 
versions of IFRS from 2001 to 2006, with 
accountants and auditors using translations of 
different versions of IFRS.

In Uzbekistan, the MOF has lost track of the 
changes and the deviations between the 
national standards and the IFRS on which they 
were based; 

The Kyrgyz guidelines were drafted in the 
traditional fashion, which included lengthy 
descriptions with detailed examples of Kyrgyz 
accounting entries that resemble traditional 
accounting regulations.

Mongolia uses a 2003 translation of IFRS, 
and it is unlikely that the translation will ever 
be updated. Instead, the MOF is producing 
guidelines based on the current English version 
of IFRS as new standards are adopted.

The experience of implementing IFRS in the region 
indicates that it is a prohibitively expensive and time-
consuming exercise to produce country-specific 
guidelines and keep them up to date. A current book of 
IFRS guidelines in Russian, a copy of the van Greuning 
book,47 and the Russian translation of guidelines for 
IFRS 6 and 7 were given to all the country workshop 
participants, providing a complete and current set of 
IFRS translations. The book of guidelines, paired with 
the official IASB Russian translation of IFRS, provides 
sufficient information for Russian-speaking accountants 
and auditors. The book and its translation are affordable, 
and because they are updated annually, constitute an 
important resource.

46 www.askeri.ru/

47 Van Greuning, H. 2004. International Financial Reporting Standards: 
A Practical Guide. Washington, DC: The World Bank–The International 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development.
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The four countries were encouraged to send 
representatives to an international standards conference 
in Kiev48 in February 2007, and Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz 
Republic, and Uzbekistan did so. During the conference, 
meetings were held with the IASB managers responsible 
for translations. As a result, Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan 
contracted with IASB to take the Russian translation of 
IFRS annually. This requires the contracting governments 
to commit to adopting IFRS. Kazakhstan has already 
adopted IFRS; Uzbekistan has produced, but not yet 
published, a plan for convergence with IFRS; and the 
Kyrgyz Republic is likely to follow. The future availability 
of an up-to-date Russian translation of IFRS will provide 
the impetus for transitional economies to replace their 
national standards with IFRS. 

A detailed analysis of all the changes to IFRS from 
2000 to 2007 (Appendix 1) was also created, including 
explanations of the reasons for the changes and a 
review of potential changes in the pipeline. This input 
was valuable in helping the four countries bring their 
national standards in line with the latest IFRS. 

The following country-specific tasks were also 
undertaken to address immediate problems:

The Uzbek National Standards were reconciled to 
the current and past versions of IFRS, which was 
received enthusiastically by the participants who 
attended the Uzbekistan country workshop.

The Mongolian delegation requested that the 
van Greuning book be translated into Mongolian, 
but the resources and funding required were 
prohibitive and it was doubtful whether it would 
be updated in the future.

At the request of the SSFSR in the Kyrgyz 
Republic, guidelines on applying financial 
instrument standards (IAS 32 and 39, and IFRS 7)  
were prepared, in line with the requirements of 
the national standards.

At the request of Mongolia's MOF, training 
sessions on IAS 17, 18, and 40, and IFRS 6 were 
conducted.

Despite financial instruments being outside the 
scope of the TA, the stakeholders were keen 
that the topic should be covered at the country 

48 The conference was organized by the United Nations Conference on 
Trade and Development. The cost of time and expenses for the team 
leader’s attendance was provided by Corporate Solutions and not 
financed out of the TA funds.

•

•

•

•

•

workshops, and a session on the relevant three 
standards was organized.
The Nestlé financial statements were translated 
into Russian and Mongolian and distributed to 
the country workshop participants. The accounts 
from Nestlé (a company long recognized as 
a leading exponent of IFRS application and 
disclosure) are among the best examples of 
financial statements prepared under IFRS, and 
offer an invaluable resource for accountants and 
auditors preparing IFRS-compliant accounts. 

In summary, an up-to-date set of IFRS guidelines in 
Russian has been made available to the four countries. 
This, along with the publication of the Russian 
translation of IFRS, constitutes sufficient technical 
materials to support the preparation of IFRS financial 
statements. The translation of the Nestlé accounts intoé accounts into accounts into 
Russian and Mongolian also offers an excellent example 
of the application of IFRS in the preparation of financial 
statements. 

The most difficult standard to apply is IAS 12 on Income 
Taxes. The tax manual discussed in Appendix 4, p. 69  
deals thoroughly with this topic. The Russian translation 
of IFRS and the van Greuning book of IFRS guidelines 
will be updated annually. Since there is a moratorium 
on new accounting standards until 2009, this offers an 
excellent opportunity for the four beneficiary countries 
to consolidate the implementation of IFRS. 

Guidelines for International Standards on Auditing
Compared to IFRS, the situation with respect to ISA is 
more complex. Accounting is arithmetical, with clear 
rules and an end product, and can be learned largely 
through education and practice. In contrast, auditing 
is a practical discipline where on-the-job training is 
essential. The IFAC auditing standards were drafted in 
the 1980s, instigated by the then “Big 8” audit firms,49 
each of which had already developed its own detailed 
audit methodology. Consequently, the standards were 
written to not contradict with any of the eight different 
methodologies. Although this served the purpose of the 
large auditing firms, it is fair to say that the resulting 
standards were not written to be of practical use to 
someone conducting an ISA audit for the first time. 

49 Arthur Young, Ernst & Whitney, KPMG Peat Marwick, Deloitte Haskins 
& Sells, Touche Ross, Price Waterhouse, Coopers & Lybrand, and 
Arthur Andersen.
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When auditing became more formal in the 1970s and 
training became important, the Big 8 developed “model 
audit files” based on real clients to demonstrate the 
standard of work that was expected. They also devised 
standard documentation (audit programs, internal 
control checklists, etc.) to direct, control, and monitor 
the work carried out by their auditing staff. All this 
developed into the detailed audit methodologies that 
are in general use in the large audit firms.

The audit profession in the four transitional eco-
nomies has little past experience and there is unlikely 
to be a cohesive framework of supporting practical 
documentation to guide the audit work. Consequently, 
there is a very steep learning curve, which constrains 
the development of the audit capacity in transitional 
economies. This challenge needs to be addressed by 
intensive study of IFAC auditing standards for their 
adoption by transitional economies.

The national auditing standards in the four countries 
are based on various versions of ISA from 2001 to 2006 
and suffer from inconsistencies. Although a Russian 
translation of the 2006 IFAC handbook has been 
completed by the Kazakhstan Chamber of Auditors, it 
has not yet been published.50 Most importantly, the IFAC 
auditing standards, which run to some 1,000 pages, 
will be significantly rewritten over the next 4 years and 
the production of a comprehensive audit guideline is 
also planned. Given the current circumstances, the 
value of developing country-specific guidelines was 
questionable, as any guidelines developed now would 
become quickly outdated. Instead, the countries were 
advised that their resources would be better spent on 
establishing a sustainable translation capacity and fully 
adopting ISA as their national auditing standards.  

Notwithstanding, the following steps were taken 
under this TA project:

(i) Soft copies of guidelines for the nine major  
auditing standards,51 produced by a TechnicalTechnical 
Assistance for the Commonwealth of Indepen-
dent States (TACIS) project, were obtained, (TACIS) project, were obtained, 
reviewed, and distributed to the four countries.

50 During the implementation of the TA project, Kazakhstan agreed 
to make the 2006 translation of IFAC auditing standards available 
through MOF’s website.

51 Audit documentation, quality control, audit evidence, related 
parties, fraud, law and regulation, management representations, 
audit sampling, and audit materiality.

(ii) Kazakhstan’s MOF was put in contact with IFAC 
to discuss the translation of the 2007 handbook 
as a stopgap until all the standards are rewritten 
in 2011. 

(iii) A detailed analysis of all the changes to ISA 
from 2000 to 2007 (Appendix 2) was prepared, 
with explanations of the reasons for the 
changes and a review of the planned future 
changes.

(iv) Workshop sessions were run on the code of 
ethics, quality control, and sampling based 
on the 2007 IFAC handbook. These sessions 
included practical case studies relevant to each 
of the four countries.

(v) Quality control documentation was prepared 
to guide the Kazakhstan Chamber of Auditors 
in monitoring the quality of its members’ 
work. These were disseminated to the country 
workshop participants.

Clearly, more time is needed to strengthen the 
capacity of the audit profession in the four countries and 
implement appropriate quality assurance processes. 
Since new standards are unlikely to be issued until 2011, 
this allows sufficient time to achieve this with support 
from the government and professional organizations. 
At this stage of the audit profession’s development 
in these countries, audit manuals and practical audit 
documentation, including model audit files, are urgently 
needed. An audit manual is less subject to frequent 
amendments compared to auditing standards, hence 
offering a more stable tool. Although the current Big 4 
auditing firms have such manuals, they are the exception 
for smaller national firms. In 2003, TACIS financed a TA 
project for preparing an audit manual for the SCRFM 
in the Kyrgyz Republic. The result of that project was a 
152-page manual plus supporting audit documentation 
for general application. Encouraging TACIS to make the 
outputs available to other countries in the region would 
be a beneficial step.

At the country workshops, the purpose and use of 
an audit manual was discussed. Two sample manuals 
in English were distributed in hard copy and their use 
demonstrated through practical audit examples. The 
workshop participants appreciated the value and 
relevance of an audit manual; its production could be 
pursued through other TA projects.

The regional seminar participants suggested that the 
big international audit firms should make their audit 
manuals more generally available to others. However, 
a representative of one of the large firms explained that 
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such manuals are developed and maintained at great 
commercial expense and have limited value without 
formal and on-the-job training in their application. It 
was also pointed out that in developing countries it 
is the professional institutions’ role to prepare such 
materials and training, and that the four countries 
should expend more effort and resources in developing 
the capacity of their professional institutions to fulfill 
that role. 

Recommending criteria for entry and continued 
membership in the profession

The lack of capacity in the beneficiary countries 
suggests that the profession should be opened 
up more to practicing accountants from developed 
countries using IFAC, but this is a political dilemma. 
The Chamber of Professional Accountants andChamber of Professional Accountants and 
Auditors (CPAA) in Kazakhstan demanded that all full (CPAA) in Kazakhstan demanded that all full 
members should have passed Certified Accounting 
Practitioner (CAP) requirements, and it seems like 
an appropriate standard for the region, along with 
Certified International Professional Accountant (CIPA) 
qualifications for auditors.

Before the country workshops, meetings were 
held with professional associations to discuss the 
current criteria for entry and continued membership for 
accountants and auditors, any plans for future change, 
the role and changing role of the government, and 
reasons for accepting or not accepting the CAP and/or 
CIPA qualifications. 

At the country workshops, membership criteria of 
several regional associations were contrasted and 
discussed, in addition to the membership requirements 
and structure of international bodies such as the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland, the the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 
and the Canadian and Australian associations. The 
membership criteria and a reciprocal agreement 
between associations from the same country were also 
explored. Furthermore, discussions were encouraged 
about the length of practical experience required for 
membership in a transitional economy and how the 
quality of practical experience is more relevant than 
the length. The current experience requirement of  
5 years may exclude able and experienced accountants 
and auditors, whose contribution to a professional 
association could be substantial. This may also 
contribute to the differences between accountants 
and auditors working for local firms and those working 

for the Big 4, which is detrimental to professional 
associations. Furthermore, the 5-year experience 
requirement may deter some of the best university 
graduates (i.e., those who have alternative career 
opportunities) from entering the profession. During 
the current transitional period, when capacity is so 
lacking, more flexible strategies should be in place to 
recruit the very best people into the profession. 

The entry requirements of the national associations 
appear to be set, and there seems to have little scope 
for developing a common regional standard. Also, the 
need for an open and inclusive membership during 
the transitional period conflicts with both the IFAC 
guidelines and the general desire of the associations 
for exclusivity in their membership. There are strongly 
held views that potential members should have relevant 
degrees and work experience. The proposal that during 
the transitional period members should be allowed to 
join by passing the professional exams, preferably CAP/
CIPA, and be obliged to have a minimum of relevant 
work experience, is at odds with the views held by 
beneficiaries and IFAC. The latter believes that IFAC 
standards are more rigorous and thorough than those of 
CAP/CIPA and that relevant work experience alone after 
passing the CAP/CIPA examination will not produce 
auditors of IFAC standards. 

The main strength in the membership criteria is that 
the CAP/CIPA qualification is accepted in Uzbekistan 
and Kazakhstan, although there is uncertainty about 
the future situation in Kazakhstan. The CAP/CIPA is 
itself going through an important development phase. 
The CIPA program has independent exams, does not 
suffer from excessive and irrelevant technical content, 
and is maintaining a high standard as attested by the 
reluctance to increase the pass rate in the face of a fairly 
high failure rate. All this should establish the value of 
the qualification.

If the CAP/CIPA qualification becomes generally 
accepted in the region, it can, in the medium term, 
attract enough people to create critical mass and 
provide the resources to develop the professional 
infrastructure organically. The associations will then 
have the resources and numbers to develop their own 
qualifications if they so choose. The desire to have a 
national qualification cannot be dismissed or rejected, 
but the resources necessary to develop and maintain a 
standard qualification for a new and growing association 
are staggeringly high. Using CIPA in the short term frees 
up these resources to develop the association in other 
ways.
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Translating auditing textbooks, ISA, and other 
updated relevant materials into Russian and 
Mongolian (without duplicating what has already 
been translated)

As discussed throughout this publication, effective 
implementation of international standards is hindered 
by a lack of up-to-date translations of relevant guidance 
materials into the local languages. This TA has made 
available a library of Russian-language materials on 
IFRS, ISA, and regulatory regimes to the beneficiary 
countries.

An urgent priority expressed by the auditing 
professional in the four countries was a Russian 
translation into of the IFAC 2006 Handbook of 
International Auditing, Assurance, and Ethics. Since 
the Kazakh Chamber of Audits had already commenced 
translation of this document, the chamber agreed to 
make it available to the other countries on its website.52 
Although the document is now available online for 
a nominal fee, IFAC introduced significant changes 
to ISA in 2007 and 2008. The IFAC 2008 Handbook of 
International Auditing, Assurance, and Ethics has now 
been issued but is yet to be translated, and further 
changes are expected in the next 2 years. 

Detailed materials on the code of ethics were 
presented at the country workshops, including case 
studies to demonstrate its application in situations 
relevant to the four countries. Furthermore, an analysis 
of all the changes in ISA from 2000 to 2007 was prepared 
to allow each country to bring their national standards in 
line with the latest ISA.

Translation into Mongolian language was not 
pursued, as it would have had a limited shelf life given 
the anticipated changes to ISA and lack of capacity 
to keep it updated. Instead, the MOF of Mongolia is 
encouraging the country’s accountants and auditors to 
develop the language skills necessary to make use of 
the English draft of IFRS and ISA. 

Finally, the regional seminar in Almaty offered 
an opportunity to consider future approaches to 
international institutions for translation of ISA. 

52 www.audit.kz/

Conducting a regional seminar to provide 
an interface for the regulators from the four 
transitional economies to share their knowledge 
in applying International Financial Reporting 
Standards and International Standards on Auditing

Following the successful conclusion of the country 
workshops in Almaty, Bishkek, Tashkent, and 
Ulaanbaatar, a regional seminar was held in Almaty on 
Enhancing Financial Disclosure Standards in Transitional 
Economies. The seminar aimed to offer a forum for 
regulators from the four countries to share their knowledge 
and experience, and debate and explore specific issues 
with international experts. Some 30 delegates from 
various institutions responsible for the development 
of accounting and auditing standards attended the 
seminar. The attendees represented various relevant 
institutions and included those that participated in the 
country workshops (Appendix 5). A number of invited 
speakers from international organizations, including the 
Companies House, Financial Reporting Council, IASB, 
USAID, and the World Bank participated in the seminar. 

The regional seminar offered a unique opportunity to 
bring together regulators and accounting and auditing 
professionals from the four countries to discuss 
individual and common problems and identify regional 
solutions. It was organized around five key themes that 
were central to the TA:

financial reporting standards;

auditing standards;

publication of financial statements;

monitoring and enforcement; and

education, training, and professional bodies.

Each session was led by an invited speaker who opened 
the session with an introduction. Representatives could 
then present information about the relevant situation in 
their own countries, identify problems to be addressed, 
and discuss possible solutions. 

A summary of the key issues and recommendations 
arising from the seminar is given below: 

Weak corporate governance standards in the four 
countries (relative to OECD countries)
The seminar participants suggested that corporate 
governance standards in their countries could be 
enhanced by (i) enactment of a Sarbanes–Oxley  
Act–type legislation, mandating responsibilities for 
auditors and corporate managers; (ii) fiduciary oversight 
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over the accounting and auditing professions; (iii) creation 
of public companies’ information repositories; and 
(iv) effective enforcement. The Mongolian delegates 
announced that such legislation was in process in 
their country. The Kazakh and Kyrgyz delegations also 
endorsed the suggestion.

Weak control and supervision of the accounting  
and auditing profession
The seminar participants favored the creation of 
autonomous regulatory boards in their countries (like 
the Public Companies Accounting Oversight Board in 
the US and the Financial Reporting Council in the UK) 
to supervise the accounting and auditing professions 
on a fiduciary and prudential basis, answerable to the 
legislature. Vesting the MOF with powers to supervise 
the accounting and auditing professions could render 
them over-administered but under-regulated. This could 
be counterproductive. The country delegates stated that 
such a measure would take time to evolve, given the 
nascent legal structures coupled with the absence of 
the principle of judicial precedent (found in common law 
countries).

Fragmented corporate information disclosure 
requirements 
The seminar participants suggested the creation of 
incorporated registrars of joint stock companies (like 
Companies House of the UK) in the four countries, with 
companies required to file relevant corporate financial 
and operational information annually. Such an institution 
could become a consolidated public repository for 
information about all companies incorporated in the 
country and alleviate the asymmetries and fragmentation 
in corporate information disclosure and access, vestiges 
of the Soviet era.53 A format used for such information in 
the UK was presented to the meeting.

Low knowledge of application and enforcement of 
international standards among public accountants
The seminar participants stated that continuous public 
education for practicing accountants and auditors in the 
four countries was essential to enhance their knowledge 
of IFRS and the new enforcement of ISA. Translation of 

53 During Soviet times, information was geared toward the needs of the 
State Statistics Committee, taxation authorities, and enterprises’ 
pension obligations to their employees, in that order. Such practices 
still continue. Information about corporate directors’ remuneration 
and holdings, as well as the identity of owners, is still difficult for 
company stakeholders to discern to a company’s stakeholder. In 
the UK, Companies House, a state-owned public interest nonprofit 
company, performs the functions of the registrar of companies 
under the UK Companies Act (2005).

IFRS and ISA documents into Russian, coupled with the 
enactment of enabling legislation for improving corporate 
governance and prudential and fiduciary oversight of 
the profession, could help to improve the accountants’ 
and auditors’ knowledge of IFRS and ISA. The seminar 
participants and resource speakers stated that the drive 
toward enhancing knowledge should be created internally 
by the countries’ accounting and auditing professions on 
a self-sustainable basis. The Mongolian, Kazakh, and 
Uzbek delegations endorsed the assessment.

Poor awareness of IFAC’s ethics guidelines 
The TA facilitated the translation into Russian of IFAC’s 
ethics guidelines. Their adoption, however, would require 
accountants and auditors to have a better appreciation 
of their responsibilities beyond the current minimal 
legal mandates. The seminar participants believed that 
addressing these issues would help to instill a sense of 
ethics in accountants and auditors, and acknowledged 
that such a process was evolving in the four countries.

Contradictions between international standards  
and civil codes (particularly in Kazakhstan and 
Uzbekistan) and constitutional difficulties in frequently 
amending them
The seminar participants recognized that IFRS and ISA 
standards were written primarily for use in English-
speaking common law countries where the doctrine 
of judicial precedence was legally valid. Delegates 
acknowledged Uzbekistan’s and Kazakhstan’s legal 
and constitutional difficulties in periodically amending 
their civil codes. The seminar speakers suggested that 
Uzbekistan and Kazakhstan consider incorporating 
the EU’s 8th Directive54 on financial disclosure and 
reporting into their civil codes to allow incorporation of 
future changes, using the compendiums of opinions of 
professional accounting bodies in developed countries 
as references for future applications. IASB endorsed 
the seminar’s recommendation. The Uzbek and Kazakh 
delegations appreciated the suggestion and stated that 
they would discuss the idea with their governments. 
Mongolia has done so in a limited manner and the Kyrgyz 
Republic plans to do so.

Contradiction between IFRS standards and the 
reporting requirements mandated by countries’ tax 
authorities 
The seminar speakers suggested that the MOFs in 
Kazakhstan, Mongolia, and Uzbekistan, which regulate 

54 The EU’s 8th Directive has facilitated the successful incorporation of 
IFRS and ISA formulated by accountants in common law jurisdictions 
for civil law countries in the EU.
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the accounting and auditing professions, hold internal 
discussions on the enactment of IFRS-compliant tax 
codes. This could both resolve the contradiction and 
benefit revenue collection, as what the empirical 
evidence in Poland and Estonia has demonstrated. The 
same evidence has proven that an IFRS-friendly tax 
code reduces corruption by eliminating discretionary 
and distorting deductions and exemptions. The seminar 
participants endorsed this suggestion.

Lack of official Russian translations of International 
Financial Reporting Standards and International 
Standards on Auditing
There was a consensus on the need for the world’s 
Russian-speaking countries to petition IASB and IFAC to 
publish their latest IFRS and ISA standards in Russian, 
with annual updates thereafter. The IASB representative 
suggested that a suitable occasion to do so would be 
during the IFAC–IASB special conference for Russian-
speaking countries to be held in Almaty on 8–11 October 
2007.55

An important achievement of the seminar was 
the preparation of country-specific action plans 
(Appendix 3). Assisted by international experts, country 
representatives held several working sessions to 
develop strategies and plans for each of the seminar’s 
five major themes. The final plans were presented on the 
last day of the seminar to explore regional initiatives. 

This was the first time that country delegates had 
undertaken such an exercise. The feedback from the 
seminar confirmed the overall success of the event, with 
unanimous agreement about the benefits of regional 
information exchange and collaboration. Seminar 
attendees decided to continue to meet annually to 
discuss their accounting and auditing issues even after 
the ADB TA has ended. 

Other Beneficial Spinoffs Arising from the Project

In terms of the development of accounting and auditing 
in the four countries, the timing of the project was 
opportune. After years during which each country had 
adopted a combination of national and international 
standards, Kazakhstan recently adopted IFRS and ISA 
in their entirety56 and it is evident that other countries 

55 This issue was raised at the conference.

56 Kazakhstan adopted IFRS for all public companies for the year 
ending 31 December 2006. However, since IASB failed to publish a 
Russian translation of IFRS, amended legislation was introduced in 
May 2007 to give companies a choice between national standards 

will follow suit. The adoption by other countries will 
be facilitated by the availability of updated Russian-
language materials. The focus is shifting toward the 
establishing regulatory systems to monitor and enforce 
the implementation of international standards. This was 
the constant theme of this project, particularly at the 
regional seminar in Almaty. 

The establishment of regulatory systems cannot by 
itself achieve effective implementation of standards. 
The necessary technical infrastructure (education, 
professional qualifications, and a technical library) 
must be in place to enable accountants and auditors to 
apply international standards in performing their work. 
For the accounting profession, the technical library 
in Russian is now largely available and mechanisms 
to keep them up to date are being put in place. With 
respect to the auditing profession, the library material 
is not complete but there is a clear understanding of 
what remains to be done. Mongolia has an additional 
problem, as it cannot use materials available in Russian 
and is striving instead to increase the English-language 
skills of its accounting and auditing professionals. This 
TA has made an important contribution to identifying, 
developing, collating and supplying a library of materials 
and providing instructions and guidance on its use at 
the country workshops. This included a comprehensive 
tax reconciliation manual for each of the beneficiary 
countries.

The TA highlighted the need for specific measures 
(as stated in its design and monitoring framework) to 
quantify the impact of improved financial disclosures, 
evidenced by fraud reduction in listed companies and 
the improved quality of financial disclosure standards 
by listed and nonlisted companies. The achievement of 
these two outcomes was mixed.

There is very limited information available in the four 
countries on the number of frauds and other significant 
failures in financial statements. The evolution of 
accounting and auditing frameworks in the developed 
economies has been driven largely by the need to 
protect public interest and in response to publicized 
cases of fraud or mismanagement. The stock exchanges 
in transitional economies and their regulatory agencies 
are unwilling to share much information freely with the 
public. This, along with other weaknesses, formed the 
basis for designing the content of the country workshops 
and the regional seminar. ADB will pursue further this 

and IFRS. This is understood to be a temporary arrangement until 
the Russian translation becomes available.

Enhancing Financial Disclosure Standards in Transitional Economies
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The Need for Change and the Role of ADB Technical Assistance

matter through policy dialogue with the countries’ stock 
market regulators to make such information freely 
available under other interventions. 

All four beneficiary countries require national 
companies to comply with either IFRS or national 
standards that are based on international standards. In 
principle, the level of adoption of IFRS is high across the 
four countries, but compliance is the crucial factor. This 
is an important long-term objective and this ADB project 
has contributed toward its achievement. However, 
a limited survey of company financial statements 
indicated that compliance is yet to be achieved and 
material differences remain between the national and 
international standards. Assessing compliance with ISA 
is more difficult, as audit reports are not generally made 
available to the public and there is no formal system in 
place to control the quality of audit files and audit work. 
Implementing the seminar participants’ suggestion to 
create a register of public companies will help to address 
this issue.

The TA also acknowledged weaknesses in education, 
qualifications, and professional exams. The regional 
CAP/CIPA program in Russian language attempts to fill 
the gap by offering independent professional exams. As 
for technical qualifications, the content of CAP/CIPA is 

being evaluated and improved and will be updated over 
time, offering appropriate solutions that merit support. 
The difficulties associated with the university education 
system in the four countries are well documented, but 
there are indications that the state system is being 
pressured by external competition to more effectively 
address the educational needs in accounting and 
auditing. A significant amount of ground work needs to 
be done. 

Overall, this TA constituted a positive step in the 
ongoing effort toward assisting the beneficiary countries 
in their journey toward financial transparency and good 
governance. The country workshops were well attended 
by professionals who would normally find it difficult to 
dedicate large portion of their time to such activities. 
This is a testimony to the effectiveness and value 
of such events, which should be held regularly. The 
regional seminar brought together senior people from 
four countries for 5 days to debate and hold working 
sessions on common problems. This was the first event 
of its kind and participants unanimously expressed the 
need for such an event to be held annually.

The importance of this TA to accounting and auditing 
reforms and the agenda needed for future progress are 
discussed in Chapter 4. 
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Conclusions and Recommendations

Under the present circumstance, the importance 
of accounting and audit reforms in the context 
of the wider economic reform programs being 

undertaken throughout the former Soviet Union is 
widely recognized. Decision making in a market-oriented 
economy depends on sound accounting and auditing 
practices and adequate rules on information disclosure. 
Fundamental changes in concepts and methods have 
already been introduced in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, 
Mongolia, and Uzbekistan through the adoption of 
international standards. The next step is strengthening 
institutional arrangements to regulate and enforce those 
standards. 

This technical assistance (TA) has played an 
important role in advancing the need for more effective 
regulation and enforcement to the top of the reform 
agenda in the four transitional economies. When these 
economies commenced their transition to international 
accounting and auditing standards there was no 
empirical knowledge on how such a transition should 
be attempted, but valuable lessons have been learned 
in the past decade. The contribution of this TA has 
been to build on that foundation by training regulators 
in the beneficiary countries to better understand the 
legal and institutional framework necessary to enforce 
international standards. The country workshops provided 
a forum for in-depth training of regulators and for 
dealing with country-specific issues, while the regional 
seminar was instrumental in encouraging debate on the 
common problems by exploiting synergies and sharing 
experience across the four countries.

As a result of this TA, considerable awareness has 
been created of the issues related to regulation and 
enforcement of financial disclosures in countries 
where historically there has been no tradition of 
market-oriented accounting and auditing. The depth 
and quality of the discussion that took place in the 
regional seminar testifies to the progress that has been 
made since the early 1990s when the reforms began. 
There are, however, significant challenges ahead. This 
section summarizes the key priorities that emerged 
from the country workshops and the regional seminar 
for further reform and development of the accounting 

and auditing infrastructure of the four transitional 
economies.

Accounting and Auditing Standards

It is increasingly apparent that when accounting reforms 
began, standards setters in transitional economies lacked 
sufficient understanding of circumstances in which the 
use of the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) would be appropriate, and little guidance was 
offered by the international bodies on this matter. The 
enterprise sector of the four countries is characterized 
by the dominance of a small number of economically 
significant public interest enterprises (PIEs), mostly in 
the energy and infrastructure sectors, with the remaining 
vast majority being small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs). Clearly the burden of financial reporting on 
enterprises has to be commensurate with their size, 
the nature of their ownership, and the need for public 
accountability. The application of IFRS in its entirety is 
only of value to the very largest companies, such as PIEs 
in which there is considerable national public interest. 
For example, IFRS are only mandatory in the European 
Union (EU) for companies with listed securities and, 
even in their case, only for consolidated accounts. 
IFRS are complex and tailored to the specific needs of 
external investors who require detailed and high-quality 
information about the financial situation of companies. 
For companies that do not have external investors, the 
costs of applying IFRS may be difficult to justify. This is 
especially true for nonlisted SMEs, which generally do not 
have the expertise or resources to implement IFRS. In the 
four transitional economies, the majority of enterprises 
do not have investors; ownership is vested in the hands 
of a small number of closely knit shareholders. 

Although the need for simpler standards for SMEs was 
recognized by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), such standards were unavailable when 
the accounting and auditing reforms in transitional 
economies began. This, combined with the unavailability 
of official translations of IFRS into local languages and 
the prevailing political and economic environment, 
meant that the four countries chose to develop their 
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national accounting laws and standards based on IFRS. 
All enterprises that used a specific legal form under the 
four countries’ laws were required to adhere to these 
new standards. Given their lack of effective mechanisms 
for reconciling accounting profits with tax profits, very 
few enterprises were able to apply the new standards. 
Instead, they continued to use the reporting rules 
mandated by the tax authorities.

This TA reinforced the view that IFRS should be 
fully adopted as the national standards for large 
public interest companies, with IFRS for SMEs applied 
to companies without public accountability (largely 
unlisted companies other than banks). The project 
sought to demonstrate that developing and sustaining 
national standards based on IFRS, although justifiable 
in the early days of accounting reforms, is no longer 
an appropriate way forward. The analysis of changes 
in IFRS during 2000–2007 demonstrated how far the 
IFRS-based national standards in the four countries are 
lagging behind the current draft of the international 
standards.  

The TA was instrumental in persuading the four 
transitional economies to consider moving away from 
developing and sustaining their own national standards 
based on IFRS. Kazakhstan57 and Mongolia have already 
adopted IFRS as their national standards; other countries 
in the region are also considering their positions and 
are likely to follow suit within a timescale appropriate 
to their circumstances. It is therefore likely that the 
four countries will gradually abandon their variations of 
IFRS and adopt IFRS (in their entirety) as their national 
standards. This is encouraging, as it will free scarce 
resource to concentrate on building the capacity of 
supervisory and enforcement institutions. 

The situation with respect to auditing standards is less 
complex, given the international consensus that ISA is 
suitable for the conduct of all financial statement audits. 
But material gaps remain in application, as countries 
have been selective in which standards are incorporated 
in their national standards and have failed to bring 
them in line with the numerous changes made to ISA in 
recent years. The audit market is largely dominated by 
the Big 4 firms, which have access to qualified auditors 
and methodological materials for conducting audits 

57 Kazakhstan adopted IFRS for all public companies for the year 
ending 31 December 2006. However, since IASB failed to publish a 
Russian translation of IFRS, amended legislation was introduced in 
May 2007 to give companies a choice between national standards 
and IFRS. This is understood to be a temporary arrangement until 
the Russian translation becomes available.

to international standards. The local audit firms lack 
resources and their independence is not assured. The TA 
facilitated the translation of the International Federation 
of Accountants’ (IFAC) Code of Ethics into Russian. 
Their adoption, however, would require accountants 
and auditors to better appreciate their responsibilities, 
beyond what is (presently) minimally mandated in the 
national laws. 

In terms of the development of accounting and 
auditing in the four countries, the timing of the TA 
was opportune. After years during which each country 
adopted a combination of national and international 
standards, IFRS and ISA are gradually being adopted in 
their entirety. This effort will be further facilitated by the 
issuance of Russian-language IFRS by the IASB and the 
establishment of effective translation capacity in each 
country. Consequently, attention and resources will 
shift to establishing regulatory systems to monitor and 
enforce the implementation of international standards. 
This was the objective of the TA, with significant coverage 
of issues provided at the country workshops and at the 
regional seminar in Almaty. 

Regulation and Enforcement

All four beneficiary countries are striving to develop their 
systems for regulating and enforcing financial disclosure 
standards. However, the establishment of regulatory 
systems is not by itself a sufficient condition to achieve 
effective implementation of accounting and auditing 
standards. The necessary technical infrastructure 
(education, professional qualifications, and a technical 
library) must be in place to enable accountants and 
auditors to apply international standards in performing 
their work. With respect to the accounting profession, 
the technical library in Russian is now largely available 
and mechanisms to keep them up to date are being put 
in place. 

With regard to the auditing profession, the library 
material is not yet complete but there is a clear 
understanding of what remains to be done. Mongolia 
has an additional problem as it cannot use materials 
available in Russian and is striving instead to increase 
the English-language skills of its accounting and 
auditing professionals. This TA has made an important 
contribution to identifying, developing, collating, and 
supplying a library of materials, and providing instructions 
and guidance on its use at the country workshops. This 
included a comprehensive tax reconciliation manual for 
each of the beneficiary countries.

Conclusions and Recommendations
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There is, however, a serious lack of qualified staff 
adequately trained in IFRS, which makes the specific 
task of monitoring compliance with IFRS extremely 
difficult. The availability of sufficient resources at the 
regulatory agencies, particularly in Kazakhstan and the 
Kyrgyz Republic, remains a cause of concern. Without 
the appropriately qualified personnel, there is limited 
scope for monitoring compliance with the IFRS of listed 
companies. Although this TA has helped train regulators, 
it is recommended that key regulatory staff be placed at 
similar agencies overseas to gain on-the-job training in 
applying international best practices.

A secondary problem is the frequent changes in 
legislation, particularly so in the countries’ civil codes, 
that are introduced without sufficient consultation. This 
has led to high levels of noncompliance even by the listed 
companies. This, combined with the weaknesses in the 
audit profession, place an additional responsibility on 
the regulatory bodies to establish a system of examining 
financial information to ensure minimum compliance by 
listed companies. 

Furthermore, there is little evidence that auditing 
standards are effectively enforced, as the capacity to 
do this so is very limited. Effective audit of financial 
statements is essential and the audit function is an 
important aspect of enforcing accounting standards. It is 
critical that the capacity of supervisory bodies is further 
increased and their powers to monitor and investigate 
the conduct of statutory audits are established. The 
system could be supervised by a public oversight system 
consisting of a majority of nonpractitioners to ensure 
that the audit profession does indeed serve the public 
interest. 

Publication of Financial Information

The regulators in all four countries acknowledge that 
easy and full access to the financial statements of 
enterprises is important in protecting third parties such 
as creditors, suppliers, and employees. As importantly, 
it is a necessary mechanism for alerting the public to 
any potential economic problems that may result from 
financial difficulties being faced by PIEs. Above all, the 
publication of audited financial statements provides 
transparency in financial reporting, which is the essence 
of IFRS.

There is little evidence that any of the four countries 
make the financial statements of companies, particularly 
those of PIEs, available to the public in any systematic 

way. The financial statements that are available 
frequently suffer from a lack of sufficient disclosures 
and do not fully adhere to international standards, 
limiting their value to shareholders and investors. From 
an accounting perspective, this contradicts the very 
essence of IFRS and adds significantly to the cost of 
investing in the beneficiary countries.  

In Kazakhstan, the new accounting law permits the 
Ministry of Finance (MOF) to establish a “depository” for 
financial statements in the ministry. Presently, the stock 
exchange discloses the information it receives from 
listed companies on its website. However, there appears 
to be little or no checking of the information posted on 
the website, and the quality and completeness of the 
information published is inconsistent. Mongolia has set 
up the necessary information technology infrastructure 
to enable larger companies to lodge their financial 
statements electronically.  

The need for making financial statements available to 
the public was fully debated at the country workshops 
and international best practices were disseminated 
to participants. The comprehensive case study, based 
on the United Kingdom’s (UK) Companies House, also 
served to create greater understanding. At the regional 
seminar, the marketing director of Companies House 
presented the history and structure of the organization 
and the services it offers. Valuable advice was offered 
on how similar institutions may be established in the 
four transitional economies and the assistance that 
Companies House could offer to support such endeavor. 
Setting up a similar establishment in one of the four 
beneficiary countries could provide a valuable model 
that would benefit other countries in the region. Given 
that Kazakhstan and Mongolia are showing more urgency 
to address this problem, one of them may volunteer a 
suitable pilot country for creation of an institution similar 
to Companies House. However, as a point of principle, 
the availability of financial statements of all PIEs must 
be a precondition for international assistance in setting 
up a depository.

Education and Professional Qualifications

The TA also addressed weaknesses in education, 
qualifications, and professional exams. Weaknesses 
in these areas are generally acknowledged, and the 
regional Certified Accounting Practitioner (CAP)/
Certified International Professional Accountant (CIPA) 
program attempts to fill the gap by offering independent 
professional exams in Russian. As for technical 

Enhancing Financial Disclosure Standards in Transitional Economies
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qualifications, the content of CAP/CIPA is being debated 
and improved and will be updated over time, offering 
appropriate solutions that merit support. The difficulties 
associated with the university education system in 
the four countries are well documented, but there are 
indications that external competition is pressuring the 
state system to reform and more effectively address the 
educational needs in accounting and auditing. There is a 
significant groundwork that needs to be done. 

The education of accountants and auditors in all four 
beneficiary countries must be enhanced; the need for 
effective education has been stressed by a number of 
independent studies. The educational establishments 
are failing to respond to the economy’s increasing needs 
for qualified accountants and auditors. Few university 
lecturers possess recognized IFRS qualifications. 
However, a promising start has been made by integrating 
professional qualifications into the university curriculum. 
A United States Agency for International Development 
(USAID) project is promoting the implementation of 
CAP/CIPA courses in the universities and this should be 
encouraged. Recruiting international teachers to bring 
in expertise could also help in the short term.

The situation is exacerbated by the low status of 
accounting professionals and staff in many enterprises, 
which has led to an acute shortage of newly qualified 
professionals. Enterprises are reluctant to invest in the 
education of their accounting and auditing staff and 
this constrains demand for training courses. The TA 
highlighted this as a serious barrier to attracting more 
able people to the profession. Unless attitudes are 
changed, the situation is unlikely to improve quickly. 
Making business managers more aware of the benefits 
of employing qualified accountants and investing in 
their training must be a priority.

The Key Issues for Policy Makers to Consider

Significant changes are underway in accounting, auditing, 
and disclosure rules and oversight arrangements in the 
four countries as the authorities seek to bring accounting 
standards in line with EU requirements which, in 
particular, requires that all listed companies prepare 
their consolidated statements to comply with IFRS. 

This TA has contributed to the four countries’ 
progress in addressing various weaknesses identified in 
the regulatory framework. For the enacted and pending 
legal and regulatory reforms to be fully effective, it will 
be essential to significantly strengthen the accounting 

institutions’ capacity to serve as financial standards 
boards and/or accounting oversight bodies, and the 
professional audit institutions’ capacity to act as a self-
regulatory organization for their profession. 

To summarize, the priorities with respect to 
accounting are

strengthening and improving the structure 
and activities of the accounting institutions 
to become effective in advising on accounting 
issues and their implementation;

enforcing compliance with IFRS for all substantial 
companies, particularly the listed companies, 
and the creation of mechanisms to successfully 
monitor and enforce compliance with IFRS and 
other relevant standards;

amendment of accounting laws to comply with 
EU Directives, particularly conformity with EU 4th 
and 7th Directives;

application of EU Directives for all companies 
taking into account the circumstances specific 
to each country; and

identifying practical issues and developing 
methodologies for IFRS implementation, and 
disseminating procedures to ensure consistent 
application of IFRS.

As for auditing, the key priorities are

developing a checklist to ensure full coordination 
of auditing laws with the EU’s 8th Directive, the 
European Commission Directive on Auditor 
Independence, and other applicable EU legis-
lation on auditing; 

developing of a code of ethics in conformity with 
EU and IFAC requirements, and methodologies 
for ensuring compliance in practice;

improving supervision of the audit profession by 
promulgating procedures for the supervision of 
auditors and audit companies; and

designing and developing of a comprehensive 
training program on audit quality control.

While TA, including this project, will continue to 
play a role in helping transitional economies reach 
these objectives, it is an appropriate time for national 
governments and the industry to make the necessary 
resources available. 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Appendix 1: Changes to 
 International Financial Reporting  

Standards (2000–2007)

Overview

A Global Standard Setter

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
have been adopted in Australia; European Union 
(EU); Hong Kong, China; and South Africa; and there 

are convergence projects with People’s Republic of 
China (PRC), Japan, and United States (US)—which in 
total represents a big slice of the world’s gross domestic 
product (GDP).

IFRS are supported as the global standard setter 
by the European Commission (EC), the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the US 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In April 
2007, the SEC indicated its intention to make possible 
the acceptance of financial statements under IFRS, for 
US-listed companies, by 2009. 

IFRS and Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) have agreed to a convergence project. In the 
short term, where a strong standard currently exists, 
each will adopt six strong standards from the other. In 
the longer term, where neither body has a particularly 
strong standard, a new standard will be produced. The 
whole project is to be completed by 2011.

New Standards

One new standard was issued in 2007 (as part of the 
short-term convergence project with FASB) and five new 
standards were issued in 2004, in preparation for the EU 
requirement of IFRS for listed companies in 2005. There 
is a moratorium on other new standards until 2007. For 
details of the new standards, refer to section B. 

Improvements Project 2004

As a result of queries and criticisms about the standards 
by securities regulators, professional accountants, 

and others, the IASB redrafted 13 standards in 2004 to 
reduce or eliminate alternative accounting treatments, 
redundancies, and conflicts within the standards; 
deal with some convergence issues; and make other 
improvements. For details of these amendments, refer 
to “Improvements Project” on page 49.

Financial Instruments (IAS 32, 39, and IFRS 7)

It would be an understatement to say that these 
standards have generated a lot of discussions. The 
technical complexity of the subject is in itself an area of 
some difficulty, as is the drafting of standards to deal 
with the accounting and disclosure requirements for 
constantly evolving financial products.

In these discussions, there has been a focus on 
derivatives. It is fair to say that derivatives are specialized 
products in which the majority of accountants have little 
or no experience. It is equally fair to say, however, that 
the amounts involved can be significant.

Small and Medium-sized Enterprises Exposure 
Draft

In February 2007, the IASB issued an exposure draft 
for accounting of small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs). All the existing standards are included in a 
document that is less than 10% of the volume of the 
full IFRS. The overriding principle to define SMEs is “no 
public accountability.” 

IASB 2001 to 2007

The IASB was restructured and refinanced in 2001 and 
established a full-time staff.1 The IASB has developed an 

1 The previous body, the International Accounting Standards 
Committee (IASC), although operating with a budget of $4 million, 
was essentially staffed by volunteers.
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impressive record of transparency (information about its 
meetings are on the website). Even so, there is a Board 
of Trustees that has an oversight role, strengthened in 
2005 to increase the accountability of the IASB and to 
ensure that consultation procedures and due process 
are observed in the standard-setting process.

The funding pattern was consistent from 2001 to 
2005. Each of the Big 4 auditing firms contributed  
$1 million per year, and 39 of the world’s leading 
companies (including Nestlé) contributed between 
$100,000 and $200,000 per year for 5 years. Together 
with funding from other supporters, the total raised 
in 2005 was $18 million. Net income from publishing 
was $4 million, and salaries for the staff of 67 totaled  
$18 million. The trustees of the IASB intend to establish 
a more “broadly based” funding structure by 2008.

The 2006 financial statements have not yet been 
published as of June 2007, but the 2005 statements 
showed a settlement in respect to copyright litigation (in 
1998 and 1999) of $520,000, and indicated that a further 
round of litigation was expected.

New Standards

1. IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of IFRS, has a self-
explanatory title.

2. IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment: Deals, for the first 
time, with the recognition and measurement 
of share-based payments; for example, share 
options granted to senior executives.

3. IFRS 3, Business Combinations: Replaced 
existing standards for reasons of convergence. 
IFRS 3 banned pooling and introduced the 
impairment method for assessing the value of 
goodwill. 

4. IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts: Permit existing 
industry practices to continue, until 
comprehensive accounting standards are 
produced for the insurance industry.

5. IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations: Part of the short-term 
convergence project with FASB, it adopts the 
classification of assets or “disposal groups” 
of assets as “held for sale.” Such assets are 
not depreciated, are valued at the lower of 
carrying value and fair value less costs to sell, 

and are shown separately on the face of the 
balance sheet. An operation is now classified as 
discontinued on the date the operation meets 
the criteria to be classified as held for sale. 

6.  IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources: Permits existing industry practices 
to continue, until comprehensive accounting 
standards are produced for the mining, oil, and 
gas industries.

7.  IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures: 
Discussed at “Financial Instruments” on page 
48.

8. IFRS 8, Operating Segments: Part of the short-
term convergence project with FASB that requires 
the disclosure of segmental information on the 
same classification as that which management 
uses to manage the business. The EU has not 
accepted this standard, and intends to hold a 
debate about it. 

The Improvements Project (2004) 

1.  IAS 1—Presentation of Financial Statements

Major Changes
a. Extraordinary items are abolished.
b. Disclosure of judgments of management in 

applying accounting policies.
c. Disclosure of key assumptions concerning 

the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet 
date.

d. Minority share of profits/(losses) to be 
shown as an allocation of profit/(loss), 
consistent with IAS 27 treating minority 
interests as equity.

e. In the statement of changes in equity, 
disclose the total income and expenses 
for the period (including amounts directly 
recognized in equity), split between equity 
holders and minority interests.

Minor Changes
a. Clarifies the meaning of “present fairly,” and 

states that IFRS are presumed to achieve 
a fair presentation (in connection with 
management’s opinion that it is necessary 
to depart from IFRS in financial statements 
to achieve a fair presentation).
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b. The requirements for the selection of 
accounting policies have been transferred 
to IAS 8.

c. No longer a requirement to disclose “the 
results of operating activities.”

d. Minor change to the classification of a 
loan as current or noncurrent, in specific 
circumstances.

e. Minor revision to the exemption from reclas-
sifying comparative figures in accordance 
with current year changes in classification 
or presentation.

f. Disclosure of the objectives, policies, and 
processes for managing capital, and other 
related information.

2. IAS 2—Inventories 

Major Change
a. The “last in, first out” (LIFO) costing formula 

is no longer permitted (it was previously an 
allowed alternative).

Minor Changes
a. Requirement to apply the same cost formula 

for all inventories having a similar nature 
and use disclosure of the cost of inventories 
recognized as an expense in the period.

b. Disclosure of the carrying amount of 
inventories carried at fair value less costs to 
sell.

3. IAS 8—Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates, and Errors

Major Changes
a. Changes in accounting policies, and material 

prior period errors, must be accounted for 
retrospectively (previously the effect of such 
changes and errors was included in the 
profit or loss for the current period; now the 
comparative figures are adjusted).

b. The concept of a fundamental error is 
eliminated.

Minor Changes
a. Financial statements do not comply with 

IFRS if they contain a material error.
b. IFRS accounting policies need not be applied 

if the effect of applying them is immaterial.
c. The requirements for the selection of 

accounting policies have been transferred 
from IAS 1.

4. IAS 10—Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Major Change
a. Dividends declared after the balance sheet 

date are not recognized as liabilities at the 
balance sheet date.

5. IAS 16—Property, Plant, and Equipment

Major Changes
a. An asset may be revalued if its fair value can 

be measured reliably (previously there was 
no such condition).

Minor Changes
a. Both initial and subsequent costs are now 

subject to the same general recognition 
principle (previously there were two 
recognition principles).

b. Costs of dismantlement, removal, and 
restoration (incurred as a consequence of 
installing an asset) are now included in the 
cost of the asset.

c. Numerous other minor explicit clarifications, 
which would generally appear to be common 
sense. 

6. IAS 17—Leases

Minor Changes
a. The standard requires the lease of land 

with an indefinite life to be classified as an 
operating lease, and clarifies how to account 
for a lease of both land and buildings. 
Generally, the land element will be classified 
as an operating lease, and the building as a 
finance lease.

b. In allocating minimum lease payments 
between land and buildings, there must 
be an appropriate weighting to take into 
account the likely depreciation of the 
building, and the likely lack of depreciation 
of the land.

c. Lessors are now required to allocate the 
initial direct costs of a finance lease (legal 
fees, commission, etc.) over the lease term 
(previously, there was an option to treat 
such costs as an expense).

7. IAS 21—The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates

Major changes
a. First, there are two important definitions:
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(i) The “functional currency” is the currency 
of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates.

(ii) The “presentation currency” is the 
currency in which the financial statements 
are presented (and can be any currency).

b. The revised standard provides guidance on 
the determination of the functional currency.

c. An individual entity must determine its 
functional currency and measure its results 
and financial position in that currency. 

d. In translating from functional to presentation 
currency, use closing rates for the balance 
sheet and average rates for the income 
statement (as previously in IAS 21 for foreign 
entities).

e. Goodwill and fair value adjustments that 
arise on acquisition of a foreign entity are to 
be treated as part of the assets and liabilities 
of the acquired entity, and hence translated 
at the closing rate. 

8. IAS 24—Related Party Disclosures

Minor Changes
a. The revised standard provides clarification 

on a number of issues, more detailed 
definitions, and more detailed disclosure 
requirements, including
(i) the cost of bad debts with related 

parties, and 
(ii) the amounts of transactions with related 

parties.

9. IAS 27—Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements

Major Changes
a. Minority interests to be disclosed separately 

within equity (no longer to be shown in 
neither equity nor liabilities).

b. In separate financial statements, investments 
in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, 
and associates will be accounted for at cost 
or in accordance with IAS 39 (the equity 
method is no longer permitted).

Minor changes
a. Entities whose debt or equity instruments 

are traded on a market can never be exempt 
from consolidation (regardless of any 
ultimate parent company).

b. Subsidiaries on which there are restrictions 
on transferring funds to the parent can no 
longer be excluded from consolidation.

c. Consolidated financial statements must be 
prepared using uniform accounting policies 
(previously there was an exemption where it 
was “not practicable”).

10. IAS 28—Investments in Associates

Major Change
a. Investments held by venture capital orga-

nizations, mutual funds, unit trusts, etc., 
are excluded from the scope of IAS 28 (and 
IAS 31) if, and only if, the investments are 
measured at “fair value through profit or 
loss.” If the investment is a subsidiary, 
however, it should be consolidated in 
accordance with IAS 27.

Minor Changes
a. An associate who is restricted from 

transferring funds to the investor can no 
longer be excluded from the equity method 
of accounting.

b. Financial statements of associates must 
be adjusted to conform to the investor’s 
accounting policies (previously there was an 
exemption where it was “not practicable”).

11. IAS 31—Interests in Joint Ventures

Major Change
a. Investments held by venture capital orga-

nizations, mutual funds, unit trusts, etc., 
are excluded from the scope of IAS 31 (and 
IAS 28) if and only if the investments are 
measured at “fair value through profit or 
loss.” If the investment is a subsidiary 
however, it should be consolidated in 
accordance with IAS 27.

Minor Changes
a. Exemptions from proportionate consolidation 

or the equity method, similar to those 
provided for certain parents not to produce 
consolidated financial statements (see  
IAS 27).

b. Disclosure of method applied to recognize 
the interest in a jointly controlled entity (i.e., 
proportionate consolidation or the equity 
method).
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12. IAS 33—Earnings per Share

Minor Change
a. The revision merely provided additional 

guidance and illustrative examples on 
selected complex issues.

13. IAS 40—Investment Property

Minor Changes
a. A property interest that is held by a lessee 

under an operating lease may now be 

classified and accounted for as investment 
property, provided that the rest of the 
definition of investment property is met, and 
that the fair value model is used (see IAS 17 
regarding the requirement to classify a lease 
of land with an indefinite life as an operating 
lease).

b. The choice between the fair value model 
and the cost model was retained (as more 
time is required for countries with less well 
developed property markets and valuation 
professions to mature).

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 Replaced 
by:

IFRS 1 First time adoption of IFRS A A x N – – – – –

IFRS 2 Share-based payment x x x N – – – – –

IFRS 3 Business combinations x x x N – – – – –

IFRS 4 Insurance contracts x A x N – – – – –

IFRS 5 Noncurrent assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations

x x x N – – – – –

IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of 
mineral resources

x x N – – – – – –

IFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures x N – – – – – – –

IFRS 8 Operating segments N – – – – – – – –

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements x A x R x x x x x

IAS 2 Inventories x x x R x x x x x

IAS 4 Depreciation accounting W W W W W W W x x IAS 16, 
22, 38

IAS 7 Cash flow statements x x x x x x x x x

IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in 
accounting estimates, and errors 

x x x R x x x x x

IAS 9 Research and development costs W W W W W W W W x IAS 38

IAS 10 Events after the balance sheet date x x x R x x x A x

IAS 11 Construction contracts x x x x x x x x x

IAS 12 Income taxes x x x x x x A x x

IAS 14 Segment reporting W x x x x x x x x IFRS 8

IAS 15 Information reflecting the effects of 
changing prices

W W W W x x x x x

IAS 16 Property, plant, and equipment x x x R x x x x x

IAS 17 Leases x x x R x x x x x

IAS 18 Revenue x x x x x x x x x

IAS 19 Employee benefits x x A x A x A x x

IAS 20 Accounting for government grants 
and disclosure of government 
assistance

x x x x x x x x x

Table A.1: Summary of Changes to International Financial Reporting Standards (2001–2007)
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– = not applicable, A = amended, IAS = International Accounting Standards, IFRS = International Financial Reporting Standards, N = new, R = revisions as a result 
of International Accounting Standards Board’s improvements project, W = withdrawn, x = extant. 

Source: Prepared by the authors.

IAS 21 The effects of changes in foreign 
exchange rates

x A x R x x x x x

IAS 22 Business combinations x x x x x x x A x

IAS 23 Borrowing costs x x x x x x x x x

IAS 24 Related party disclosures x x x R x x x x x

IAS 25 Accounting for investments W W W W W W W x x IAS 39, 40

IAS 26 Accounting and reporting by 
retirement benefit plans

x x x x x x x x x

IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial 
statements

x x x R x x x x x

IAS 28 Investments in associates x x x R x x x A x

IAS 29 Financial reporting in hyper-
inflationary economies

x x x x x x x x x

IAS 30 Disclosures in the financial 
statements of banks, etc.

W W x x x x x x x IFRS 7

IAS 31 Interests in joint ventures x x x R x x x A x

IAS 32 Financial instruments: presentation x x x R x x x A x

IAS 33 Earnings per share x x x R x x x x X

IAS 34 Interim financial reporting x x x x x x x x X

IAS 35 Discontinuing operations W W W x x x x x N IFRS 5

IAS 36 Impairment of assets x x x x x x x x N

IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities, 
and contingent assets

x x x x x x x x N

IAS 38 Intangible assets x x x x x x x x N

IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition 
and measurement

x A A R x x A x N

IAS 40 Investment property x x x R x x N – –

IAS 41 Agriculture x x x x x x N – –
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Appendix 2: Changes to International 
Standards on Auditing (2000–2007)

Overview

Clarity Project

F rom 2006 through 2011, the International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) will 
restructure the auditing standards. For each 

standard, objectives will be set, followed by requirements, 
and then guidance material. Three standards have 
already been redrafted, and an additional 11 redrafted 
exposure drafts have been published. The earliest date 
for the introduction of these new standards will be in 
December 2008 to allow time for preparation and, of 
particular relevance, translation.

Fundamental Changes

Three new risk standards in the International Standards 
on Auditing (ISA 315, 330, and 500) were published 
in 2004 to improve risk assessment and improve the 
effectiveness of audit procedures designed to respond 
to risks. These changes are supported by changes in 
2005 to both the audit planning standard (ISA 300) and 
the standard on fraud (ISA 240). 

The standard on fraud also expands upon the current 
issues of management fraud and fraudulent financial 
reporting. Many people (particularly auditors) consider 
that the bad media coverage attributed to auditors 
in the wake of recent scandals, may more fairly have 
been directed toward the management and governance 
procedures of the companies involved.

The 2006 revised standard on audit documentation 
(ISA 230) introduces a new requirement that audit 
documentation should enable an “experienced auditor” 
(unconnected with the audit) to understand the audit 
work, evidence, results, significant matters, and 
conclusions. It is fair to say that the big firms with their 
own in-house audit procedures have probably complied 
with this requirement for many years, and equally fair 
to say that some smaller firms may have to revise their 

documentation standards. The revised standard also 
introduces some procedural requirements for audit 
documentation.

Dramatic new changes in 2005 in quality control 
procedures within audit firms generally (International 
Standard on Quality Control [ISQC] 1), and for individual 
audit engagements (ISA 220), introduce aspects of both 
governance and transparency issues into the audit 
process. 

Consistent in many ways with the quality control 
standards, the new 2006 code of ethics introduces five 
principles: integrity, objectivity, professional compe-
tence and due care, confidentiality, and professional 
behavior. 

Accounting Issues

Three accounting issues were addressed over the period. 
In 2001, International Auditing Practice Standards (IAPS) 
1012 issued by the International Auditing Practices 
Committee (IAPC) was issued to provide guidance on 
auditing derivative financial instruments; in 2003, ISA 
545 set the standard for auditing fair value measurements 
and disclosures; and in 2004, IAPS 1014 dealt with the 
problems of compliance with IFRS (if all relevant IFRS are 
not complied with, there is no compliance with IFRS). 

Audit Reports

The wording in the audit report was improved in 2006.

The Audit of Small Entities

In 2004, International Auditing Practices Standard (IAPS) 
1005 issued by International Auditing Practice Committee 
was amended to incorporate relevant changes made to 
other standards since 1999. However, it is IAASB policy 
that any small entity considerations should be dealt with 
in the main standards, so and as these are rewritten, 
IAPS will eventually be superseded. 
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Explanation of Changes to Auditing Standards 
(2001–2007) 

2001

The Auditor’s Responsibility to Consider Fraud in an 
Audit of Financial Statements (ISA 240)
This new standard updates and expands upon 
previous International Federation of Accountants’ 
(IFAC) IAPC guidelines and replaces the previous ISA 
240. Specifically, the standard emphasizes that when 
planning and performing an audit procedure, the auditor 
should consider the risk of material misstatements in 
the financial statements resulting from fraud and error. 

The new standard also 

emphasizes the distinction between manage-
ment fraud and employee fraud, and expands 
the discussion of fraudulent financial 
reporting;

includes guidance on the need to obtain 
management’s assessment of the risk of fraud; 
and

clarifies the discussion of the inherent limitations 
of an auditor’s ability to detect fraud.

During its meeting in March 2001, the IAPC also 
agreed to move ahead on Phase 2 of the fraud project. 
This entails the IAPC working closely with the United 
States (US) Auditing Standards Board (ASB) to expand 
upon the existing fraud standard and consider additional 
basic principles to meet the US Public Oversight Board’s 
recommendations for specific fraud directed procedures 
in an audit (see 2005 below for details of further 
revision). 

The Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements  
(ISA 700)
This minor revision to ISA 700 requires the auditor, in his/
her audit report, to clearly state the country of origin of 
the financial reporting framework being used to prepare 
financial statements (when not IFRS) so that users may 
better understand the context under which the auditor’s 
opinion is expressed.

Globalization of markets has meant that financial 
statements are increasingly used by foreign investors 
and analysts, hence, a clear statement of the particular 
accounting and auditing frameworks used is essential. 
This revision merely transforms existing best practice 
into standard practice

•

•

•

Auditing Derivative Financial Instruments (IAPS 1012)
This new IAPS provides guidance to the auditor in 
planning and performing auditing procedures for 
assertions about derivative financial instruments. The 
focus of the practice statement is on auditing derivatives 
held by end users, including banks and other financial 
sector entities when they are the user.

In addition to addressing auditor responsibilities 
with respect to assertions about derivatives, the new 
statement also addresses

responsibility of management and those charged 
with governance; 

key financial risks; 

risk assessment and internal control, including 
the role of internal auditing; and

various types of substantive procedures and 
when they should be used.

2002

No changes.

2003

Auditing Fair Value Measures and Disclosures (ISA 545)
This new standard considers the increasing number 
of complex accounting pronouncements containing 
measurement and disclosure provisions based on fair 
value.

The standard addresses audit considerations relating 
to the valuation, measurement, presentation, and 
disclosure of material assets; liabilities; and specific 
components of equity presented or disclosed at fair 
value in financial statements. 

Specifically, the standard provides guidance on  
assessing the appropriateness of fair value mea-
surements and disclosures, how to design the audit 
approach, and management’s process for determining 
fair value and management representations. It also 
discusses when and how the auditor should use the 
work of an expert on such engagements.

Electronic Commerce—Effect on the Audit of Financial 
Statements (IAPS 1013)
This new IAPS has been developed to help auditors 
address some of the unique risks associated with  
e-commerce. It identifies specific matters to assist the 

•

•

•

•
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auditor when considering the significance of internet 
e-commerce to the entity’s business activities, and 
the effect of internet e-commerce on the auditor’s 
assessments of risk for the purpose of forming an 
opinion on the financial statements.

“The use of a public network for business-to-consumer, 
business-to-business, business-to-government, or busi- 
ness-to-employee Internet e-com presents unique 
risks to be addressed by an entity and considered by 
the auditor when planning and performing the audit of 
financial statements. This is what prompted the IAPC to 
develop guidance on electronic commerce for auditors.” 
(Jim Sylph, IFAC’s technical director)

The IAPS also outlines the level of skills and 
knowledge required to understand the effect of internet 
e-commerce on the audit. It describes the importance of 
“knowledge of the business,” which is fundamental to 
assessing the significance of e-commerce to the entity’s 
business activity and any effect on audit risk.

Other topics covered include internal control 
considerations, such as (i) security, transaction integrity, 
and process alignment; (ii) system infrastructure 
failures; and (iii) outsourcing arrangements.

Other
IAPS 1004 and 1006, both relating to banks, were revised.

2004

Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and 
Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement (ISA 315); 
The Auditor’s Procedures in Response to Assessed Risk 
(ISA 330); Audit Evidence (ISA 500)
These three new standards (known collectively as the 
Audit Risk Standards) are intended to help auditors 
identify and address audit risks. ISA 310 (Knowledge of 
the Business) and ISA 400 (Risk Assessments and Internal 
Control) are withdrawn, and ISA 500 is replaced. 

The new standards will increase audit quality as a 
result of better risk assessments and improved design 
and performance of audit procedures to respond to risk. 
Because implementation of the new standards will result 
in improved linkage of audit procedures and assessed 
risks, ultimately this should enable auditors to more 
clearly focus on areas where there is a greater risk of 
misstatement in the financial statements.

“The proposed standards require auditors to 
have a deeper understanding of an entity’s business 

environment, to make risk assessments in all audits, and 
to link the nature, timing and extent of the procedures 
to the assessed risk. These changes will help to raise 
standards of audit practice and contribute to building 
public confidence in audited financial statements.” 
(Dietz Mertin, IAASB chairman)

Preface
The IAASB issued a new Preface to International 
Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Assurance and 
Related Services, which includes new terms of reference 
for the Board. This clarifies the IAASB’s role as an 
independent standard-setting body under the auspices 
of IFAC, highlights its public-interest responsibilities, 
and emphasizes its objective of achieving convergence 
of standards by working closely with national standard 
setters. The previous preface, ISA 100, is withdrawn.

International Framework for Assurance Engagements; 
Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information (ISAE 3000)
Environmental, social, and sustainability reports; 
information systems; internal control; corporate 
governance processes; and compliance with grant 
conditions, contracts, and regulations are some of the 
subjects about which assurance reports are increasingly 
being demanded. In recognition of this need, IFAC issued 
a revised framework, and a new International Standard 
on Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information (ISAE) 3000.

The new framework defines and describes the 
elements and objectives of an assurance engagement, 
and identifies engagements to which ISA and ISAE 
apply. It provides a frame of reference for practitioners 
and others involved with assurance engagements, such 
as those engaging a practitioner and the intended users 
of an assurance report. The previous framework, ISA 
120, is withdrawn.

ISAE 3000 establishes basic principles and essential 
procedures for all assurance engagements other than 
audits or reviews of historical financial information 
covered by ISA.

Special Considerations in the Audit of Small Entities 
(IAPS 1005)
This revised IAPS has reviewed the ISA issued from 
March 1999 to March 2003. It explains how audits of the 
financial statements of small entities differ from audits 
of the financial statements of other entities, and was 
developed with the input of the IFAC Ethics Committee 
and the Small and Medium Practices (SMP) Task Force. 

Enhancing Financial Disclosure Standards in Transitional Economies
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The IAPS is intended to be used by practitioners who 
already know how to conduct an audit in accordance 
with ISA. 

The IAASB agreed that new international auditing 
standards issued after March 2003 would, whenever 
necessary, address SMP considerations directly within 
the standards themselves. Importantly, the IAPS does 
not establish any new requirements for the audit of small 
entities, nor does it establish any exemptions from the 
requirements of ISA. All audits of small entities are to be 
conducted in accordance with ISA.

“Ensuring that our standards are relevant to small 
and medium practices and enterprises is an important 
IAASB priority.” (Dietz Mertin, IAASB chairman)

Reporting by Auditors on Compliance with IFRS  
(IAPS 1014)
Examples have arisen of entities stating that their 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS when, in fact, they have not complied with 
all the requirements imposed by IFRS. This new 
practice statement provides guidance on the auditor’s 
responsibilities when management comments on the 
extent to which financial statements comply with IFRS 
when there is not full compliance. It supplements the 
guidance provided in ISA 700, The Auditor’s Report on 
Financial Statements.

2005

Quality Control for Firms that Provide Audits and 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information, and Other 
Assurance and Related Services Engagements (ISQC 1);  
Quality Control for Audits of Historical Financial 
Information (ISA 220)
The first quality control standard, ISQC 1, establishes a 
firm’s responsibilities to set up and maintain a system of 
quality control for all audits and assurance engagements. 
In addition to offering guidance on client acceptance and 
retention criteria that firms should consider, the standard 
requires that a quality control review must be performed 
for audits of listed entities and such other engagements 
as a firm determines.

The review, which must be completed before the 
audit report can be released, includes consideration of 
the following:

significant risks identified during the 
engagement and the responses to those risks;

•

the significance and disposition of corrected and 
uncorrected misstatements identified during the 
audit; and

whether appropriate consultation has taken 
place on difficult or contentious matters and the 
conclusions arising from those consultations.

The second quality control standard, ISA 220, 
establishes standards for the specific responsibilities 
of firm personnel for an individual audit engagement 
and is consistent with the requirements of the firm-wide 
quality control standards set out in ISQC1.

“These new standards, among the most stringent in 
the world, are necessary in the current environment in 
order to ensure the highest level of quality in the delivery 
of assurance services by professional accountants.” 
(John Kellas, IAASB chairman)

The Auditor’s Responsibility to Consider Fraud in an 
Audit of Financial Statements (ISA 240)
This revised standard builds on the new audit risk 
standards issued in 2004 and requires the auditor to focus 
on areas where there is a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud, including management fraud. The standard 
emphasizes the need for the auditor to maintain an 
attitude of professional skepticism throughout the audit, 
notwithstanding the auditor’s past experience with the 
honesty and integrity of management and those charged 
with governance. 

The standard requires the engagement team 
to discuss how the financial statements may be 
susceptible to material misstatement because of fraud 
and what audit procedures would be more effective for 
their detection. The standard also requires the auditor 
to design and perform audit procedures to respond to 
the identified risks of material misstatement because 
of fraud, including procedures to address the risk of 
management override of controls.

“While it will always be difficult for the auditor to 
detect fraud, particularly management fraud, the revised 
standard provides guidance on considering the risks of 
fraud in an audit and in designing procedures to detect 
material misstatements due to fraud, geared at improving 
auditor performance.” (John Kellas, IAASB chairman)

Planning an Audit of Financial Statements (ISA 300)
This revised standard builds on the new audit risk 
standards issued in 2004 and requires the auditor to 
plan the audit so that the engagement will be performed 
in an effective manner. The standard emphasizes 

•

•
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that planning is a continual process throughout the 
engagement and that unexpected events, changes in 
conditions, or other circumstances may lead the auditor 
to reevaluate the planned procedures.

The standard requires the auditor to establish an 
overall strategy for the audit that sets the scope, timing, 
and direction of the audit.

“Audit planning plays a critical role in setting the 
tone and direction of the audit, and in ensuring that the 
right resources are allocated to the higher risk areas at 
the appropriate time. The establishment of the overall 
audit strategy helps guide the development of the more 
detailed audit plan and ensures that risk assessment 
procedures and further detailed audit procedures are 
appropriately targeted.” (John Kellas, IAASB chairman)

The Independent Auditor’s Report on a Complete Set of 
General Purpose Financial Statements (ISA 700)
This revised standard, effective only for audit reports 
dated on or after 31 December 2006, deals with separate 
audit reporting requirements in connection with (i) an ISA 
audit, and (ii) supplementary reporting responsibilities 
required in some jurisdictions. Essentially, the standard 
requires a two part report: first the audit report on the 
financial statements under ISA (standard wording), and 
then any local regulatory requirements.

The revised standard also updates and strengthens 
the requirements of the standard. In particular, new 
guidance is given on the auditor’s consideration of 
whether an accounting framework is acceptable, and on 
the need for the auditor to consider whether the financial 
statements are misleading even when they comply in all 
respects with that framework. The new wording for the 
auditor’s report includes the following:

better explanations of the respective respon-
sibilities of management and the auditor,

an updated description of the audit process to 
reflect the new IAASB Audit Risk Standards, and

clarification of the scope of the auditor's 
responsibilities with respect to internal control.

Modifications to the Independent Auditor’s Report  
(ISA 701)
This “new” standard provides guidance on reports that 
are not unqualified. It is the same guidance as in the old 
ISA 700, amended for the wording changes to the audit 
report under the revised ISA 700.

•

•

•

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
The revised code of ethics provides a conceptual 
framework for all professional accountants to ensure 
compliance with the five fundamental principles of 
professional ethics:

(i) Integrity 
(ii) Objectivity
(iii) Professional competence and due care
(iv) Confidentiality
(v) Professional behavior

Under the framework, all professional accountants 
are required to identify threats to these fundamental 
principles, and, if there are threats, apply safeguards to 
ensure that the principles are not compromised.

A member body of IFAC or a firm may not apply less 
stringent standards than those stated in the code.

2006

Audit Documentation (ISA 230)
This revised standard on the important topic of audit 
documentation strengthens the requirements in five 
areas:

Places a new emphasis on the timely 
preparation of audit documentation necessary 
to provide a sufficient and appropriate record of 
the basis for the auditor's report, and evidence 
that the audit was carried out in accordance 
with ISA and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements.

Establishes a new requirement that the auditor 
prepare the audit documentation so as to enable 
an experienced auditor, having no previous 
connection with the audit, to understand the 
audit work performed, the results and audit 
evidence obtained, and the significant matters 
identified and conclusions reached thereon. It 
also defines the meaning of an “experienced 
auditor.” (The previous ISA only suggested that 
the auditor may find it useful to consider what 
would be necessary to provide another auditor, 
having no previous experience with the audit, 
with an understanding of the work performed, 
and the basis for the main decisions taken.)

Establishes a new requirement that if the auditor 
judges it necessary to depart from relevant ISA 
requirements because of special circumstances, 

•

•

•
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the auditor must document how the alternative 
audit procedures performed meet the objective 
of the audit and, if not otherwise clear, the 
reasons for the departure. 

Establishes a new requirement that the auditor 
complete the assembly of the final audit file on 
a timely basis after the date of the auditor's 
report, and provides guidance indicating that an 
appropriate time limit for this would ordinarily be 
60 days after the date of the auditor's report. The 
revised ISA also resulted in the establishment 
of a new requirement in ISQC 1, Quality Control 
for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information, and Other 
Assurance and Related Services Engagements, 
for firms to set up policies and procedures for 
the timely completion of the assembly of the 
final engagement files. 

Establishes a new requirement that the auditor 
not delete or discard audit documentation after 
the final audit file has been assembled unless 
the retention period for the audit documentation 
has elapsed. The revised ISA also resulted in 
expanded guidance in ISQC 1 on the retention 
of engagement documentation. This guidance 
indicates that the retention period for audits 
ordinarily is no shorter than 5 years from the 
date of the auditor's report, or, if later, the date 
of the group auditor's report.

Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by 
the Independent Auditor of the Entity (ISRE 2410)
This new international standard on review engagements 
(ISRE) establishes standards and provides guidance 
for auditors that review interim financial information 
issued by their audit clients. The standard provides 
guidance on determining the terms of the engagements, 
procedures, evaluation of misstatements, management 
representations, and reporting the results of the interim 
review. In addition, an appendix includes examples of 
analytical procedures the auditor may consider, and 
provides illustrative review reports, modified review 
reports, and a management representation letter.

2007

Preface; ISA 240, 300, 315, and 330
The IAASB has initiated a “clarity project” to run from 
2006 to 20011. Under this project all ISA will be redrafted 
(the most important first) and restructured. 

•

•

For each ISA, the new format will set out the 
objective(s), the requirements of the standard, and 
additional guidance (including background information, 
further explanation, examples of procedures, and 
general help with implementation). Such guidance is not 
intended to produce a requirement. 

The redrafted preface sets out the above structure 
of the standards; and ISA 240, 300, 315, and 330 have 
been redrafted accordingly. All standards redrafted 
under the clarity project will not become effective 
before 15 December 2008 at the earliest, giving time for 
translation.

An additional 11 exposure drafts of redrafted (and 
sometimes revised) standards were produced in 2007.

 International Federation of Accountants 2001  
to 2007

IFAC sets standards in four areas; audit and assurance, 
accounting in the public sector, education, and ethics. 
IFAC has 155 members in 113 countries, representing  
2.4 million accountants.

Since 2001, income has increased from $4 million 
to $18 million. In 2007, of income of $18 million, 
membership fees accounted for $8 million, and 23 
international accounting firms (the “Forum of Firms”) 
contributed $4 million. The direct cost of the auditing 
and assurance standards board, the IAASB, was  
$3.5 million, but this does not include the value of the 
substantial amount of work done on a voluntary basis. 

In 2005, the Public Interest Oversight Board 
(PIOB) for accountancy was established in Spain. An 
independent body, the PIOB oversees the standard-
setting process within IFAC to ensure that the standards 
developed by IFAC’s boards in the areas of auditing 
and assurance, education, and ethics, and IFAC’s 
Member Body Compliance Program are operated in a 
transparent manner that reflects the public interest. The 
PIOB receives funding and in-kind support from several 
organizations, including IFAC and the World Bank.
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Kazakhstan

TOPIC: IFRS Development
COUNTRY: Kazakhstan 

Problems The lack of timely translation of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Implication Inconsistency in the financial reporting of organizations with the IFRS requirements 

Actions Involvement of specialists from the World Bank, ADB, and others

Resources • Membership fees of the professional organizations 
• “Donors” (United States Agency for International Development [USAID], ADB, World Bank, and others) 
• State program 

TOPIC: Development of the Audit 
COUNTRY: Kazakhstan 

Problems • The lack of texts on International Standards on Auditing (ISA) in Russian and state languages 
• Nonavailability of methodological materials including international experience 
• Not enough programs on qualification improvement taking into account new revisions 
• Small number of specialists and lack of human resources 
• The lack of state control over auditing activities 
• Low level of auditors’ professional activity and professional public organizations 
• Nonobservance of the professional code of ethics

Implications • Low audit quality 
• Inadequate specialists’ training 
• Decrease of the professional reputation of both the accountant and the accounting profession
• Deficit of auditing services 
• High costs are not affordable for many organizations 
• No order in the system of the audit institution
• Lack of external control over audit quality 
• Stagnation in the work of pubic organizations 
• Fraud cases, collusion between entities and their auditors in distorting disclosures

Actions • Cooperate with the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) to expedite obtaining translation 
and publication rights

• Brisk up the work of professional organizations in improving International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) qualifications for their members  

• Establish and develop auditor training centers 
• Develop and amend legislation for regulating auditing activities (attestation, establishment of the 

Qualification Commission on an equal footing with Kazakhstan’s Ministry of Finance [MOF]) 
• Provide for adequate prudential regulation and supervision of the audit institute
• Publish and disseminate the ethics code and methodological recommendations  
• Develop methodological guidelines designed to protect the interests of users of the financial information 

Resources • Membership fees of the professional organizations 
• Donors (ADB, USAID, World Bank, and others)
• State program
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TOPIC:  Monitoring and Control
COUNTRY:  Kazakhstan 

Problems • Nonobservance of the legislation of Kazakhstan 
• Lack of monitoring during transition to the IFRS 
• Inconsistencies between the normative and legal acts in regard to IFRS compliance 

Implications • Gap between the financial reporting of organizations and the requirements of the IFRS 
• Lack of reliable data on the organizations adopted the IFRS 
• Disharmony between the normative and legal acts as a system 

Actions Implement the action plan requiring all legal entities to adopt IRFS for 2007–2009 approved by 
Resolution # 760 of the Government of Kazakhstan as of 29 August 2007 

Resources • Budget financing 
• Attraction of grants 

 TOPIC: Training and Professional Organizations
COUNTRY: Kazakhstan 

Problems • Weak training of higher education institutions’ graduates for practical work
• Inconsistency between higher education training programs and IFRS and IAS 
• Insufficient capacity for improving the qualification for practicing specialists
• Lack of up-to-date professional publications or websites to reflect changes and current standards 
• Conflict and lack of coordination among professional organizations 
• Lack of activity by the professional organizations 

Implications • Gap between higher education requirements and the needs of the specific technical knowledge 
needed by the accounting profession

• Lack of qualified human resources 
• Insufficient availability of information 
• Low status of the profession and imbalance between the level of the public trust and the capacity of 

accountants 

Actions • Introduce suggestions to the Ministry of Education for improving the curriculum, taking into 
account the authorized bodies’ and professional bodies’ opinions 

• Improve teacher qualifications 
• Give teachers access to the databases on legislation and methodological materials 
• Involve practicing specialists with training programs at higher education institutions 
• Motivate company managers to develop their staff 
• Introduce foreign experience under the direction of the certified specialists 
• Develop extensible approach for distance training 
• Develop free forum websites for users:

– Under aegis of the MOF, to publish official comments, IFRS, and IAS 
– Under aegis of the union of the public organizations, to conduct public relations (PR)

• Conduct PR campaigns to popularize the information resources 
• Develop and disseminate training materials and literature: 

– interstate exchange by methodology 
– generalization of relevant advanced experience 
– placement of literature on the websites 
– interpretation of the official documents by the competent bodies 
– involve public organizations in the development of training materials and their adaptation to 

the medium professional level 
• Have professional organizations’ activities directed first to increasing the professionalism of their 

members 
• Oblige professional organizations to provide their members with needed methodological materials 
• Promote healthy competition based on placing the priorities of the common interests above the 

private ones 
• Issue press releases about professional organizations’ activities
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• Provide transparency of the professional organizations’ activities and enhance the prestige of the 
profession by publishing the resources used 

• Implement the action plan for transitioning all legal entities to IFRS for 2007–2009 as approved by 
Resolution # 760 of the Government of Kazakhstan as of 29 August 2007 

Resources • Implement a system for monitoring curriculum content, including continuing education programs 
• Budget financing 
• Donor funds, international grants 
• Alternative sources of financing (self-financing of higher education institutions)

The Kyrgyz Republic

TOPIC: IFRS Development
COUNTRY: Kyrgyz Republic

Problems • Need for awareness of the complexities of IFRS and their changing nature
• Lack of timely translation of the IFRS into state and official languages
• Further transfer to the IFRS requires improved legislation
• Lack of standards for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
• Insufficient financial resources for SMEs for conversion and training personnel 
• Lack of adaptability in the higher education accounting and auditing curriculum to accommodate 

training on IFRS requirements
• Reluctance of company managers to retraining mid-level accountants permanently and locally
• Low salaries in the regulating body
• Lack of free public access to company financial reports

Implications • Noncompliance of the financial reports with the IFRS
• Undeveloped unified system of training, retraining, and improved qualification of accountants
• Impossible to attract high-quality specialists to work in the regulating body
• Insufficient number of well-qualified personnel
• Low public awareness of the financial state of companies

Actions • Establish an integrated system of training, retraining, and improving accounting qualifications to 
meet the requirements of the profession 

• Develop and provide the corresponding training and methodological materials
• Develop standards for SMEs
• Develop reporting forms and recommendations for SMEs
• Develop mechanism to provide public access to company information

Resources Technical assistance (TA) to
• train, retrain, and improve specialists’ qualification in the field of accounting;
• develop and to publish methodological materials, standards, and accounting recommendations; 

and
• strengthen the capacity of the authorized bodies to maintain and provide public information.
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TOPIC: Audit Development
COUNTRY: Kyrgyz Republic

Problems • Lack of timely IAS translations
• Lack of IAS methodological developments recommended by the IFAC in Russian and Kyrgyz 

languages 
• Lack of understanding of the essence and meaning of the audit among managers
• Undeveloped unified system of training, retraining, and improvement of auditors’ qualifications
• Lack of professional ethics among the majority of auditors
• Lack of active control over audit quality
• Low salary of specialists in regulating bodies

Implications • Noncompliance with IAS in the conducted audit
• Unfair audit conduct
• Impossible to recruit highly qualified specialists to work in the regulating body

Actions • Establish an effective system of training, retraining, and improving auditors’ (and related 
specialists) qualification by state bodies together with participants of the audit market 

• Adopt the code of ethics for professional accountants
• Establish a quality control mechanism

Resources TA to
• develop and establish audit quality control;
• establish an effective system of training, retraining and improving auditing specialists’ 

qualification; and
• study the international organizations’ experience with introducing new and updated auditing 

standards. 

TOPIC: Monitoring and Control
COUNTRY: Kyrgyz Republic 

Problems • Lack of the mechanism to monitor the IFRS introduction 
• Lack of mechanism to control audit quality 

Implications • Lack of objective information on the trend of the IFRS 
• Lack of objective information on conducting a quality audit 

Actions • Improve the IFRS introduction monitoring method
• Increase capacity of the monitoring body to a sufficient level to introduce the IFRS
• Develop a mechanism to control audit quality 

Resources TA to
• develop the mechanism to monitor the IFRS introduction,
• retrain and improve the qualification of specialists conducting the monitoring,
• develop and establish the mechanism to control audit quality, and
• retrain and improve the specialists’ qualifications for conducting the audit quality control at all 

levels.
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TOPIC:  Training and Professional Organizations
COUNTRY: Kyrgyz Republic: Kyrgyz Republic Kyrgyz Republic

Problems • Lack of the proper cooperation between state body and professional organizations 
• Insufficient mutual understanding and cooperation among professional organizations
• Lack of highly qualified staff in the professional organizations on the following directs:

(i) education
(ii) technical issues in the financial reporting and audit standards 
(iii) professional ethics 
(iv) quality control

Implications • Ineffective introduction and application of the IFRS and IAS (violation of the schedule to transfer to 
the IFRS, nonobservance of the standards, etc.)

• Insufficient coverage for training and retraining specialists in the regions of the republic
• Lack of the courses to improve the qualification of the professional organizations’ members

Actions Establish an accreditation system for the professional organizations that meets the requirements of the 
regulating body based on the IFAC requirements for the following issues:
• retraining and improving the qualification of the members of the professional organizations, and
• enhancing internal controls in professional organizations and quality controls in individuals. 

Resources TA to
• retrain and improve the qualification of the members of the professional organizations, and
• develop the accreditation system.

Mongolia

TOPIC: IFRS
COUNTRY: Mongolia

Problems • Translation of 2003 version of IAS lasted for 2 years and was published in 2005. So far, there is no 
recent translation of the revised IFRS or the manuals or interpretation attached to them. Unable to 
catch up the newly issued IFRS in terms of translation, so there is always a delay in using the revised 
standards.

• In preparing financial statements, accountants do not apply IFRS in full. 

Consequences • The revised standards are not available at the right time; because the translation is delayed, it loses 
importance. 

• The economic relationship has not been developed, so some standards are not applicable. 
• Even those entities awarded a certificate for adopting IFRS do not fully adopt or implement the 

applicable standards. 

Actions • Establish a separate working group or unit at the institute that is responsible for translation of the 
revised standards, and train accountants on application of those standards.

• Establish a system that works for controlling implementation of IFRS and define the appropriate 
responsibilities. 

• Develop interpretation on application of standards in practice and disseminate to accountants and 
auditors 

Resources • Request TA for translation and implementation of IFRS in a timely manner 
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TOPIC: Audit
COUNTRY: Mongolia

Problems • Auditors use ISA with no changes made after 2003 because translation is not available
• Poor quality of audit work (there was no translation of International Standard on Quality Control 

[ISQC] 1)
• Auditors do not comply with the code of ethics
• For some audit firms, audit working papers are not in compliance with the required standards.

Implications • The fact that ISA 2003 version is used by audit firms means that audit firms are behind the 
development of the rest of the world.

• Quality control review has not been conducted for audit firms and audit engagement performed by 
them. Therefore, it is unclear if audit engagement is performed at appropriate quality level, which 
in some cases leads to losing reputation of audit services among the public because of poor quality 
work. 

• Auditors break the code of ethics. For instance, intentionally do not discover fraud or errors during 
the audit, issue false auditor’s opinion and report, which also leads to losing the audit profession’s 
reputation. 

• Because of the fact that audit working papers differ among audit firms, it also may tell that audit 
quality is inconsistent. Therefore, users of financial statements do not trust if a certain audit firm 
assures financial statements properly and fairly. 

Actions • 2007 version of ISA has only been translated and distributed to audit firms and auditors, with 
enforcement by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) to follow. 

• ISQC 1 was also translated in July 2007, which the Institute of CPAs has instructed its members to 
follow, and the institute itself will review its implementation. 

• The institute will strongly enforce the code of ethics and will issue immediate decisions for auditors 
who break the code. 

• Require audit firms to develop their own internal standards on working papers according to audit 
quality control standards. 

• Improve audit work program and check list. 
• Audit firms move to the partnership system to enhance the responsibility of auditors. 
• Cover audit firms in insurance system.  

Resources • Separate working group will be established within the Institute’s audit committee, which is 
responsible for translation of the revised standards; in time, train auditors on those standards and 
control their implementation. 

• Since the Institute has set up a new committee for audit quality, this will control the audit 
engagements done by audit firms. 

• The Institute has an ethics committee to improve its process for deciding any complaint related to 
auditors’ behavior. 

• The Institute will review the compliance of the working papers with required standards when the 
committee evaluates the firm’s audit engagement. 

 TOPIC: Disclosure of Financial Reporting
COUNTRY: Mongolia

Problems • Information on companies and their financial statements are not available to the public; only the 
government can access the information. 

Consequences • Because of a lack of transparency in financial information, financial markets cannot be developed, 
and thus the economy.

• Users of financial statements cannot make sound decisions on investment: in other words, they 
cannot decide what company to invest in, which in turn affects the economy unfavorably. 
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Actions • Reevaluate those provisions in the laws on security of companies, security of individuals, tax 
legislation, and mineral resources that limit public access to financial information. Eventually, it will 
create legal framework for meeting the requirements to make financial information transparent or 
disclosed. 

• The government will create circumstances in which the information on legal parties is available to 
the public.

• Determine to what extent the information on business entities would be transparent to the public. 

Resources To take these actions, TA will be requested for 
• financial resources and 
• human resources.

 TOPIC: Education and Professional Bodies
COUNTRY: Mongolia

Problems • Graduates do not meet the current requirements of the labor market. 
• Inadequate knowledge of professionals on international standards
• Poor ability and competence to apply theoretical knowledge in practice. 
• Accountants break professional ethics. 

Implications • Accountants are not able to play the role given to them. 
• Although accountants prepare financial statements, it is sometimes difficult to say that they follow 

the standards in full. 
• Accountants sometimes work unfairly: they prepare financial statements in favor of the owner. One 

definite example is tax evasion. 

Actions • Develop a training plan to incorporate the current requirements. 
• National textbooks should be encouraged. 
• Sufficient knowledge on professional ethics for both accountants and accounting students should 

be obtained. 
• Control over the quality of training of the universities where accountants are prepared.

Resoruces • Request for TA to research training programs, bachelor’s degree curricula, and/or CPA qualification 
in highly developed countries. 

• Request for TA on training accounting teachers in specialty accounting subjects.

 

Uzbekistan

TOPIC: IFRS Development
COUNTRY: Uzbekistan: UzbekistanUzbekistan

Problems • Lack of modern and regular translation of the published IFRS and comments in Russian
• Frequent changes to the IFRS without separation of the introduced changes and additions  

Implications • Some delay of the National Accounting Standards (NAS) from the IFRS during the development of 
new and updated standards

• Lack of comments on the IFRS application
• Difficulty attracting foreign investments due to the lack of compliance with the full copy of the NAS 

with the IRFS (regarding the accounting regulating the financial instruments)
• A lot of time is needed for the translation of each new edition of the IFRS 
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Actions • Bring the current NAS into compliance with the last edition of the IFRS
• Develop the new NAS and bring them into compliance with the current IFRS
• Obtain the latest officially approved version of the IFRS in Russian with regular updates
• Suggest that the IFRS Board issue a separate publication on the introduced changes and 

amendments
• Develop comments and practical guidelines on application of NAS and IFRS and their broad 

dissemination
• Establish a forum on the websites of the professional organizations to apply the NAS and IFRS

Resources • Use the capacity of the public professional organizations to develop, to update and to disseminate 
NAS and IFRS

• Apply the experience of foreign experts on IFRS
• Attract donors to finance obtaining the legitimacy of the IFRS (Russian translation), systematic 

updating in accordance with adopted changes of the IFRS, and payment for experts

TOPIC: Development of the Audit
COUNTRY: Uzbekistan: UzbekistanUzbekistan

Problems • The lack of timely and regular translation of the issues IAS into Russian language.

Implications • The national audit practice remains behind the international practice
• NAS remains behind the IAS when the new standards are developed and the current ones are 

revised 
• Lack of comments on IAS application
• Impossible for local audit companies to enter the international market

Actions • Bring the current NAS into compliance with latest edition of the IAS
• Seek the official approval of the IAS edition in Russian language with regular updates
• Prepare comments and practical manuals on IAS application and their broad dissemination
• Establish a forum on IAS application on the professional organizations’ websites 

Resources • To use the potential of professional organizations in IAS development, revision, and dissemination 
• To use the experience of foreign experts
• To obtain donor’s funding to (i) attract experts in systematically revising and updating IFRS and  

(ii) to translate such revisions/updates into Russian 

TOPIC: Disclosure of Financial Reporting
COUNTRY: Uzbekistan: UzbekistanUzbekistan

Problems • Lack of modern and fast access to needed financial information by users
• Lack of the companies’ unified registry with regularly updated financial and legal information 

Implications • High risks for creditors and investors 
• The lack of transparent financial information

Actions • Establish a unified center to register companies; subsequent introduction of the registry of those 
companies; collect, and generalize the information with possible online access

• Establish the normative and legal basis for the activities of such a center 

Resources • To use the capacity of the public professional organizations to develop the methodology and the 
format for providing needed financial information for users

• To apply the experience of similar foreign organizations (for instance, Companies House of the 
United Kingdom)

• To establish the modern material and technical base for the unified information center
• To train the staff for the new center
• To attract the donors to finance the assigned tasks
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TOPIC: Monitoring and Control
COUNTRY: Uzbekistan

Problems • The lack of quality control conducted by the licensing body 
• The lack of the external quality control over auditors from the side of professional organizations 
• Misunderstanding of the importance of monitoring and observance of the norms of quality control 

standards within auditing organizations
• The lack of the healthy competition among auditing organizations 

Implications • Low quality of auditing services from a significant number of auditing organizations 
• Shortage of in-house documents on quality control 
• Lack of information on the state of in-house quality control in auditing organizations 

Actions • Formal approach to the training and the improvement of qualification by auditors 
• Increase interest in high-quality control training and improving of auditors’ qualification
• Develop and improve the rating system to assess auditing companies
• Continuously update and place the updated results on external quality control on the websites of 

the professional organizations 
• Popularize the need to observe the norms and principles of the Code of Auditors Professional Ethics 

Resources • To use the capacity of the public professional organizations to develop the methodology and the 
format of the internal and external quality controls 

• To apply the experience of the foreign professional organizations
• To establish the modern material and technical base of the unified center for quality control
• To train the staff for the new center
• To attract donors to finance assigned tasks.

TOPIC:  Training and Professional Organizations
COUNTRY: Uzbekistan: UzbekistanUzbekistan

Problems • The lack of highly qualified teachers in the higher education and secondary special training 
institutions

• The lack of training and methodological materials to introduce accounting in various sectors of 
economy (construction, agriculture, etc.)  

• Insufficient understanding of a professional accountant’s and auditor’s role in the society

Implications • The graduates of the higher education institutions do not have adequate knowledge to compete in 
the market 

• Insufficient involvement of accountants and auditors in the membership of professional 
organizations 

• Accountants’ disinterest in improving their qualification 

Actions • Strengthen the material and technical base of public organizations
• Increase the prestige of the accounting profession in the society through conducting national 

professional contests 
• Introduce rating for auditing organizations 
• Introduce compulsory certification for chief accountants of the listed companies 
• Study and introduce the international experience to improve the professional level of accountants
• Organize regional and international conferences on accounting and audit problems 
• Broadly popularize the CAP/CIPA certification systems 

Resources • To use the capacity of the public professional organizations to develop, update, and disseminate 
the methodological manuals and training materials

• To apply the experience of the foreign professional organizations
• To involve new members in the professional organizations through increasing the prestige and 

popularization of the profession
• To attract donors to finance the assigned tasks 
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Appendix 4: Tax Reconciliation Manual

This section presents the tax manual for Uzbekistan 
as an example. The manual is a step-by-step 
solution to the case study which deals with a 

company in its first 2 years of trading. The tax manual 
also includes lecture notes, slides, examples, and case 
studies that were used in the country workshops but are 
not included here. The entire package was designed to 
offer comprehensive and quality materials as the basis 
for designing and delivering a 2-day training course 
on International Accounting Standard (IAS) 12 and is 
available on a CD. 

Background

This manual has been prepared to demonstrate the 
various differences between profits under the tax code, 
and profits under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), and to show how these differences 
should be accounted for. The case study demonstrates 
how to account for the main differences, using a 
methodology that is generally applied in practice. 

The complexity of the subject is well recognized. Of 
all the measures of whether financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with IFRS, it is reasonable to 
claim that the existence of a deferred tax balance on the 
balance sheet is the strongest single indicator of IFRS 
compliance. 

This manual has been prepared for three other 
countries, using the identical case study, and the results 
can be found in Annex I. Annex II contains sundry lecture 
examples to help provide a preliminary foundation of the 
basic knowledge required. The examples and case study 
solutions together provide examples of all differences 
between accounts and tax profits that are likely to be 
found in practice. 

The four case studies show the differences in the 
tax codes of the four countries, and consequently of 
the amounts of tax payable—the comparison should 
be of general interest to the countries of Central 
Asia.

Introduction

Any discussion of how to deal with taxation in financial 
statements must begin with some consideration 
of what it is that is to be accounted for. IFRS treats 
taxation as a business expense to be dealt with in the 
same manner as any other cost. However, taxation has 
certain characteristics which set it apart from other costs 
and which might justify a different treatment. These 
characteristics include the following:

Tax payments are not made in exchange for any 
goods or services.

Businesses have no say in whether or not the 
payments are to be made.

Because of these factors, it is held by certain fiscal 
economists that taxation is more in the nature of a 
distribution than an expense. In essence, the government 
is a stakeholder in the success of the business and 
participates in its results, indeed, because of the nature 
of tax legislation in most countries, generally in priority 
to other stakeholders.

Treating taxation as a distribution was, in principle, the 
view adopted under the Soviet accounting system. The 
validity of this suggestion rather depends on what view 
is taken as to the purpose of financial statements and 
the nature of the reporting entity. Now, the accounting 
practices of countries with transitional economies 
should lead to convergence with IFRS, in particular with 
accounting practices consistent with those included in 
IAS 12 – Income Taxes.

Since IFRS takes the view that taxation is a business 
expense, the most significant accounting issues that 
arise in relation to taxation are (i) establishing the 
amount of tax that needs to be paid (the tax expense), 
and (ii) allocating the tax expense between accountingallocating the tax expense between accounting 
periods.

The recognition of transactions in the financial 
statements relating to a particular year is governed 

•

•
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primarily by the application of accounting standards.application of accounting standards. of accounting standards. 
However, the timing of recognition of income and 
expenses for the purpose of measuring the taxable 
profit is governed by the application of tax law, which 
generally follows different rules from those under which 
the financial statements are drawn up. It is necessary to 
seek some reconciliation between these different sets 
of rules, which is where the concept of deferred tax is 
brought into play. The actual tax expense and liability 
payable for an entity, as calculated under the provisions 
of the tax code is referred to by IFRS and throughout this 
document as current tax.

Deferred taxation, on the other hand, is the name given 
to the accounting methodology for applying the accruals 
concept to the tax expense and making estimates of the 
tax expense to be recognized for the current accounting 
period and those anticipated in future accounting periods. 
IAS 12 focuses on all differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities (the value ascribed to 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements) and the 
amount attributed to them for tax purposes (that is, by 
applying the provisions of the tax code). This approach is 
known as the balance sheet liability method.

IAS 12 deals with four basic areas, namely:namely::

recognition of the current tax expense (or 
income) and the associated liability (or asset);

accounting for current tax;

recognition of the deferred tax expense (or 
income) and the associated deferred tax liability 
(or asset); and

reconciliation between the tax expense in the 
financial statements (current tax expense + 
deferred tax expense) and the product of the 
accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
rate of tax.

Whole picture of relationship between taxable profit, 
accounting profit, current tax and deferred tax can be 
presented graphically as shown on following picture:

•

•

•

•

IFRS = International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Definitions

Accounting Profit
Accounting profit is the profit or loss for a period before 
taxation.

Taxable Profit
Taxable profit is the figure calculated under the tax code 
to which the tax percentage is applied to establish the 
amount of tax that is payable in respect of the reporting 
period.

Tax Expense
Tax expense is the aggregate amount included in the 
determination of profit for the period. It therefore 
includes both current tax and deferred tax expenses. This 
is perhaps best understood with reference to the figure 
above.

The process of establishing the tax expense is as 
follows:

a. Calculate the taxable profits, by adjusting 
the accounting profit to take account of the 
differences between IFRS and the tax code;

b. Apply the tax rate to the taxable profits to 
calculate the current tax expense;

c. Classify the differences between the taxable pro-
fit and the accounting profit as either permanent 
differences or temporary differences;

d. Compare the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities with their tax base, and determine the 
resulting temporary difference at the end of the 
period;

e. The income tax rate, as set out in the Tax Code, is 
applied to the total of the temporary differences 
to establish the deferred tax asset or liability.

f. This asset or liability is then compared to the 
balance for the previous year and the difference, 
i.e., the movement in the balance, is the deferred 
tax expense or income.

g. This amount is then added to the current tax 
expense to establish the tax expense as shown 
in the income statement.

Current Tax
Current tax is the amount of tax actually payable to the 
tax authorities for the reporting period to which the 
financial statements relate.

Temporary Differences
Temporary differences are differences between the 
carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance 

sheet and its tax base. Temporary differences represent 
items of income or expenditure which are taxable or 
deductible, but in periods different from those in which 
they are dealt with in the financial statements. They, 
therefore, arise when items of income and expenditure 
enter into both the measurement of accounting profit 
and taxable profit but in different accounting periods.

A temporary difference may arise in one of four ways:

a. Income may be recognized in the financial 
statements but recognized in taxable profit in 
later years;

b. Income may be included in taxable profit in a 
year earlier than it is recognized in the financial 
statements;

c. Expenditure or losses in the financial statements 
may not be deductible in arriving at the taxable 
profit until a later period; or

d. Expenditure or losses may be deducted from 
taxable profit prior to it being charged against 
accounting profit.

Permanent Differences
A permanent difference can arise in three main ways:

a. Where nontaxable income is included in the 
accounting profit, for example;

b. Where certain types of expenditure are charged 
against accounting profit but are not allowed as 
expenses against taxable profit; and

c. Indexation relief, if it were to be granted, might 
reduce many gains for tax purposes but has 
no effect on the gains reported in the financial 
statements.

There is no need to adjust the tax charge in the 
financial statements for permanent differences. The 
transactions giving rise to the permanent difference 
have no future tax effect. Although the tax charge for 
the year in which the items are reported in the financial 
statements will deviate from the charge which would 
be expected if the normal tax rate had been applied 
to the reported profits (accounting profit), this is not a 
distortion of the charge that needs to be corrected in any 
way; indeed any correction or adjustment would itself 
introduce a distortion. Instead, the impact of permanent 
differences is disclosed to the users in a note to the 
financial statements.

Tax Base
The tax base is critical for establishing the existence and 
value of temporary differences. To identify temporary 

Appendix �
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differences, an enterprise needs to compare the 
carrying value of an asset or liability (the accounting 
value or net book value) with the tax base. In practical 
terms, this means that for every asset or liability that 
is treated differently for accounting and tax purposes, 
the enterprise needs to establish two values for the 
same asset. Once a mechanism for ascribing two 
values to the same asset has been established by an 
enterprise (usually achieved by maintaining single entry 
subsidiary ledgers such as a fixed asset register), the 
mechanics of calculating the temporary differences is 
very straightforward.

Tax Bases for Assets
The tax base of an asset is the amount that will be 
deductible for tax purposes against any taxable 
economic benefits that will flow to an enterprise when it 
recovers the carrying amount (accounting or book value) 
of the asset. The difference between the carrying amount 
of an asset and its tax base (the tax authority’s value) 
is described as a temporary difference because it will 
disappear in time.

As discussed above, these temporary differences 
arise from the application of different rules, which have 
the effect of recognizing items of income or expenditure 
in different reporting periods. Examples of how such 
differences can arise are set out below.

Tax Bases for Liabilities
The tax base of a liability is its carrying amount less 
any amount that will be deductible for tax purposes in 
respect of that liability in future periods. 

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is an estimate of the future tax consequences 
of temporary differences. That is, it is an estimate of the 
future tax income or expense resulting from transactions 
and events recognized in the financial statements in a 
different period from that in which they are recognized 
under the tax code.

Tax Reconciliation Case Study
A theoretical explanation of differences between 
financial and taxable profit has been done many times. 
But, just theory is not enough for practical application of 
this tax reconciliation exercise. Therefore, a case study 
will be presented below for better understanding of the 
differences between accounting and taxable profit, and 
for providing practical guidance for tax reconciliation 
calculations.

 Introduction to Case Study

Objectives of Case Study
This case study is designed to meet the following 
objectives:

To demonstrate the differences between IFRS 
profits, and profits under the tax code.

To give practice in preparing a reconciliation of 
IFRS profits, to profits under the tax code.

To give practice in calculating, and accounting 
for, deferred tax.

To demonstrate how to prepare financial 
statements taking into account deferred taxation 
issues.

To demonstrate how to prepare notes to financial 
statements relating to taxation issues.

Background
Cashmere Limited is a new company and manufactures 
clothes from raw materials. The raw materials are 
purchased from a number of producers and middlemen. 
Production is carried out in a purpose-built factory a few 
kilometers out of town, while the administration and 
selling functions are carried out from a leased office in 
town.

Case Study Requirements

Using the extended trial balance, supporting notes, 
and draft (pretax) financial statements for the first and 
second years of trading, you are REQUIRED to:

prepare a detailed reconciliation of the profits 
under IFRS with the tax profits; 

calculate the current tax charge in respect of 
income tax and deferred tax;

draft the journal entry for the current tax 
charge;

prepare financial statements which includes 
deferred tax expense or income and deferred tax 
liability or asset; and

prepare notes to financial statements relating to 
current and deferred taxation.

Case Study—Year 1

Initial information for Year 1
During Year 1 the Cashmere Limited had the following 
results.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Extended Trial Balance—Year 1

Note
Start Cash Journal Entries

Total
of year book Accruals Depreciation Inventory Other

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Turnover 1 (150,000)  (50,000)  (200,000)

Direct materials 2 42,000 9,000  (13,000) 38,000

Direct labor 2 50,000  (13,000) 37,000

Machine depreciation 2 40,000  (10,000) 30,000

Factory overheads 2 35,000 7,000 16,200  (14,000) 44 200

Administration 
overheads 1, 2, 6 14,000 1,000 5,000 10,000 30,000

Selling overheads 2 10,000 2,000 2,500 14,500

Interest paid 0 0

Interest received 3  (20,000)  (20,000)

Rent received 4  (12,000) 6,000  (6,000)

Tax charge for year 0

Land 80,000 80,000

Factory 4, 5 800,000 800,000

–accumulated 
depreciation 5  (16,000)  (16,000)

Canteen 10,000 10,000

–accumulated 
depreciation (200) (200)

Machinery 5 400,000 400,000

–accumulated 
depreciation 5  (40,000)  (40,000)

Computers 5 10,000 10,000

–accumulated 
depreciation 5  (5,000)  (5,000)

Car (sales director) 5 10,000 10,000

–accumulated 
depreciation 5  (2,500)  (2,500)

Financial investment 3 100,000  (10,000) 90,000

Bank 31,000 31,000

Trade receivables 1 50,000  (10,000) 40,000

Inventory 2 50,000 50,000

Bank loan 0 0

Trade payables 2  (19,000)  (19,000)

Deferred income 4  (6,000)  (6,000)

Deferred tax 0

Share capital 7  (1,400,000)  (1,400,000)

Retained profits 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Supporting Notes

1. Debts are 3 months old, on average. Bad debts 
of $10,000 were written off to administration 
overheads, $8,000 of which was approved by 
the courts.

2. Direct materials are purchased on credit for  
2 months. Inventory amounts to 3 months of raw 
materials and production.

3. At the beginning of the year, a loan of $100,000 
was made to a farmer’s cooperative to purchase 
harvesting machinery. This loan bears interest 
at 20% and is repayable in 10 equal annual 
installments, at the end of each year.

4. Halfway through the year, the company rented out 
the canteen for $12,000 per year, payable 1 year 
in advance. It was agreed with the tax authorities 
that the canteen was a production asset.

5. Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
(SL) basis, at the following rates:

Type of fixed assets Annual rate (%)

Buildings 2

Machinery 10

Computers 50

Cars 25

6. Administration overheads include:

dinner for the Board of Directors of the 
farmer’s cooperative, $3,000; and

costs of sending the accountant to study 
abroad, $5,000.

7. It should be assumed that, on the first day of 
the year, the capital was raised, the assets were 
purchased, and production started.

Solution to Year 1
First, Income Statement (I/S) and Balance Sheet  
(B/S) for Year 1 using information for Extended Trial 
Balance for Year 1 will have to be prepared.

•

•

Preliminary Income Statement—Year 1

Items of Income Statement Amount, $

Sales 200,000

Direct cost of sales (149,200)

Gross profit 50,800

Administration and selling overheads (44,500)

Net trading profit 6,300

Interest received 20,000

Rent received 6,000

Net profit (loss) 32,300

Current tax –

Net profit after current tax 32,300

Direct cost of sales represents total cost of direct 
materials, direct labor, machine depreciation and factory 
overheads for the Year 1 (right column in Extended Trial 
Balance).

Other items of Income Statement are derived from 
the same lines of the Extended Trial Balance.

Current tax is zero. Detailed calculation of current 
tax will be presented in next subsection under tax 
reconciliation.

Preliminary Balance Sheet—Year 1

Assets Amount, $

Property, plant, and equipment 1,246,300

Financial assets 90,000

Long-term assets 1,336,300

Inventory 50,000

Trade receivables 40,000

Cash at bank 31,000

Current assets 121,000

Total assets 1,457,300

Equity and Liabilities

Share capital 1,400,000

Retained profit 32,300

Total equity 1,432,300

Trade payable 19,000

Deferred income 6,000

Total current liability 25,000

Total equity and liability 1,457,300

Enhancing Financial Disclosure Standards in Transitional Economies
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Retained profit is entered into the Balance Sheet from 
Income Statement.

Other items in the Balance Sheet are directly derived 
from the appropriate line of the Extended Trial Balance.

Reconciliation of Profit
Next stage will be the preparation of profit reconciliation 
table where financial profit will be reconciled to taxable 
profit.

First of all, we know the amount of financial profit 
before taxation in accordance with Income Statement 
prepared for Year 1 (we also may refer to financial profit 
as IFRS profit)

IFRS profit: $32,300

Next step is to check for each item of the income and 
expenses included in Income Statement and determine 
whether these items are in accordance with the national 
Tax Code.

First item where we have to see the difference is 
the balance cost of property, plant, and equipment (or, 
simply, fixed assets). These differences in the balances 
because of different methods used for calculating 
depreciation and disposing fixed assets.

We know that in IFRS the company had chosen straight 
line method of depreciation using the rates shown in 
section 3.2.1 of this Manual. In accordance with the 
national Tax Code, fixed assets are depreciated using 
reducing balance method. Below are the depreciation 
rates as prescribed in the Tax Code:

Type of fixed assets Annual rate (%)

Buildings 5

Machinery and Equipment 15

Cars and Computers 20

It is important to note that, for tax purposes, cars and 
computers should be grouped together. Below presents 
the calculation of depreciation for Year 1, both—IFRS and 
for tax purposes.

For the first year of operation of Cashmere Limited 
opening balances for both calculations are the same. 
Definitely, depreciation for tax purposes will be higher 
due to higher rates of depreciation. Therefore, IFRS 
depreciation should be added back to IFRS profit and tax 
base depreciation should be deducted. This difference 
is temporary because later IFRS depreciation will be 
higher rather than tax base depreciation and surplus 
will be liquidated. The following adjustments to IFRS 
profit should be made:

(All amounts in US$) Opening balance Depreciation Closing balance

Total fixed assets—IFRS 1,310,000  (63,700) 1,246,300

including:

Land 80,000 80,000

Buildings 800,000  (16,000) 784,000

Canteen 10,000  (200) 9,800

Machinery 400,000  (40,000) 360,000

Computer 10,000  (5,000) 5,000

Car 10,000  (2,500) 7,500

Total fixed assets—tax base 1,310,000  (104,500) 1,205,500

including:

Land 80,000 80,000

Buildings 800,000  (40,000) 760,000

Canteen 10,000  (500) 9,500

Machinery 400,000  (60,000) 340,000

Computer 10,000  (2,000) 8,000

Car 10,000  (2,000) 8,000
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Add back IFRS depreciation: $63,700 (temporary)

Deduct tax base depreciation: ($104,500) (temporary)

From the supporting notes under Year 1, we know that 
$2,000 of bad debts written off was not supported by 
court (i.e., it is a subjective decision of the company’s 
management). Therefore, this amount is not deductible 
by the Tax Code. Consequently, should this amount to be 
supported by court or by other events, it could be allowed 
by Tax Code. Therefore, this difference is temporary. The 
following adjustment to IFRS profit should be made:

Add back amount of bad debt written off not  
supported by court: $2,000 (temporary)

In addition, the cost of dinner of $3,000 is an allowable 
business expense but it cannot exceed specific norms 
established by Government of Uzbekistan. Under the 
tax code, if turnover does not exceed $34,500, 1.00% of 
sales are allowed to deduct, if sales are between $34,500 
but less than $348,000, 0.20% of sales is allowed, and 
if sales are more than $348,000—0.05% is allowed to 
deduct. 

Since the company has $200,000 in revenues, 

Sales up to $34,500 x 1% 345

Sales exceeding $34,500 $165,500 x 0.20% 331

$200,000 $676

Only $676 is allowed to deduct and $2,324 ($3,000– 
676) is not allowed under the Tax Code. Now we can 
develop table for reconciliation of IFRS profit to taxable 
profit.

(All amounts in US$)

IFRS profit 32,300

Adjustments:

Add back depreciation charge 63,700 Temporary

Capital allowance  (104,500) Temporary

Add back of unauthorized bad debt 
written off 2,000 Temporary

Add back nondeductible part of cost  
of dinner 2,324 Permanent

Taxable profit (loss) (4,176)

Now we understand why in the preliminary Income 
Statement (before calculation of deferred taxation), 
we do not calculate current tax expense because the 
company has incurred loss for tax purposes.

Calculation of Deferred Tax Asset or Liability
In accordance with IAS 12, calculation of deferred taxes 
should be prepared using the balance sheet liability 
method. What does it mean? It means that IFRS balance 
sheet items should be compared with their tax base. 
Tax base of balance sheet items may arise if there are 
temporary differences only. There is no reason to calculate 
permanent differences because they are not allowed in 
accordance with the Tax Code, and therefore, cannot be 
classified as deferred (refer again to definitions).

Below is a calculation of the deferred tax for Year 1 for 
Cashmere Limited.

The total liabilities (excluding equity) and the tax base 
remain the same as they would have been under IFRS. 
Tax base of trade receivable increased by the amount 
of unauthorized bad debt written off. Tax base of fixed 

(All amounts in US$)

IFRS Balance Sheet Tax Base Temporary Differences

Cash and Cash Equivalents 31,000 31,000 0

Short-Term Trade Receivables 40,000 42,000 (2,000)

Inventories 50,000 50,000 0

Long-Term Financial Investments 90,000 90,000 0

Property, Plant, and Equipment 1,246,300 1,205,500 40,800

TOTAL ASSETS 1,457,300 1,418,500 38,800

Short-Term Trade Payables 19,000 19,000 0

Deferred Income 6,000 6,000 0

TOTAL LIABILITIES 25,000 25,000 0
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assets is derived from the calculation of depreciation 
and closing balance for tax purposes (see previous 
subsection).

We see that total assets under tax base are less than 
the IFRS total assets by $38,800. This means that, under 
tax base, assets have been charged to by $38,800 more 
than under IFRS calculation. And, this amount will be 
expensed in accordance with IFRS in later accounting 
periods. Accordingly tax that should have been paid in 
Year 1 (when it accrued) was not paid. It will instead be 
paid in the next accounting year, when the tax expense 
will be recognized as such in accordance with IFRS 
principles. However, it will be considered (retrospectively) 
as an expense of Year 1, and will not be considered as an 
expense in the year in which it was actually paid. This 
item will therefore be treated as a post balance sheet 
event. Therefore, we can conclude, that this temporary 
difference gave rise to deferred tax liability. 

Let’s calculate amount of deferred tax liability of 
“Cashmere Ltd” for Year 1.

Deferred tax liability @ Tax rate of 12% 4,656.00

Deferred tax (asset) @ Tax rate of 12% 0.00

Loss carry forward @ Tax rate of 12% (501.12)

Net deferred tax 
liability/(asset) 4,154.88

Profit tax rate in accordance with Tax Code is 12%. 
Therefore we should calculate deferred tax liability as 
12% of temporary difference $38,800 (see paragraph 
above). Deferred tax liability is $4,656.

In accordance with Tax Code, loss incurred can be 
carried forward and settled with profits during the next 
5 years. Loss incurred in Year 1 in accordance with tax 
calculation was $4,176. At a tax rate of 12%, it will be 
$501.12. Since loss incurred can be settled off against 
future taxable profits, deferred tax liability should be 
reduced by $501.12. Consequently, net deferred tax 
liability for Year 1 is $4,154.88.

As this is the first year of operation of Cashmere 
Limited, no deferred tax liability or asset should be 
brought forward. Thus, deferred tax liability at the end 
of the Year 1 will be equal to deferred tax expense for 
the Year 1.

Current tax 0.00

Deferred tax 4,154.88

Tax expense 4,154.88

Debit Credit

I/S – Profit tax expense 4,154.88

B/S – Income tax payable 0.00

B/S – Deferred tax liability 4,154.88

Now we can complete the IFRS financial statements 
and include the amount of deferred tax expense into the 
IFRS Income Statement and the amount of deferred tax 
liability into the IFRS Balance Sheet.

Completed IFRS Income Statement–Year 1

Items of Income Statement Amount, $

Sales 200,000.00

Direct cost of sales (149,200.00)

Gross profit 50,800.00

Administration and selling overheads (44,500.00)

Net trading profit 6,300.00

Interest received 20,000.00

Rent received 6,000.00

Net profit (loss) 32,300.00

Profit tax expense (4,154.88)

Net profit after current tax 28,145.12

Profit tax expense should comprise both current tax 
expense and deferred tax expense, but actually includes 
only deferred tax expense, as calculated in the previous 
subsection, because there is no current tax expense. Net 
profit after taxation therefore reduced on the amount 
of deferred tax expense and is $28,145.12. Because 
company didn’t make any appropriations from profit, 
this amount is transferred to balance sheet as retained 
profit.

Completed IFRS Balance Sheet—Year 1

Assets Amount, $

Property, plant, and equipment 1,246,300

Financial assets 90,000

Long-term assets 1,336,300

Inventory 50,000

Trade receivables 40,000

Cash at bank 31,000
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Current assets 121,000

Total assets 1,457,300

Equity and Liabilities

Share capital 1,400,000

Retained profit 28,145

Total equity 1,428,145

Deferred tax liability 4,155a

Total noncurrent liability 4,155

Trade payable 19,000

Deferred income 6,000

Total current liability 25,000

Total equity and liability 1,457,300

Deferred tax liability calculated in previous paragraph 
has been included to noncurrent liability (as defined in 
IAS 12). Accordingly, net profit for the Year 1 has been 
reduced for the amount of deferred tax expense for the 
year. Because it is first year of operation for “Cashmere 
Ltd,” retained profit for the end of Year 1 is equal to net 
profit after taxation for the Year 1. 

All other items of Balance Sheet are the same as at 
preliminary Balance Sheet, which has been prepared 
earlier.

Notes to the Financial Statements Related to Taxation
An important part of the IFRS financial statements is the 
notes to the accounts. Each significant item in the Income 
Statement and Balance Sheet should be disclosed in 
detail in accordance with the corresponding IAS or IFRS. 
IAS 12 provides guidance for disclose information related 
to current and deferred taxation.

Notes to the financial statements have been prepared 
for Year 1 of the Cashmere Limited relating to taxation 
items. Keep in mind that notes prepared in this Case 
Study does not cover all possible events that may occur. 
Notes to the financial statements of your company may 
have much wider range of information. This example 
gives basis for understanding the importance of 
providing of notes.

a Rounded.

1. Major components of tax expense (income) In US$

Current tax (income)/expense 0.00

Deferred tax expense 4,154.88

Tax expense 4,154.88

2. Explanation of the relationship between tax expense and accounting profit In US$

Accounting profit 32,300.00

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 12% 3,876.00

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit: 
(Cost of dinner exceeding the allowed limit at 12%, $2,324) 278.88

Tax expense 4,154.88

The applicable profit tax rate is 12% 

3. Analysis of each type of Temporary Differences In US$

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Assets)

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 4,896.00

Bad debt written off (240.00)

Net loss of the year carried forward (501.12)

4,154.88

Deferred Tax Expense (Income)

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 4,896.00

Bad debt written off (240.00)

Net loss of the year carried forward (501.12)

4,154.88
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Note 1 discloses the components of profit tax expense 
shown in IFRS Income Statement. This Note usually 
comprises amounts of current tax expense (calculated 
in accordance with Tax Code) and deferred tax expense 
(calculated in accordance wit IAS 12). In our example, the 
current tax is zero, because Cashmere Limited incurred 
loss in accordance with Tax Code. Therefore, profit tax 
expense is equal to deferred tax expense.

Note 2 discloses the relation between accounting profit 
and profit tax expense shown in the Income Statement. 
Tax expense is calculated as profit tax rate applicable to 
IFRS profit adjusted to permanent differences. 

Note 3 comprises two parts:

disclosure of each component of deferred tax 
liability at the end of the Year 1 (accumulated 
temporary differences by each type of difference), 
and

•

disclosure of each component of deferred tax 
expense for the Year 1 (temporary differences by 
each type of difference for Year 1). 

Case Study—Year 2

Case Study for Year 1 presents calculation of current 
tax and deferred tax at the beginning of the company’s 
activity. But in practice, most of the companies carry their 
business for many years. Therefore, it is more important 
to understand how company should calculate and present 
current and deferred taxation in continuous manner.

Initial information to Year 2
Following Trial Balance and supporting notes for the 
Year 2 has been provided by the accountant of Cashmere 
Limited.

•

Note Start Opening Opening Cash Journal Entries

of year Accrual Inventory book Accruals Depreciation Inventory Other Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Turnover 1 40,000.00 (490,000.00) (150,000.00) (600,000.00)

Direct materials (9,000.00) 13,000.00 103,000.00 26,000.00 (33,000.00) 100,000.00

Direct labor 13,000.00 120,000.00 (33,000.00) 100,000.00

Machine depreciation 1 10,000.00 90,000.00 (25,000.00) 75,000.00

Factory overheads (7,000.00) 14,000.00 88,800.00 21,000.00 16,200.00 (33,000.00) 100,000.00

Administrative overheads 2 (1,000.00) 22,000.00 24,000.00 5,000.00 a 20,000.00 70,000.00

Selling overheads (2,000.00) 21,000.00 5,000.00 24,000.00

Loss on sale of car 3 5,500.00 5,500.00

Interest paid 5 10,000.00 10,000.00 20,000.00

Interest received 6 (20,000.00) (20,000.00)

Rent received 4 (6,000.00) (12,000.00) 6,000.00 (12,000.00)

Tax charge for year 0.00

Dividends c 50,000.00 50,000.00

Land 80,000.00 80,000.00

Factory 810,000.00 b 200,000.00 1,010,000.00

–accumulated  
depreciation

(16,200.00) (16,200.00) b 32,000.00 (400.00)

Canteen 400,000.00 500,000.00 900,000.00

– accumulated  
depreciation

(40,000.00) (90,000.00) (130,000.00)

Machinery 1 10,000.00 10,000.00

– accumulated  
depreciation

(5,000.00) (5,000.00) (10,000.00)

continued on next page
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Supporting Notes

1. The company bought a new machine at the 
start of Year 2 for the purpose of increasing in 
production and gross profit margin. Financing 
came from equity, profits, and a bank loan.

2. Administration overheads in the cashbook 
include the following items:

computer repairs costing $2,500;

recovery of bad debts written off in Year 1 of 
$5,000, including the $2,000 not approved 
by the court; and

tax penalties of $3,500;

3. The sales director's car was sold for $2,000 at 
the middle of the year.

4. The canteen continues to be rented at $12,000 
per year, payable 6 months in advance.

5. The bank loan of $100,000 at 20% was obtained 
at the start of the year (part finance for new 
machine). At the end of the year, interest of 
$10,000 had been paid, but interest of $10,000 
was overdue.

•

•

•

6. As in Year 1, the farmers' cooperative paid the 
interest in full and repaid $10,000 of the principle.

7. Included in the inventory is raw material of 
$4,000 which was purchased in Year 1.

8. The other journal entries are explained as follows:

a. An audit fee provision of $5,000 for year 2;
a. A provision for legal fees of $8,000 for a 

pending court case (a customer initiated a 
lawsuit alleging that dyes used in product 
caused irritation to the skin of the user. 
the allegation was strongly denied). The 
lawsuit was filed on 31 January, the goods 
were sold on 7 January, and the goods were 
included in the inventory at 31 December;

a. A general bad debt provision of $7,000;
b. To revalue the factory to $1,000,000;
c. The dividend was declared on 25 November.

Solution to Year 2
In general, logicality of exercise is the same as for Year 
1. Therefore, we do not repeat same actions and will 
comment new items which arose in Year 2 only.

Note Start Opening Opening Cash Journal Entries

of year Accrual Inventory book Accruals Depreciation Inventory Other Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Computers 10,000.00 (10,000.00) 0.00

– accumulated  
depreciation

(2,500.00) 2,500.00 0.00

Car (sales director) 3 90,000.00 (10,000.00) 80,000.00

– accumulated  
depreciation

3 31,000.00 69,200.00 100,200.00

Financial investment 6 40,000.00 (40,000.00) 150,000.00 a (7,000.00) 143,000.00

Bank 50,000.00 (50,000.00) 124,000.00 124,000.00

Trade receivables (100,000.00) (100,000.00)

Inventory 7 c (50,000.00) (50,000.00)

Bank loan 1, 5 (19,000.00) 19,000.00 (86,000.00) (13,000.00) (99,000.00)

Dividends payable (6,000.00) 6,000.00 (6,000.00) (6,000.00)

Trade payables (4,155.00) (4,154.88)

Deferred income (1,400,000.00) (300,000.00) (1,700,000.00)

Deferred tax (28,145.12) (28,145.12)

Share capital 1 b (232,000.00) (232,000.00)

Retained profits 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Revaluation reserve 40,000.00 (490,000.00) (150,000.00) (600,000.00)

(9,000.00) 13,000.00 103,000.00 26,000.00 (33,000.00) 100,000.00

Extended Trial Balance–Year 2: continued
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Preliminary Income Statement—Year 2

Items of Income Statement Amount, $

Sales 600,000

Direct cost of sales (375,000)

Gross profit 225,000

Administration overheads (70,000)

Selling overheads (25,250)

Loss on sale of car (4,250)

Net trading profit 125,500

Interest received 18,000

Rent received 12,000

Interest paid (20,000)

Net profit (loss) 135,500

Current tax –

Net profit after current tax 135,500

Dividends (50,000)

Undistributed profit 85,500

Preliminary income statement prepared does not take 
into account deferred tax expense or income.

Selling overheads includes depreciation of selling 
director’s car for the first 6 months only, because car 
was sold in the mid of the Year 2. 

“Cashmere Ltd” incurred loss from sale of car (net 
book value of car at the mid of the Year 2 less cash 
received from sale).

Company shows interest expense which comprises 
$10,000 of interest paid and $10,000 accrued but not 
yet paid.

Current tax is still zero despite the fact that company 
earns significant amount of profit. But, remember 
that company carried forward loss incurred in Year 1. 
Detailed calculation of current tax will be presented in 
next subsection represents tax reconciliation.

Dividends have been declared at 25th November of 
Year 2, and therefore included in Income Statement.

Preliminary Balance Sheet—Year 2

Assets Amount, $

Property, plant, and equipment 1,859,600

Financial assets 80,000

Long-term assets 1,939,600

Inventory 124,000

Trade receivables 143,000

Cash at bank 98,200

Current assets 365,200

Total assets 2,304,800

Equity and Liabilities

Share capital 1,700,000

Revaluation reserve 232,000

Retained profit 117,800

Total equity 2,049,800

Bank loan 100,000

Total noncurrent liability 100,000

Dividends payable 50,000

Trade payable 99,000

Deferred income 6,000

Total current liability 155,000

Total equity and liability 2,304,800

Preliminary Balance Sheet prepared does not take 
into account deferred tax liability or asset.

Property, plant, and equipment represent total net 
book value of all fixed assets listed in the Extended Trial 
Balance, including effect of revaluation during Year 2.

Retained profit in preliminary Balance Sheet is 
derived from the preliminary Income statement.

Other items in the Balance Sheet are derived from 
appropriate line of Extended Trial Balance.

Reconciliation of Profit
Again, as for Year 1, we will reconcile financial profit for 
Year 2 to taxable profit for Year 2.

We already determined the amount of IFRS profit 
before taxation (and before dividends) in accordance with 
the preliminary Income Statement prepared for Year 2:

IFRS profit: $135,500

Next step is to check each item of the income and 
expenses, include these in the Income Statement, and 
determine whether these items are in accordance with 
the national Tax Code.

Same as for Year 1, we should determine the amount 
of IFRS depreciation for Year 2 which should be added 
back to profit and amount of capital allowances which 
should be deducted from profit. Calculations are similar 
to the calculations in Year 1. Remember that IFRS 
depreciation is calculated using straight line method 
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(i.e., depreciation rate applies to original cost), and that 
capital allowance is calculated using reducing balance 
method (i.e., depreciation rates applies to balance cost).

Note that car and computers are in one group for tax 
purposes. This is important in calculating balance cost of the 
group after the sale of car in accordance with Tax Code.

The calculation of depreciation in accordance with 
the IFRC and Tax Code is on page 83.

In accordance with the Tax Code, the sale of the car 
within the prescribed 3-year period does not allow for any 
deductions; therefore it resulted in a loss of $5,000 arising 
from the disallowance of depreciation for the previous 
2 years hitherto assumed to have been allowable as a 
deductible expense. These allowances were previously 
treated as a timing difference, and their loss therefore 
becomes a permanent difference of $5,000 (two equal 
and opposite entries could have been made in the tax 
computation, but we chose to show neither).

Revaluation of fixed assets does not change tax 
base of balance cost of fixed assets. The effect of this 
difference will be shown later when deferred tax liability 
will be determined. 

Finally, we calculated IFRS depreciation, which should 
be added back to IFRS profit and capital allowances, 
which should be deducted from the profit. The following 
adjustments to IFRS profit should be made:

Add back IFRS depreciation: $112,450 (temporary)

Deduct tax base depreciation: ($178,500) (temporary)

Car has been sold after 6 months of Year 2, therefore 
IFRS depreciation has been calculated for first 6 months 
and charged to the cost of production in accordance 
with IFRS. Original cost of car amounted to $10,000 
and the accumulated depreciation of $3,750 have been 
deducted from total original cost and total accumulated 
depreciation at the date of sale. Therefore, total balance 
cost has been reduced to $6,250. 

Sales Director’s car was sold for $2,000. Balance 
cost of the car at the date of sale was $6,250. A negative 
balance amounting to $4,250 has been reflected in the 
IFRS Income Statement as loss from the sale of car. This 
loss can be seen as the result of under-depreciation in 
the past, and is equivalent to depreciation, and therefore 
must be added back. The difference of $4,250 should be 
added back to profit. The following adjustment to IFRS 
profit of Year 2 should be made:

Add back loss on sale of car: $4,250 (temporary)

From the supporting notes to Year 1, we know that 
$2,000 of bad debts written off was not supported by 
court, and, therefore, was not allowed by Tax Code. 
From supporting notes to Year 2, we discovered that 
company recovered $5,000 of bad debts written off 
in Year 1, including the $2,000 not approved by the 
court. Following table presents calculation of balancing 
difference for the Year 2. 

(In US$) Accounting Tax Difference

Bad debt written off 
in Year 1 10,000 8,000

Recovery of bad debt 
in Year 2 (5 ,000) (3,000) (2,000)

Balance of bad debt 
written off 5,000 5,000

At the end of Year 2, both IFRS and taxable profit are 
deductible for $5,000 which is approved by court. That 
is why only $3,000 will be recognized as income of Year 
2 for tax purposes. Following adjustment to IFRS profit 
should be made:

Deduct from IFRS profit recovery of bad debt not 
approved by court: ($2,000) (temporary)

General provision on doubtful debts has been created 
by the management at the end of Year 2 because there 
is uncertainty of receiving cash from debtors because 
of ageing analysis of trade receivables. Provision for 
legal fees has been made because of expectations that 
company will pay those fees after court’s decision. 
Provision for audit fee is assumed that it’s allowed 
under the Tax code. All of these provisions have been 
created because of accrual basis of accounting. Tax 
Code does not allows any provisions made by company’s 
management. Differences are permanent because these 
expenses will be recognized in accordance with Tax Code 
when they occur in later accounting periods. Therefore, 
following provisions made by the company were added 
back to profit for tax purposes (see supporting notes to 
Extended Trial Balance for Year 2):

Add back general provision on doubtful debts: 
 $7,000 (temporary)

Add back provision for legal fees: $8,000 (temporary)

Tax Code restricts to deduct from taxable income 
any penalties and fines charged because of delay 
of payments of taxes to budget. This difference is 
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Rate
Opening 
balance Add/dispose Disposal Revaluation Closing Balance

COST % SL $ $ $ $ $

Factory 2 800,000 200,000 1,000,000

Canteen 2 10,000 10,000

Machinery 10 400,000 500,000 900,000

Computers 50 10,000 10,000

Car 25 10,000 (10,000) 0

Total 1,230,000 500,000 (10,000) 200,000 1,920,000

,

DEPRECIATION Opening balance Charge Disposal Revaluation Closing Balance

Factory 2 16,000 16,000 (32,000) 0

Canteen 2 200 200 400

Machinery 10 40,000 90,000 130,000

Computers 50 5,000 5,000 10,000

Car 25 2,500 1,250 (3,750) 0

Total 63,700 112,450 (3,750) (32,000) 140,400

CARRYING VALUE Opening balance Closing Balance

Factory 784,000 1,000,000

Canteen 9,800 9,600

Machinery 360,000 770,000

Computers 5,000 0

Car 7,500 0

Total 1,166,300 1,779,600

A. Carrying value per IFRS

B. Carrying value per tax books

Rate
Relevant cost 
carry forward

Tax value carry 
forward Add/disposal 

Depreciation 
Allowance Adjustment

Tax value carry 
forward

% SL $ $  $  $ $ $

Factory 5 800,000 760,000 (40,000) 720,000

Canteen 5 10,000 9,500 (500) 9,000

Machinery 15 900,000 340,000 500,000 (135,000) 705,000

Computers 20 10,000 8,000 (2,000) 6,000

Car 20 0 8,000 (2,000) (1,000) (5,000) 0

1,720,000 1,125,500 498,000 (178,500) (5,000) 1,440,000
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permanent. Therefore, amount of penalty incurred in 
Year 2 should be added back to profit for tax purposes:

Add back tax penalty incurred in Year 2: $3,500 
(permanent)

Other incomes and expenses reflected in Income 
Statement of “Cashmere Ltd” for Year 2 are allowed with 
Tax Code.

Following is the summary table for reconciliation of 
IFRS profit to taxable profit for Year 2.

IFRS profit 135,500

Adjustments:

Add back depreciation charge 112,450 Temporary

Capital allowance (178,500) Temporary

Loss on sale of car 4,250 Temporary

Recovery bad debt written off  (2,000) Temporary

General provision for bad debts 7,000 Temporary

Provision for legal fees for 
Year 2 8,000 Temporary

Tax penalties 3,500 Permanent

Taxable profit (loss) 90,200

Loss for year 1 b/f  (4,176)

Taxable profit (loss) for Year 2 
after deduction 86,024

Now we understand why in preliminary Income 
Statement for Year 2 (before calculation of deferred 
taxation) we do not calculate current tax expense—
because company set off profit of current year with loss 
incurred in Year 1. In addition, the balance of uncovered 
loss of Year 1 is carried forward.

Calculation of deferred tax asset or liability
Same as for Year 1, calculation of deferred taxes from Year 
2 should be prepared using the balance sheet liability 
method. Remember that tax base of balance sheet items 
may arise if there temporary differences only. 

Rate Opening Balance Add/disposal Disposal Revaluation Closing Balance

COST % SL $ $ $ $ $

Factory 2 800,000 200,000 1,000,000

Canteen 2 10,000 10,000

Machinery 10 400,000 500,000 900,000

Computers 50 10,000 10,000

Car 25 10,000 (10,000) 0

Total 1,230,000 500,000 (10,000) 200,000 1,920,000

DEPRECIATION Opening Balance Charge Disposal Revaluation Closing Balance

Factory 2 16,000 16,000 (32,000) 0

Canteen 2 200 200 400

Machinery 10 40,000 90,000 130,000

Computers 50 5,000 5,000 10,000

Car 25 2,500 1,250 (3,750) 0

Total 63,700 112,450 (3,750) (32,000) 140,400

CARRYING VALUE Opening Balance Closing Balance

Factory 784,000 1,000,000

Canteen 9,800 9,600

Machinery 360,000 770,000

Computers 5,000 0

Car 7,500 0

Total 1,166,300 1,779,600

IFRS Base

Enhancing Financial Disclosure_884   84 1/19/2009   1:04:38 PM



��

Appendix �

Tax Base

Rate

Relevant 
cost carry  
forward

Tax value carry 
 forward

 Add/ 
disposal  Allowance Adjustment Tax Value

% SL $ $  $  $ $ $

Factory 5 800,000 760,000 (40,000) 720,000

Canteen 5 10,000 9,500 (500) 9,000

Machinery 15 900,000 340,000 500,000 (135,000) 705,000

Computers 20 10,000 8,000 (2,000) 6,000

Car 20 0 8,000 (2,000) (1,000) (5,000) 0

1,720,000 1,125,500 498,000 (178,500) (5,000) 1,440,000

Temporary Difference ($1,179,600–$1,440,000) 339,600

Important note—temporary differences of each item 
of tax base should be reflected on cumulative basis. To 
calculate tax base and temporary difference for trade 
receivable:

Cost, $ Accumulated 
difference, $

Receivable—IFRS balance sheet 
at the end of Year 2

143,000

Add back bad debt written off in 
Year 1 (not supported by court)

2,000

Deduct recovery of bad debt 
written off 

(2,000)

Add back general provision for 
doubtful debts

7,000

Receivable—Tax Base at the end 
of Year 2

150,000 (7,000)

Following table shows calculation of tax base and 
temporary difference for property, plant and equipment 
(fixed assets). Effect of revaluation difference will be 
disclosed later.

Reminder of temporary differences (legal fee provision 
$8,000) are appeared only in Year 2. Total amount of 
provisions $13,000 will decrease carrying amount of 
payables because in accordance with Tax Code these 
expenses is not deductible, and, therefore, tax base of 
payables shouldn’t include amount of provisions. 

Completed table of calculation of temporary 
differences for Year 2 is presented below.

Tax base compared with IFRS balance sheet items 
except equity. Deferred tax liability arises from temporary  

(All amounts in US$)

Carrying Amount Tax Base
Temporary 
Differences

Cash and Cash Equivalents 98,200 98,200 0

Short-Term Trade Receivables 143,000 150,000 (7,000)

Inventories 124,000 124,000 0

Long-Term Financial Investments 80,000 80,000 0

Property Plant and Equipment 1,859,600 1,520,000 339,600

TOTAL ASSETS 2,304,800 1,972,200 332,600

Short-Term Trade Payables 99,000 91,000 (8,000)

Deferred Income 6,000 6,000 0

Dividends Payable 50,000 50,000 0

Long-Term Loan 100,000 100,000 0

TOTAL LIABILITIES 255,000 247,000 (8,000)
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differences, where tax expenses were higher than IFRS 
expense, and, conversely, deferred tax asset arise from 
temporary differences, where tax base expenses were 
less than IFRS expense. 

Summary of calculation of deferred tax liability (or 
asset) is shown above.

Profit tax rate in accordance with Tax Code is 12%. 
Therefore, we should calculate deferred tax liability as 
12% of temporary difference of $332,600. Deferred tax 
liability is $39,912. Deferred tax asset is calculated as 
12% of temporary difference of $8,000 and amounted to 
$960. Consequently, net deferred tax liability for Year 1 
is $38,952 (i.e., $39,912–$960–$0).

Temporary differences also arise in the circumstances, 
when assets are revalued and no equivalent adjustment 
is made for tax purposes. At that, such a temporary 
difference should be reflected directly in equity and 
exerts no influence on the tax expense in Income 
Statement. Therefore, deferred tax liability attributable 
to revaluation surplus $27,840 ($232,000 x 12%) has 
been deducted from deferred tax expense which arrived 
in company’s Income Statement at the end of Year 2.  

Net deferred tax liability at the end of Year 2 amounted 
to $38,952. Deferred tax liability brought forward from 
Year 1 is $4,154.88. Therefore, deferred tax liability has 
increased in Year 2. Deferred tax expense for Year 2 (not 
taking into account revaluation surplus of $27,840) 
amounted to $6,957.12.

Deferred tax liability @ Tax rate of 12% 40,752.00

Deferred tax (asset)—Debtors @ Tax rate of 12% (840.00)

Deferred tax (asset) @ Tax rate of 12% (960.00)

C/f of loss of Year 1 on future years @ Tax rate of 12% 0.00

Net deferred tax liability/(asset) 38,952.00

Deferred tax attributable to revaluation surplus @ Tax rate of 12% (27,840.00)

Net deferred tax liability/(asset) after adjustment on revaluation 11,112.00

Deferred Tax Liability/(Asset) B/Fwd (4,154.88)

Movement for the Year 6,957.12

Account Name Debit Credit

Profit Tax Expense 17,280.00 (Income 
Statement)

Revaluation of Assets 27,840.00 (Balance Sheet)

Income tax liability 10,323.00 (Balance Sheet)

Deferred Tax Liability 34,797.12 (Balance Sheet)

Now we can complete IFRS financial statements and 
include the amount of deferred tax expense into IFRS 
Income Statement and amount of deferred tax liability 
into IFRS Balance Sheet.

Completed IFRS Income Statement—Year 2

Items of Income Statement Amount, $

Sales 600,000

Direct cost of sales (375,000)

Gross profit 225,000

Administration overheads (70,000)

Selling overheads (25,250)

Loss on sale of car (4,250)

Net trading profit 125,500

Interest received 18,000

Rent received 12,000

Interest paid (20,000)

Net profit (loss) 135,500

Profit tax expense (17,280)

Net profit after current tax 118,220

Dividends (50,000)

Undistributed profit 68,220
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Company made appropriations on dividends from 
profit amounted of $50,000. Therefore, undistributed 
profit after appropriation to dividends ($68,220) has 
been transferred to balance sheet as retained profit.

Completed IFRS Balance Sheet—Year 2

Amount, $

Assets Year 1 Year 2

Property, plant, and equipment 1,246,300 1,859,600

Financial assets 90,000 80,000

Long-term assets 1,336,300 1,939,600

Inventory 50,000 124,000

Trade receivables 40,000 143,000

Cash at bank 31,000 98,200

Current assets 121,000 365,200

Total assets 1,457,300 2,304,800

Equity and Liabilities

Share capital 1,400,000 1,700,000

Revaluation reserve – 204,160

Retained profit 28,145 96,365

Total equity 1,428,145 2,000,525

Bank loan – 100,000

Deferred tax liability 4,155 38,952

Total noncurrent liability 4,155 138,952

Dividends payable – 50,000

Trade payable 19,000 99,000

Deferred income 6,000 6,000

Income tax liability 0 10,323

Total current liability 25,000 165,323

Total equity and liability 1,457,300 2,304,800

Deferred tax liability at the end of the Year 2, calculated 
in previous paragraph, has been included to noncurrent 
liability (as defined in IAS 12). Accordingly, net profit for 
Year 2 has been reduced for the amount of deferred tax 
expense for Year 2 (see completed Income Statement). 
Therefore, retained profit at the end of Year 2 has been 
calculated as the sum of retained profit at the end of the 
Year 1 ($28,145) and net profit of Year 2 ($68,220). 

In addition, the revaluation of the factory was not 
matched by any change in the tax base, which is a 
temporary difference, and resulted to a deferred tax 
liability. This liability ($232,000@12%) of $27,840, is 
debited directly to the revaluation reserve, and does not 
go through the profit and loss account.

All other items in the Balance Sheet are the same as 
at preliminary Balance Sheet, which has been prepared 
earlier.

Notes to the financial statements—Year 2
Important part of IFRS financial statements is notes to 
the accounts. Each significant item of Income Statement 
and Balance Sheet should be disclosed in detail in 
accordance with corresponding IAS/IFRS. IAS 12 provides 
guidance for disclose information related to current and 
deferred taxation.

(in US$)

1. Major components of tax expense (income)

Year 1 Year 2

Current tax (income)/expense 0.00 10,322.88

Deferred tax expense 3,230.00 6,957.12

Tax expense 3,230.00 17,280.00

2. Aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items charged or credited to equity 

Year 1 Year 2

Deferred tax relating to revaluation of Property Plant and Equipment 0.00 27,840.00

3. Explanation of the relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

Year 1 Year 2

Accounting profit 32,300.00 135,500.00

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 12% 3,876.00 16,260.00

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit:
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 Tax Penalties 0.00 420.00

 Tax effect of expenses that are not deductive in terminig taxable profit 278.88 0.00

Tax expense 4,154.88 16,680.00

The applicable profit tax rate is 12% 

4. Analysis of each type of Temporary Differences

Year 1 Year 2

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Assets)

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (including loss on sale of car) 4,896.00 40,752.00

Bad debt written off and Provision on bad debt (240.00) (840.00)

Provisions on legal fee (960.00)

Net loss of the year (carried forward)/utilized (501.12) 0.00

4,154.88 38,952.00

Deferred Tax Expense (Income)

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (including loss on sale of car) 4,896.00 35,856.00

Bad debt written off and Provision on bad debt (240.00) (600.00)

Provisions on legal fee (960.00)

Revaluation net of related depreciation (27,840.00)

Net loss of the year (carried forward)/utilized (501.12) 501.12

4,154.88 6,957.12

Notes to the financial statements have been prepared 
for Year 2 of the Cashmere Limited relating to taxation 
items. These notes include comparative data of Year 1. 
Keep in mind, that notes prepared in this Case Study 
does not cover all possible events that may occur. Notes 
to the financial statements of your company may have 
much wider range of information. At that, this example 
gives basis for understanding of principles of formation 
of notes.

Note 1 discloses the components of profit tax expense 
shown in IFRS Income Statement. This Note usually 
comprises amounts of current tax expense (calculated 
in accordance with Tax Code) and deferred tax expense 
(calculated in accordance with IAS 12). 

Note 2 shows amount of deferred tax liability, which is 
related directly to equity accounts (revaluation reserve).

Note 3 discloses relation between accounting profit 
and profit tax expense shown in Income Statement. Tax 
expense is calculated as profit tax rate applicable to 
IFRS profit adjusted to permanent differences. 

Note 4 comprises two parts:

disclose of each component of deferred tax liability 
at the end of the Year 2 (accumulated temporary 
differences by each type of difference), and

disclose of each component of deferred tax 
expense for the Year 2 (temporary differences by 
each type of difference for Year 2).

Conclusion

Accounting for taxation has long been recognized 
as a wide-ranging and complicated topic, but it was 
never an integral part of the Soviet accounting system. 
Consequently, the general level of practical experience of 
accountants in dealing with the topic is likely to develop 
further in the future, and this manual is intended to 
provide support for that development.

The international accounting standard on taxation 
(IAS 12) is one of the most fundamental standards, but it 
is also one of the most difficult standards to apply. The 
evidence of its application in the financial statements 
of any enterprise suggests strongly that the financial 
statements are likely to apply the other standards (while 
the failure to apply IAS 12 very strongly suggests the 
opposite).

•

•
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This manual deals with the accounting issues of 
taxation in four countries, under four different tax codes. 
The results cover almost all the issues that could possibly 
arise, and it is fair to say that in every country, there are 
particularly unique issues. It is also fair to say that, in 
general, the tax codes create a high level of difficulty in 
accounting for taxation. This is not a criticism of the tax 
codes, but it is a fact.

The detailed complexity generated by the tax 
codes, makes it a challenging task to identify the tax 
issues, decide whether the issues create permanent or 
temporary differences, and then to assess the accounting 
methodology required.

We believe that the examples, case studies, and 
explanations in this manual, dealing with all four 
countries, demonstrate the broadest spectrum of 
the issues in accounting for taxation, and provide 
sufficient guidance to allow accountants to apply the 
methodology in any practical situation.
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Appendix 5: Almaty Regional Seminar  
(List of Participants)

Name Position

Asian Development Bank

Radhakrishna Narasimham Senior Project Management Specialist

Jessica Ebio Administrative Assistant

Invited Speakers

Wells Michael International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), Senior Manager–Education Projects

Lynn Lynch Companies House of the United Kingdom, Marketing Director

John Hooper Financial Reporting Council, Project Manager

Gabriella Kusz World Bank, Financial Management Consultant for the Europe and Central Asia Region

Tom Whyte Institute of Chartered Accountant of Scotland

Alex Fawcett Pragma/United States Agency for International Development (USAID), Accounting Reform Chief of Party, 
Central Asia

Kazakhstan

Zhamilya Aitzhanova Ministry of Finance (MOF), Director, State Assets Management and Methodology Department

Askar Suleimanov MOF, Manager on the Methodology and Accounting

Gulnara Biyahmetova MOF, Team Leader of the Methodology Dep.

Armanai Bekturov MOF, Manager on Auditing

Olzhas Alpeisov Chamber of Auditors (COA), Advisor of the Quality Control Department

Ereul Nurseitov Collegium of Auditors, Head of the Collegium

Olga O. Trust Fin Audit, Director, Accounting Education Expert

Marina Cheremitsyna Inter-Pacific Bar Association (IPBA) Accountant

Kyrgyz Republic

Kanybek Sadykov State Service for Financial Supervision and Reporting (SSFSR), Member of Executive Board

Aijan Musaeva SSFSR, Head of Department of Development of Accounting and Financial Reporting

Gulnara Sherimbekova SSFSR, Head of Department of Audit Development

Mukash Israilov Kyrgyz–Russian Slavic University, Head of accounting and audit department

Azamat Murzaliev KPMG,  Executive Director, Auditor

Gulsaara Atanova IDIS Audit, General Director, Auditor

Mongolia

Ukhertar Jamsran MOF, Director, General Accounting Policy and Supervision Department

Enkh-Amgalan Lamjav Mongolia Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), Deputy President 

Tengis Orsoo Legal division General Department of National Taxation Mongolia, Head of Department

Ekhchimeg Jamsranjav Itgelt-Audit, Director

G. Altanzaya Taxation Association, Director
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Uzbekistan

Sharofitdin Haydarov MOF, Head of the Accounting and Auditing Department

Hamza Tuhsanov MOF, Deputy Head of the Accounting and Auditing Department

Minovar Tulakhodjaeva National Association of Accountants and Auditors (NAAA), Chairperson of the Board

Ravshan Haydarov COA, Chairperson of the Board

Dilnoza Sultanova Association of Teachers of Business, Chairperson of the Board

Marina Vanina Osiyo Ekspert, Director

Corporate Solutions

Ebby Adhami Director

Kuvan Kasymbekov Consultant

Erdenegerel Dorjpurev Consultant

Igor Marchenko Consultant
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